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Corporate Profile
NIl M

The Company has been listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange since 8 October 2009. During the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group was principally engaged in mining and
ore processing, sale of self-produced products, trading of steels,
management of strategic investments and rendering specialised mining
services. As at 31 December 2020, the Group owned one ordinary iron
ore mine (namely the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine), one gypsum mine
(namely the Shigou Gypsum Mine) and one processing plant (namely
the Maoling Processing Plant). All mines and processing plant are
located in Sichuan, China.

As at 31 December 2020, the total number of Shares of the Company
in issue was 2,249,015,410 Shares and the percentage holding of the
Company'’s subsidiaries was as follows:

G\N China VTM Mining
v B £ £A

AATE2009FE10F8HA MR —ERE B
FrEfR EH o REZE2020F12831HEEE >
AEBNFEEBRARBEREQLE - HES
EER HEES5 REUEREEE UKIEH
HEEIMARTFE - R2020F 128310 wEHE
E—EZEHE MEE-—FEUHE - —@
LEEEIRELGER h—ELER BIEEL
BERR) o 2B R EMII I P EE) A o

7R2020F12831H A AN B ZB1TRMDEH
#32,249,015,41088 > MAABRFE FARNE
HFEOHEWT :

100% 1 100% 1

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.

81% 1

Mancala Holdings

100% 1

Powerside Holdings Limited

100% l

First China Limited

AL BIRA BB 8-k e Prime Limited A ERERAT ZRARAT
100% l 100% l
' MHPL Simply Rise Holdings Limited
SFhIER BEIZERARAE
100% l 100% 1 100% l 100% 1 100% l
' Mancala Pty Mancala Mining Mancala Services Spectrum Resources ' Mancala Asia
SFH SFHR S FHRIRERE SEFHER EBEFH
49% l
MCL Vietnam*
[l RS
- Offshore B -
Sichuan Lingyu Lo
) 11324
51%1 100%1 100% l
Sichuan Haoyuan Aba Mining Sichuan Xinglian
)75 [api £ 7a) || RS
100% l 100% l
Xinjin Mining Akuang Trading
HEWE FIfRE 5
# As Mancala Asia is contractually entitled to appoint a majority of # HREASFhRRBEaNEREZTUEE

members in the members’ council of MCL Vietnam and to control the
operations of MCL Vietnam, MCL Vietnam is accounted as a subsidiary of
Mancala Asia.

HEE GRS UNR 1 F I 8
BT WA S FH ARSI FESBFHNT
A7
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Financial Highlights
MGHRE

REVENUE 2020 | 580,703
KA
(RMB’'000) 2019 923,611*
i —
AERTT) 2018 1141971%
2017 1,317479"
2016 1,833,305
GROSS PROFIT 2020 | 61,599*
EF .
(RMB’000) 2019 118,524
oot —
ARIET) 2018 125,899¢
2017 127,520
2016 42,447
PROFIT/(LOSS) 2020 L | (17,054)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO 019
OWNERS OF THE 2019 ,
COMPANY
= (443,969)
BEREAT 2018
BAAFE S (518) 017 (349,490)
(RMB’'000)
(NR¥F 1) 2016 (773,742)
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE 2020 [ 626,251
TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY 2019 644,740
BN
e 2018 574,737
B AR
(RMB'000) 2017 1,020,907
(NER T )
2016 1,318,173
# Included both Continuing Operations and Discontinued Operations after fOEREREERRERIEREER  KIRHER
elimination of intra-group revenue or profit. AR B EUW A S -

2020 3 | DENSHHEBEERAT 5 <
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREBREE

Teh Wing Kwan 5k #

Chairman /&

Dear Shareholders,

THE MACRO FACTOR

As | wrote last year, we have been operating in a highly unpredictable
environment with acute market uncertainty. The COVID-19 pandemic
in early 2020 and the intermittent resurgence of infections have
posed unprecedented risks and impacts on global economic activities
which are already slowing and facing tremendous pressure during this
pandemic-hit time.

HEMIRE :

RHRIBBRERZE

RAEEFEGERN BANEBRESOEA T
HEISRARE °2020FEHICOVID- 19 RITER 2
R E TN ERAEREAER BRRAHFR
BEEMAFIARNAR R E -
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These days, global interdependence have created robust interconnection
so the nationwide lockdowns and restricted borders across continents
have unavoidably resulted in global economic devastation, rising
geopolitical tensions and local social unrest. While this pandemic has
changed the way people live, possibly irreversibly, there have also been
disruptions, restrictions, conditions, actions and control which have
turned results for many businesses decidedly mediocre — it was not
something that we could possibly imagine in human history. The good
news is the recent COVID-19 vaccination drive boosts hopes for some
normalcy in time to come.

Against this backdrop, China has demonstrated formidable strengths
in the way it handled the pandemic. Last year, China abandoned its
GDP growth target for the first time in decades amid uncertainty which
was rare. By end of 2020, China has since rebounded to reach a GDP
growth rate of 2.3% despite its earlier sharp contraction. It appears
that China has emerged as the only major economy to have expanded
in 2020 with certain lead economic indicators suggesting that it might
have overcome the worst pandemic-triggered threat. More recently,
China announced that it would target a growth of more than 6% in
2021. We are however mindful of the considerable headwinds as the
external environment is turning hostile.

OVERVIEW

The steel industry in China has since resumed its production momentum
and recouped its earlier capacity loss much faster than expected with
the overall crude steel production output in China surpassing 1,000 Mt
for the first time in history. Domestic steel consumption surged as this
has been very much supported by policies aiming to reactivate growth
and encourage investments. Iron ore prices soared on the back of
reduced international supply, particularly for imported high grade ores.

During 1H2020, the fall in productivity and profitability for our High-Fe
Mines and trading businesses reflects the effects of COVID-19. During
2H2020, the sharp improvement in its operating results reflects the
effects of China’s fast economic recovery. Our operating resilience in
China was backed by strong domestic demand, higher average selling
prices and policy-driven infrastructure spending. Notably, we managed
to resume business, optimise facilities utilisation and recoup our
capacity loss for our key operations in China in 2H2020 but we reiterate
that the sustainability of such recovery will still depend largely on the
scenarios for and situations of the pandemic.

Chairman’s Statement
TERESTE

ERSMHA 2REHEEFE BBREE
HEHNRABRERFIBERSDIEEZ R it
GHEORERBBME  MSLERATE =
REIBFPIEEXARBAENEEZ SN BB
HAMI RO RERE T 18~ IR~ AR~ 1T B R 4 > R
BITBERTEENKRE LRBEABREL L
BEEHEUBG -TJENE OMSEEERRN
COVID-19 B EE » mARMEZFOELER

B o

FEET FEERBEHZEFERRHEL
BheEF PERAETSENFEEBN F
THRGDPEEER  AEH T+ FRER-FH
GDPIERXEBRIKBHEE  HEZE2020FFK
BRI E2.3% AR FE220205F M —— @ #%
BEENTELER B THEALBEIEIZER
FEAEERIREIBFSIENRAEE -+ E
MHBE 2021 EWNGDPIEEBIZE 26% L
£ A BEEINSBIRIBERL RS HEYER
BREAFEER -

B=
THEEXEEREE D WERRBXRE
FERVEREERBRM -TEEEHBELNSAT
FESE#T & > BB 1012 ME - B X B hit &5 72 BUER 38
R SXERE BEAREMEFESFUKREE M-
BERMEE (KR eEOsmEANEHE) &
Do EIREEAESETT -

R2020F E¥F HMe#H RUBESEB KX
BREBNEENABAMEDEE TE ki
COVID-198 FHME MM Z o jR2020F T ¥
FHroREEBRENS RPPEKEKEIRE
o AT KA FHEB LA KRBHRESHE
ERZ ABRMPBENEETEIETARE
PoLHR 2020 T E  HMPNETEFEH
EBRESUMELE - BLEMERERRKRER
KPERE ERMAERERSRESTHE RBRX
RE ERBURZ B E R AR o

2020 £ | PENKEBIEXZERAF
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERSTE

Beyond China, we noted profound changes in the operating risks of
our foreign business unit in Australia which continued to exist under
the current complex macro environment. While we are responding to
the COVID-19 related challenges, we see urgent need to mitigate risks
which have been cast against a background of present geopolitical
flux, global recessionary risks, ongoing market volatility and prolonged
travel restrictions. Macroeconomic risks under such circumstances are
highly unpredictable and will remain one of the very carefully monitored
factors in our decisions to scale down or discontinue the mining
services business in Australia. As a result, we believe our decision is
timely and the discontinuance means a more conservative approach
in recording accounting impairment losses for its related assets in
accounting terms for FY2020.

Given the above:

° our Continuing Operations (being the High-Fe Mining Operation
and trading businesses in China) reported a net profit after tax
of approximately RMB8.3 million for FY2020, net of operating
expenses for our corporate functions, despite major operational
and supply chain disruptions in 1H2020 as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic;

° the Discontinued Operations (being the Specialised Mining
Services in Australia) recorded a net loss after tax of
approximately RMB32.7 million due mainly to impairment.
We had also previously updated that the performance of the
discontinued Specialised Mining Services has been weak; and

° our operating cash flows for the Continuing Operations
improved sharply in FY2020 due to improved financials for the
High-Fe Mining Operation and trading businesses in China,
which were not affected by the non-cash accounting impairment
losses incurred by the discontinued Specialised Mining Services
in Australia.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

Going forward, we will continue to position our High-Fe Mining
Operation and trading businesses for greater scales in China, as
encouraged by its improved financials in 2H2020. While expanding these
profitable operations, productivity gain remains as our key priority.

In the meantime, we are also well aware that the key stakeholders
expect mining industry to be constantly proactive, productive, profitable,
sustainable and responsible that, being able to simply procure jobs and
produce highest volumes at lowest costs may no longer be considered
as operationally optimal — this implies capital-intensive investments

FERBELSNG S HPPERBIFPRM BN
BOEERBHERESEE MAERTHER
RBERET  BRIDAFEE - ZEECOVID-19
5| SRy BRBLET > FRAPI TR B B TE B AR BUA
e 2HEEREAR HTHERERIRER
BHRERFINERT  ARYIBEGFERRE-
EZFRRT  REEERRIBETRR > S
1 2 FAPTRTE 48 R S A% LA RN R R AR TS 2
BRBZHHEESEEENERZ — ALt FfI
HERMIWAEEERE  MEILEKEEZED
Th i & 5 A B B 020208 BUF E & HABRES
BEMNSSRERBLEK

R _ESCPTat
. ERE2020F EH¥ECOVID-19ARITIER

BAEERAEREPE > 202084
FE HANFECEER ATPESE
mUBHSEBREZER) RiOkREE
BAENEERTBREREAIAAR
83E® T ;

. BERIEEEER BRI E X RRT)
BREMEBERIFBOAREI2TEE
T EBRMEREPMR - RMAZATE
RESHER EREEENFEEMR
BRBRIRIRESS 5 &

. REBEEEBNEERSMN20208
BFEEAERE ILTDRIE B S # @
UESEBREZEBNYHERREM
HE ITEZI SR EEENRMNEE
FRRBELENIFRE G REBIER
%o

Al 5 Be BB

2020F FHFRMBRIBANS BB A
RREBETHERSHRUBESETRES
EHHRBE-ERALFEMNEFZNER 85
EENDARKMNEEER -

SIFEE > RPTRBEEHOERERESE
REUNEGB - BN -ARAN IREBEREBEEN
FREBR-BRENTERURERFNEIR
SEENHFCIBRAARERNEES
EREENTEEREAREESIEETESX
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in environmental risk management for our industry. Whilst this is not
something new for good cause, we will have to manage these increasingly
higher budgets amidst the pandemic-hit time. More recently, we note that
the Chinese government aims to increase the use of scrap in steelmaking
over the next five years in order to reduce its heavy reliance on iron
ore and cut carbon emission. While we are still observing the progress,
industry players believe that this move will release the steel industry from
the grip of skyrocketing iron ore prices which may have a direct impact on
the upstream operations of the mining industry over a longer term.

Apart from our expansion plans in China, we have been very cautious
in our capital allocation decision. Elsewhere, we have been avoiding
additional investments in those business activities which create little
value. During the year, we made a firm decision to discontinue the
loss-making Specialised Mining Services in Australia — while we could
possibly choose to support continuously — just because we can afford
does not mean we should, given the complex macro environment. The
underperforming assets would impede our overall financial growth
which thus requires us to set priorities under the current circumstances.

In allocating our internal resources, we continue to believe that the
long-term fundamentals of the Chinese economic growth will remain as
a key driving factor for our strategic plans, including potential business
diversification strategies. Our key strategy is to deliver what we perceive
to be a “focused growth” and this means focusing on opportunities in
China at this point in time for obvious reasons. We remain confident in
our focused strategies but we think the pace and path mapped out for
implementation should be progressive rather than aggressive, barring
any dangerous resurgence of COVID-19 cases. Meanwhile, such risks
and signs of resurgence are closely monitored, as reiterated.

THANK YOU

| must continue to thank our stakeholders, partners, bankers,
management, and staff for their support during this challenging time. It
is important to re-emphasise, we are resourceful in China and | have full
confidence in our operational teams there. We will bring things back on
track in preparation for a sustainable recovery in China.

Teh Wing Kwan

Chairman

Email: wkteh.cvt@gmail.com or
wkteh@chinavtmmining.com

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREmKRD

MARKET REVIEW i 35 [0] B8
During the Reporting Period, the Group observed the following RSN AEBIRINUTTERERRT
industrial development and market statistics: SR s B

While the world was gripped by the global COVID-19 pandemic
from the second quarter of 2020, it appeared that China could
be the only major economy to have expanded in 2020 that the
Chinese economy has rebounded to reach a GDP growth rate of
2.3% for the year of 2020, despite the 6.8% GDP contraction in
the first quarter of 2020 and the collapse of the global economy
by a negative growth rate of 4.3%;

Output of crude iron ore in China maintained at a stable level in
the later two-thirds of the year after the resumption of business
activities, peaking in June and October 2020 with over 78.0 Mt.
Similarly, except for the dip in volume in January and February
2020, crude steel output in China grew steadily throughout the
year by 5.2% to the record high of 1,053.0 Mt, with the volume
in August 2020 exceeding 94.8 Mt;

Meanwhile, domestic steel consumption soared by 9.6% to the
historic high of 981.0 Mt, boosted by policies favourable to
investments and stabilising growth in downstream industries such
as construction, machinery, and energy;

In a bid to lessen the reliance on imported iron ores, reduce
pollution, and alleviate cost pressure, the China Iron and Steel
Industry Association introduced the national standard on
recycling iron and steel materials in December 2020, which was
implemented on 1 January 2021. The aim is to provide more
options for the industry with the adoption of recycled raw
materials in steel-making;

. 20205 "= COVID-192 R AT 8
SHRZH KEPEMFER2020F M —
BREERNTIELERE - EE2020F 5 —
ZGDPULAEG.8% > MR IR A 7F T# > £%
BEERLI 3% ERERKER2020F2
FGDPIEF2.3% » BB EIAE 38 ;

. BEG THEAREBANERNFT TEES
HEFFTETE » 2020F6 B R10B A& E
#78.08 B ME o [F 45k > BR2020F1 8 k2
BEETEIN TEBEHESNFRNED
BE5.2%%E1,053.05 &M 8 NiE o m
2020F8 A EE TN BiH94.8F B ;

. B ER BERFIFRE > N L EE 5
WMEERE T HE£IERERTE  BRHE
HEER2HAI.6%EBI.0EEMEFS
fiI ;

s RAEGBEOEEL RS REFE
BUAE ) > B T 213 & 702020412
BEH(BEMERE)EREE 512021
FIR'HER SEATERHEESE
BB AR ENR ;

2020 3 | DENSHHEBEERAT 1 <



-

Management Discussion and Analysis
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As a result of the resumption of manufacturing and business
in 1TH2020 in China, the Purchasing Managers’ Index (“PMI")
in China maintained above the threshold of 50.0 with steady
growth. In November 2020, national PMI peaked at 52.1.
However, the PMI for the steel sector lingered in the negative
growth zone, which was below the 50-point threshold, for most
of the time during the year except at the end of May 2020 when
it reached 50.9. The average PMI for the Chinese steel sector in
2020 was 46.08;

As the COVID-19 pandemic raged on in the rest of the world,
curtailing industrial activities, China’s steel export dropped by
16.5% year-on-year in 2020 to 53.7 Mt, according to the General
Administration of Customs of the PRC;

Iron ore prices skyrocketed during the year due mainly to the
sustained pandemic-induced supply shortage from Brazil, which
has driven up imported ore prices. After hovering around the 300
marks during the months from February to April 2020, the China
Iron Ore Price Index (“CIOPI”) compiled by the China Iron and
Steel Association climbed as the year went on, and doubled in
mid-December 2020 at the historic high of 602.6. In addition, the
volume of iron ore imported into China grew by 9.5% to 1,170
Mt in 2020;

The price of high grade iron ore also spiked. The China 62%
TFe Iron Ore Price Index surged by almost 100 points from the
lowest trough of 79.8 in February 2020 to the peak of 176.9 in
December 2020; and

Intensifying trade tensions between China and Australia are
exerting pressure on business confidence in Australia. As China
has been the largest two-way trading partner of Australia,
accounting for 27.4% of overall Australian trade, the rapid
deterioration of the bilateral ties between these two countries is
expected to put a dent on the growth of the Australian economy.
However, since China imports over 60% of the iron ores it uses
for steelmaking from Australia, the commodity is as yet unlikely to
be affected by Chinese policy changes.

FREIFL2020F ¥ FEREET R  PEIK
BEACIE N3G (TPMI) 485 7250.0kF 2
Lo BEEE2020F118 » BIRPMIE
BB 152.1° 23T HBARIEPMIN &
1 R & FE1E > BR20204E5 8 [E#50.990 » 4

AR E8 ) B RS 1K H 5025 7K F © 20204
[ 10 185 e 358 B9 - $9PMI 46.08 ;

HIRCOVID-19KMITHR 2K EMith 5 &
B> THEEHNREE R IR T ESH
MEBHEK 2020F P EMHE S ORFE T B
16.5% ° BN53.75 B ;

EHEABERERMEA TEE2HN AR
TENEAHERERT HaEORA
B& o 4#2020F 28 E4F 300245 RF O B¢
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BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS REVIEW

Market and Strategy Overview

The COVID-19 pandemic, China-US friction, China-Australia trade
dispute and the global geopolitical uncertainty have affected the
economic activities. The intermittent resurgence of COVID-19 infections
has posed unprecedented risks and impacts on various businesses which
are already slowing and facing tremendous pressure during the difficult
pandemic-hit time. Nationwide lockdowns and travel restrictions in
2020 have disrupted supply chains, which have led to a collapse in
demand and abrupt fall in prices for commodities. The COVID-19
pandemic has severely heightened uncertainty over the global economy.
Like many other businesses, the Group's operations in China and
Australia have been hit to different extent.

The Company previously updated that these restrictions and disruptions
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic had affected the productivity and
profitability of the High-Fe Mining Operation and trading businesses
for 1TH2020. On a positive note, the High-Fe Mining Operation and
trading businesses have since resumed with notable improvement in its
results for 2H2020 compared to 1H2020 as (i) the Group was able to
recoup its capacity loss in 1H2020 due to the pandemic and optimise
its post-resumption capacity utilisation rates; (ii) domestic demand
for high-grade iron concentrates had recovered strongly, buoyed by
low inventory level given the intermittently paused mining activities
triggered by the pandemic; (iii) the average selling price for high-grade
iron concentrates had increased; and (iv) policy-driven infrastructure
spending had boosted steel demand in China.

Beyond China, the Group has further noted profound changes in the
operating risks of its foreign business unit in Australia which continued
to exist under the current complex macro environment during the same
period in 2H2020. As such, while responding to the challenges brought
about by the global COVID-19 pandemic, the Group also sees the needs
to initiate immediate risk mitigation measures and asset rationalisation
plans for its Specialised Mining Services. The Group recognises that
there have been challenges in managing its foreign mining services
business unit which have been cast against a background of present
geopolitical flux, global recessionary risks, ongoing market volatility
and prolonged travel restrictions. Macroeconomic risks under such
circumstances are highly unpredictable and will remain one of the very
carefully monitored factors in the Group’s decisions to scale down or
dispose of its Specialised Mining Services. As a result, the Group has
classified its loss-making Specialised Mining Services as a discontinued
operation in its financial statements for FY2020 and adopted a
conservative approach in recording impairment losses for this business
unit during the financial year under review in accordance with IFRSs.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WA

The Group considers that its decision to discontinue the Specialised
Mining Services is timely in light of the complex macro and challenging
operating environment. This decision further suggests that there
is a clear recognition of the Group's strategy to be more focused,
productive and efficient in internal resources allocation plans towards
achieving a sustainable growth over a longer term in China.

Going forward, the Group will continue to expand its profitable
operations of High-Fe Mining Operation and trading businesses while
exploring other strategic opportunities, including evaluation of potential
business diversification strategies. While overall business recovery in
China appears to be encouraging, any recovery plans, pace and path
mapped out for implementation during this period of time is likely to be
progressive.

The Group remains confident in its focused strategies in China. Barring
any dangerous resurgence of COVID-19 cases which may cause major
disruptions in its supply chain, the Group expects the progressive
economic recovery in China will continue to have a positive impact on
its Continuing Operations. Meanwhile, the risks and signs of resurgence
are closely monitored.

Operation and Financial Overview

During the Reporting Period, the Remaining Group reported lower
revenue, which fell by 6.6% to approximately RMB488.1 million for
FY2020. The Remaining Group’s operations at the Maoling Mine
were suspended for almost 3 months during the Reporting Period
(the "Production Suspension”) as a result of the travel restrictions and
supply chain disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Specifically,

o production volume fell by approximately 7.4% due mainly to the
Production Suspension during the COVID-19 pandemic;

o average selling price for high-grade iron concentrates increased
by approximately 5.7% amid strong demand recovery in the
PRC; and

o the Remaining Group’s purchase and sales volumes of steel

trading activities were approximately 122.5 Kt, representing a
rise of approximately 1.7% as compared to FY2019 due mainly
to boosted steel demand in China as a result of infrastructure
spending that are driven by policies that aim to stimulate the
economy.
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The Remaining Group recorded a higher gross profit of approximately
RMB46.6 million as compared to approximately RMB45.3 million for
FY2019. On a comparable basis, gross profit margin improved from
approximately 8.7% for FY2019 to approximately 9.5% for FY2020
given the price surge and boost in steel demand in China accompanied
by cost control measurements. Administrative expenses, comprising
mainly staff cost and overheads, increased by approximately RMB6.5
million to approximately RMB30.5 million for FY2020, as a result of
additional resource taxes which arose during the Reporting Period.

Conversely, the pressing macro-factors, among others, the COVID-19
pandemic, US-China trade tensions, and China-Australia diplomatic
tensions, have affected the availability of major mining services job
opportunities in Australia. Global travel restrictions have affected the
ability of the mining services team to explore opportunities in other
countries. The management of the Group has reassessed the existing
value-in-use and/or fair values of equipment held-for-sale and those
operating assets in a cautious and prudent manner. As a result of the
lower capacity utilisation, slowing demand, weak market conditions
and the unprecedented risks relating to the pandemic-hit economic
activities, significant impairment losses were recorded by the Specialised
Mining Services during the Reporting Period.

The Net Loss for the Discontinued Operations outpaced the Net Profit
for the Continuing Operation. As a result, the Group reported a Net
Loss of RMB17.1 million for FY2020 (FY2019: Net Profit of RMB69.2
million, out of which, RMB153.0 million was the one-off gain from
disposal of Low-Fe Mining Operation).

Overview of Mines
Please refer to below tables for the status of the mine operations which

are owned and operated by the Group.

High Fe Mines and Gypsum Mine

Mine Processing Plant
&% TR

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine Maoling Processing Plant

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Status as at 31 December 2020
720205 12831H KR

Producing iron concentrates of high Fe contents (within the

range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe)

S RBOMIEE (TFe £7) F65%E72%)

Optimising development and mining plans according to trial

production results

B FRELEE ELETEM 4 EFe
Shigou Gypsum Mine N/A
AERBTE EA R E

ReEHRE AR
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The following table summarises the transacted volumes for (i) trading TREASERNEZHE , R()HEBEER

sales and (ii) sale of self-produced products of the Group: HEE .
Purchase from Sale to
independent third parties an independent third party
MEBIE=FBEE MEIE=AHE
FY2020 FY2019 Change FY2020 FY2019 Change
2020 2019 2020 2019
MBEE WMERFE 2% HMREE HHEE b )|
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (Kt) %
(Fm8) (Fmg) % (Fm8) () %
(i) Trading Sales (i) EFHE
Steels ik} 122.5 120.5 1.7 122.5 120.5 1.7
Coals R R - 6.5 N/A - 6.5 N/A
B B
122.5 127.0 (3.5) 122.5 127.0 (3.5)
Production volume (Dry basis) Sales volume (Dry basis)
EE (%8) #HE (&)
FY2020 FY2019 Change FY2020 FY2019 Change
2020 2019 2020 2019
HHEE HMBREE 2% MHEE FHEE &3
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (Kt) %
(1) (Fu8) % (F-18) (Fu8) %
(ii) Sale of Self-produced (i) SHEBEEM
Products
High-grade iron concentrates = m i SR
Maoling Processing Plant BER 84.8 91.6 (7.4) 86.5 91.6 (5.6)
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Business Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's financial conditions, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group.
There may be other risks and uncertainties which are not known to
the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

o Additional time and efforts may be taken in negotiating
with financial institutions, including refinancing structure on
commercially acceptable terms.

o Changes in laws, regulations and policies arising amid
containment of the COVID-19 outbreak may adversely affect the
Group's business operations.

o Deviation from business and operational plans, including
resources reallocation.

o Delay in implementation of transformational strategies.
o Fears and negative market sentiment could result in lower value-

in-use, lower future economic benefits to be derived by the cash-
generating units and thus potentially higher impairment.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Note: As at 31 December 2020, the Specialised Mining Services were
classified as held for sale and as a discontinued operation and the
comparatives of which have also been re-presented as a discontinued

operation.

REMAINING GROUP
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expense

Other expenses

Reversal of impairment losses, net
Finance costs

Operating profit before tax
from the Remaining Group
Income tax credit/(expense)

Operating profit after tax
from the Remaining Group

DISPOSAL GROUP

Loss for the year from the Specialised

Mining Services
Loss for the year from the Low-Fe
Mining Operation

Operating loss after tax from the

Disposal Group
Net gain on disposal of the Low-Fe

REEm
e A

$58 pR A

7
EAR AR U3
S8 R A%
FEE%
H{hBI%
BB 18 B E 5
B

REBEBRAEEFN B

FrisMiE%e,/ (%)

REEERREENR
HEEE
EERRBBFRERE
BERUBZEFFEAER
HEERRBREESIE

HERBRUESES

Mining Operation B Uk & 3 28
Profit/(Loss) for the year FRFE (8
# Presented at gross of intra-group transactions as if the disposal of Low-Fe

Mining Operation and Specialised Mining Services had taken place on 31

December 2019.

Fi %55 [0l BB

st D FR20204E 12531 H » HEBIRRZEE S
BAIFIEHE R BARIFASE 23 1A &

FIEESZERIAZEE -

FY2020 FY2019
2020 2019
MEBEE MHEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTFT ARBF T
(Re-presented)
(RET])
488,135 522,370*
(441,548) (477,107)
46,587 45,263
3,864 409
(4,572) (9,194)
(30,515) (24,041)*
(3,.212) (417)
1,479 8,240
(5,598) (3,139)
8,033 17,121
250 (6,091)
8,283 11,030
(32,675) (20,229)*
- (83,411)*
(32,675) (103,640)*
- 152,997
(24,392) 60,387

Variance

44
=il

%
%

(6.6)
(7.5)

2.9
844.7
(50.3)
26.9
670.3

(82.1)
78.3

(53.1)
(104.1)

(24.9)

61.5

(100.0)

(68.5)

(100.0)

(140.4)

# REBRRBABXZNEELEY BOES
RURBEBREXHARBEBLESTRER

20195 12H31H%EE
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ATTRIBUTABLE TO: HEBR
Owners of the Company FAN/NETEZT= N
Non-controlling interests FEIER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: B
Owners of the Remaining Group REBEEHEBA
Non-controlling interests JEER R m
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BB
Owners of the Disposal Group HEEBES A
Non-controlling interests JEER Em
Revenue

Revenue fell to RMB488.1 million for FY2020 (FY2019: RMB522.4
million) due mainly to lower production and sales volume resulting
from the Production Suspension. The negative financial impact of the
Production Suspension has affected overall revenue of the Continuing
Operations during FY2020 but was partly mitigated by the rebound of
selling price of high-grade iron concentrates during 2H2020 on demand
recovery.

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE R

FY2020 FY2019 Variance

2020 2019
MHEE FHEE =9
RMB'000 RMB'000 %
ARBTT AE®EFT %

(Re-presented)

C==2))
(17,054) 69,199 (124.6)
(7,338) (8,812) (16.7)
(24,392) 60,387 (140.4)
9,413 13,943 (32.5)
(1,130) (2,913) (61.2)
8,283 11,030 (24.9)
(26,467) 55,256 (147.9)
(6,208) (5,899) (5.2)
(32,675) 49,357 (166.2)

KA

20200 EE ) WA THE AR 488188
7T (2019 B E - ARHES2458T) £ 2
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MM B ER20200 FEEITBISERLE XK
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales primarily comprises contracting fees for mining and
stripping as well as materials, labour, power and other utilities, repair
and maintenance and trading purchase. Cost of sales fell to RMB441.5
million for FY2020 (FY2019: RMB477.1 million) on the back of lower
revenues.

Gross Profit and Margin

There was a slight improvement in gross profit margin to 9.5% for
FY2020 (FY2019: 8.7%) in spite of the Production Suspension in
1H2020. Gross profit increased to approximately RMB46.6 million for
FY2020 (FY2019: RMB45.3 million) due to higher profitability from the
High-Fe Mining Operation.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains included proceeds of RMB2.0 million derived
from the sale of mine tailings and the processing of which has
commenced since April 2020.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses fell to RMB4.6 million for FY2020
(FY2019: RMB9.2 million) in line with lower revenues. The selling and
distribution expenses primarily comprise transportation fees, logistic
costs, storage and other related fees.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses comprise staff-related expenses (net of
government grant), professional fees and other overheads arising from
the Production Suspension and resource taxes. Administrative expenses,
including additional resource taxes of RMB8.7 million, increased to
RMB30.5 million for FY2020 (FY2019: RMB24.0 million).

tHE s
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Other Expenses

Other expenses increased to RMB3.2 million for FY2020 (FY2019:
RMBO0.4 million) due mainly to higher cost of processing mine tailings
which has commenced since April 2020. Such initiative aims to reduce
possible water loss in the dams and to clean up the existing tailings
dams for environmental compliance while allowing part of the mine
waste to become saleable.

Reversal of Impairment Losses, Net

The management of the Group has updated the key assumptions of the
business projection in respect of the cash-generating unit ("CGU") of
the Remaining Group (the "Remaining Group CGU"), which is highly
dependent on the estimation of future commodity prices, mining plans,
future capital expenditure plans, discount rates and market conditions
after COVID-19 pandemic. As at 31 December 2020, the management
of the Group is of the opinion that there is no impairment of the
Remaining Group CGU, barring unforeseen circumstances. However, the
management of the Group is mindful of the existing market conditions
which appear to be highly unpredictable and will continue to assess the
underlying assumptions applicable to its business projections (subject
to regular reviews and revisions in relation to impairment tests) if there
are factors indicating that the business conditions relating to Remaining
Group CGU may deteriorate to a level which requires accounting
impairment as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

During the Reporting Period, the reversal of impairment losses
amounting to RMB1.5 million was due mainly to reduction in expected
credit loss rate after considering all available historical information and
forward looking macro-economic factors.

Finance Costs
Finance costs increased to RMB5.6 million for FY2020 (FY2019: RMB3.1
million) following revision in loan prime rate.

Income Tax Credit/(Expense)
The Group recorded an income tax credit of RMB0.3 million for
FY2020 (FY2019: income tax expense of RMB6.1 million), due to the
recognition of deferred tax assets in relation to the unabsorbed tax
losses for the High-Fe Mining Operation.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Specialised Mining Services

Given the unfavourable geopolitical conditions, extreme economic
pressures relating to the persistence of COVID-19 pandemic and
pessimism over short- to mid-term economic growth, and intermittent
lockdown resulting from resurgence of COVID-19 cases in Australia,
where the Specialised Mining Services currently operate, the
management of the Group has updated key assumptions in the business
projections, including, among others, reducing expected growth rate
to be in line with market expectation. On these grounds and given
the degree of uncertainty, the Group has also deferred its major
capital expenditure decisions and shelved its expansion plans for the
Specialised Mining Services. As a result, impairment loss was recorded
on CGU in respect of the Specialised Mining Services due to a decline in
its recoverable amount.

If there are changes to market conditions resulting in a change of
projections and estimates after the projection period, the estimates
of future recoverable amount of the CGU may change or result in a
decrease in the carrying amount of the CGU given that the business
plans are expected to change more rapidly during such period of
uncertainty.

In consequence, an impairment loss of RMB29.4 million was recorded
for FY2020 (FY2019: RMB14.0 million).

Profit/(Loss) Attributable to Owners

Given the above, the Group recorded a Net Profit of RMB9.4 million
for its Continuing Operations and a Net Loss of RMB26.5 million for its
Discontinued Operations. Combining both, the Group reported a Net
Loss of RMB17.1 million for FY2020 (FY2019: Net Profit of RMB69.2
million, out of which, RMB153.0 million was the one-off gain from
disposal of Low-Fe Mining Operation).

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2020 (FY2019: Nil).
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The following table sets out certain information regarding the Group's
consolidated statement of cash flows for FY2020 and FY2019:

Cash and cash equivalents as
stated in the consolidated
statement of cash flows at
beginning of the year

Net cash flows from/

(used in) operating activities

Net cash flows from/

(used in) investing activities

Net cash flows used in financing
activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents as
stated in the consolidated
statement of cash flows at
end of the year
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Net Cash Flows From/(Used In) Operating

Activities

The Group’s net cash flows from operating activities were RMB36.8
million for FY2020 (FY2019: used in operating activities were RMB14.1
million) after accounting for operating profit before working capital
changes of RMB31.7 million (FY2019: RMB18.2 million), and positive
working capital changes of RMB5.1 million (FY2019: negative working
capital changes of RMB31.3 million).
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Net Cash Flows From/(Used In) Investing Activities

The Group's net cash flows used in investing activities were RMB8.2
million for FY2020 (FY2019: from investing activities were RMB27.2
million), due primarily to (i) the upgrade of plant and equipment
of approximately RMB15.2 million (FY2019: RMB47.1 million) for
production facilities of the High Fe Mines, (ii) net proceeds from the
disposal of property, plant and equipment of RMB7.4 million (FY2019:
RMB2.5 million), and (iii) net proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries
of RMB Nil for FY2020 (FY2019: RMB84.9 million).

Net Cash Flows Used In Financing Activities

The Group's net cash flows used in financing activities were RMB4.7
million for FY2020 (FY2019: used in financing activities were RMB16.2
million) as there were reduced repayments of several loans following
the 2019 Disposal.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Note: Significant changes in financial position during the financial
year under review were mainly attributed to the classification of the
Specialised Mining Services to assets and liabilities held for sale as at 31
December 2020. Details of the discontinued operations for FY2020 are
set out in note 10 to the financial statements of this annual report. For
meaningful analysis, the previous year’s amount has been re-presented
on a basis that are comparable to FY2020.

Inventories

Inventories of the Remaining Group amounting to RMB5.8 million as at
31 December 2020 (FY2019: RMB9.9 million) consists of raw materials
and consumables in relation to High-Fe Mining Operation.

Trade and Bills Receivables

The Remaining Group's trade and bills receivables decreased to
RMB181.8 million as at 31 December 2020 (FY2019: RMB188.6 million)
on the back of lower revenues.

Other Receivables
Other receivables of the Remaining Group remain relatively unchanged
at RMB4.7 million (FY2019: RMB4.9 million).
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Assets or Liabilities of a Disposal Group Classified
As Held For Sale

The assets or liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale
were RMB77.7 million or RMB85.0 million, respectively, relate to
Specialised Mining Services which have been classified as held for sale
as at 31 December 2020.

Trade Payables

The Remaining Group's trade payables decreased to RMB30.5 million
as at 31 December 2020 (FY2019: RMB40.8 million) due mainly to
payment to suppliers. Overall creditors turnover days remain relatively
unchanged at 40 days (FY2019: 40 days).

Bank and Other Loans

Total bank and other loans of the Remaining Group remain relatively
stable at RMB84.7 million as at 31 December 2020 (FY2019: RMB83.8
million). As at 31 December 2020, all bank and other loans were
denominated in RMB. Details of bank and other loans of the Group are
set out in note 27 to the financial statements of this annual report.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities of the Remaining Group amounting to RMB2.3
million as at 31 December 2020 (FY2019: Nil) include short-term
advances received from customers in relation to the sale of self-
produced products.

Lease Liabilities

This related to payment obligations in relation to the right-of-use assets
which comprised mainly office premises and tailings management
facilities, which increased to RMB7.3 million as at 31 December 2020
(FY2019: RMB1.4 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the maximum amount of contingent liabilities
of the Company was RMB730.0 million, which represent the maximum
guaranteed amount under the CVT Guarantees. The CVT Guarantees
were provided by the Company prior to the 2019 Disposal to guarantee
the indebtedness of the Caitong Group owed to certain banks and an
asset management and financial services institution in the PRC. Those
debts have not been fully repaid and the CVT Guarantees continued
after the Completion. As previously disclosed in the announcements
of the Company dated 30 July 2019 and 29 July 2020, the Company's
obligations under the CVT Guarantees have been counter-indemnified
by Chengyu Vanadium Titano. Save for the above, as at 31 December
2020, the Group did not have any other contingent liabilities.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Pledge of Assets

The Group’s pledge of assets as at 31 December 2020 mainly related
to a short-term bank loan of RMB79.6 million granted by Shanghai
Pudong Development Bank Chengdu Branch to Aba Mining, which was
secured by the mining right of Maoling Mine.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s foreign currency exposures arose primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely Hong Kong
dollars, US dollars, Australian dollars, Singapore dollars and Vietnamese
dong, against the Renminbi. Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Australian
dollars, Singapore dollars and Vietnamese dong are the functional
currencies of respective entities within the Group.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s net assets, earnings and any
dividends it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted
into foreign currencies. The Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
The management monitors the Group's foreign currency exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the
needs arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0% change
in RMB against HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND, respectively. The
5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in the foreign currency rate. The
sensitivity analyses of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk
at the end of each reporting period have been determined based on
the adjustment of translation of the monetary assets and liabilities at
the end of each reporting period for a 5.0% change in RMB against
HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND, respectively, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax for the year ended 31
December 2020 (due to changes in the fair value of cash and cash
equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
denominated in HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND):
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Interest Rate Risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are not substantially
affected by the changes in market interest rates. The Group has no
significant interest-bearing assets, except for cash and cash equivalents.
The Group manages its interest rate exposure arising from all its
interest-bearing loans through the use of fixed rates. In addition, the
Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge against interest
rate risk.

Contractual Obligations
The Group had no contractual obligations as at 31 December 2020 and
2019.

Capital Expenditure

The Group's total capital expenditure decreased significantly by
RMB22.3 million to RMB19.8 million for FY2020 (FY2019: RMB42.1
million, on a comparable basis) due to the deferment of certain non-
critical capital expenditure amid the COVID-19 pandemic.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is a measure of financial leverage, which is calculated by
net debt divided by “total equity plus net debt”. Net debt is defined as
interest-bearing bank and other loans and lease liabilities, net of cash
and cash equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working
capital purpose. Equity includes equity attributable to owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests. As at 31 December 2020,
gearing ratio was approximately 6.1% (FY2019: 7.4%).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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RESOURCE AND RESERVE OF MINES UNDER
THE JORC CODE (2012 EDITION) AS AT
1 JANUARY 2021

Property JORC Mineral Resource Category
&% BATRHEZEEREERER

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine Measured (M)
EH—-FRELEE ¥REA
Indicated (1)
gl
M+l
PREA +
Inferred
Eiid-i
Total
“a st

Notes:

1. The material assumptions and technical parameters set out in the
Company's supplemental announcement dated 13 February 2015 with
respect to the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine continue to apply.

2. The mineral resources of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine as at 1 January
2021 were estimated by BAW Mineral Partners Limited by depleting
the mineral resources consumed throughout 2020 for the Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine.

BMETRHEEZE TR
(20125 kR) TR EH 202145

1A1ENERERGFE
Contained
Tonnage Grade Metal
TE 25 & i BEER
TFe TFe
TFe TFe
(Mt) (%) (K1)
(A =) (%) (Fnig)
8.00 22.36 1,787.87
8.00 22.36 1,787.87
47.24 22.86 10,799.00
55.24 22.79 12,586.87
P -
1. AABIHEAA20155F28 13BN BRASEHE
ARAEE-FRLUBSENFERIARMNZ2
BeEEA -

2. FEE-FRLUSER202IE1B1TENEES
RERERREEBRASEBME2020F 31
EE-FRLUSEMEBRESREMEto
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RESOURCE OF MINES UNDER THE
CLASSIFICATION FOR RESOURCES/RESERVES
OF SOLID FUELS AND MINERAL COMMODITIES
(GB/T 17766-1999) AS AT 1 JANUARY 2021

Resource Summary of the Shigou Gypsum Mine
The mineral resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine under the
Classification for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral
Commodities (GB/T 17766-1999) have not been changed since the
disclosure in our 2014 annual report. The assumption of the resources
of the Shigou Gypsum Mine is 82.51% “gypsum + anhydrite” cut-off
grade and 1 metre minimum in width.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 191 dedicated
full time employees (31 December 2019: 184 employees), including
10 management staff members, 15 technical staff members, 41
administrative and sales & marketing staff members, and 125
operational staff members. For FY2020, the Group employee benefit
expenses (including Directors’ remuneration in the form of fees, salaries
and other allowances) were approximately RMB28.5 million (FY2019:
RMB69.6 million).

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group. The Group has also adopted share option schemes
for its employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants with reference to their contributions. For details, please
refer to the section headed "Directors’ Report” in this annual report.
Proper training programmes were implemented in order to promote
employees’ career development and progression within the Group.
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Outbreak of COVID-19 Pandemic

The Group has previously updated that the unprecedented COVID-19
pandemic had adversely affected the market sentiment, caused business
uncertainty and posed significant risks on the pace of demand recovery
for many industries in China and beyond due to major supply chain
disruptions. For further details, please refer to announcements of the
Company on 7 February 2020, 9 March 2020, 27 March 2020 and 23
April 2020.

Notably, the impact brought about by COVID-19 pandemic was not
uniform across markets due to differences in the timing and duration
of lockdowns in affected countries. The High-Fe Mining Operation and
trading businesses have progressively reverted to pre-COVID-19 levels.
Conversely, the operation of the Specialised Mining Services that mainly
took place in Australia remains a considerable uncertainty.

Amid the deteriorating global economic activities as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, conditions are volatile. The extent of this impact
on the Group's future financial performance and position depends
largely on the effectiveness of control measures against the COVID-19
pandemic and the outcomes of which remain largely uncertain. Given
these uncertainties and the risks of resurgence of COVID-19 infections,
the adverse impact on the economic activities could be more acute
and protracted than expected. As a result, the Group has been more
cautious and prudent concerning additional impairment during the fair
values assessment of its existing CGUs and assets held-for-sale.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan
Mr. Teh, aged 48, was appointed as the non-executive Director on 26
July 2017 and subsequently appointed as the chairman of the Board
on 12 October 2017. Mr. Teh is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Teh, a sophisticated investor, specialises in corporate restructuring,
corporate finance, and merger & acquisition. Mr. Teh is currently a
substantial shareholder; and an appointed non-independent and non-
executive chairman of Livingstone Health Holdings Limited (listed on the
Catalist of the SGX-ST and formerly known as Citicode Ltd.). He is also
an appointed advisor of Koda Ltd (listed on the main board of the SGX-
ST).

Mr. Teh was the executive chairman and chief executive officer
("CEQ") of Citicode Ltd (previously listed on the mainboard of the
SGX-ST) from July 2018 to February 2021 for which he completed its
corporate turnaround plan via a reverse takeover of a multi-disciplinary
healthcare services group, Livingstone Health Ltd. Mr. Teh was also the
group CEO and managing director of Sapphire Corporation Limited
("Sapphire”) (listed on the main board of the SGX-ST) from October
2013 to December 2017. Under his leadership, Sapphire has undergone
a major corporate restructuring exercise and he has transformed
Sapphire by acquiring one of the largest privately-owned urban rail
transit engineering groups in China. He has also led Sapphire to be the
first company listed outside Hong Kong to receive The Listed Enterprise
Excellence Awards 2016 from the Hong Kong-based Capital Weekly.

Mr. Teh served as a non-executive director of Singapore eDevelopment
Limited (listed on the Catalist of the SGX-ST and formerly known as
CCM Group Limited) from June 2013 to August 2016; a non-executive
director of Asian American Medical Group Limited (listed on the
Australian Securities Exchange (the “ASX") and formerly known
as Asian Centre For Liver Diseases & Transplantation Limited) from
January 2011 to January 2016 and a non-executive director of Heng
Fai Enterprises Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
currently known as Zensun Enterprises Ltd.) from October 2013 to
September 2014.

Some of Mr. Teh's other investment and corporate portfolios included
but are not limited to — In 2002, he advised and completed the
restructuring and initial public offering (the “IPO") exercise of Koda Ltd
(which was subsequently named one of the best 200 companies under
a billion by Forbes Asia in 2006) on the SGX-ST. In 2006, he evaluated
and advised a spinoff plan for the proposed IPO application of a
foreign-controlled enterprise on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange.
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In 2009, he advised and completed the restructuring and listing exercise
of one of Asia’s foremost liver centres, the Singapore-incorporated
Asian Centre For Liver Diseases & Transplantation Limited via a reverse
takeover of an ASX-listed fashion design house. Mr. Teh has also
previously involved in and advised on other corporate actions including
business reorganisation, corporate restructuring, proposed divestments,
corporate debts restructuring and cash exit offer for other publicly listed
companies, family-owned enterprises and regional asset owners.

Mr. Teh was nominated for the 2015 and 2016 Asia Pacific
Entrepreneurship Awards (Singapore) under the Industrial and
Commercial Products Industry as well as the 2017 and 2018
QOutstanding Leaders in Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability
Awards under the Leadership Category. Mr. Teh is a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (United Kingdom), a
fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants, an international affiliate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a chartered accountant of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants, a full member of the Singapore Institute of
Directors and an ordinary member of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

Mr. Jiang, aged 55, has been an executive Director since 28 April
2008 and re-designated as the chief executive officer of the Company
since 12 October 2017. Mr. Jiang is also a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Jiang joined the Group in March 2008 as a director of Huili Caitong
when it was part of the Group. Mr. Jiang is a director and the general
manager of Sichuan Lingyu and a director of First China Limited, Simply
Rise Holdings Limited and Sure Prime Limited, all being wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Jiang has approximately 20 years of
experience in production and quality control in the steel industry. Mr.
Jiang was a technician, head of quality control department and the
chief manager of the audit department of Chuanwei from August 1989
to April 2008. Mr. Jiang graduated from Chongging Steel and Iron
College* in Chongging in July 1989 with a college degree in iron and
steel rolling.
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Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Hao, aged 39, has been an executive Director and the financial
controller of the Company since 1 January 2018. Mr. Hao has been
the financial manager of the Company since January 2012. Mr. Hao is
also a director/supervisor/financial manager of certain key subsidiaries
of the Company and is responsible for the financial reporting and
management of these subsidiaries. He was the financial controller
of Huili Caitong from January 2012 to February 2016. He has 16
years of experience in financial management and has also previously
participated in the IPO exercise of the Company, including pre-IPO
reorganisation, merger and acquisition, corporate finance matters and
operational reorganisation. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hao was
the financial supervisor of the Panxi Region of the mining branch of
Chuanwei from March 2010 to January 2012, a financial supervisor in
each of the financial management department of Chuanwei from May
2006 to March 2010 and Sichuan Longwei Metal Products Co., Ltd.*
from July 2004 to April 2006, respectively. Mr. Hao has professional
qualification as an International Certified Management Accountant. Mr.
Hao obtained a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in June 2004.

Mr. Wang Hu

Mr. Wang, aged 41, has been an executive Director since 1 January
2018. Mr. Wang has been the assistant to the then chairman, Mr. Jiang
Zhong Ping and is the manager of legal and compliance department
of the Company. Mr. Wang is also a director of certain key subsidiaries
of the Company and is responsible for legal and compliance matters
of these subsidiaries. Mr. Wang has 17 years of experience in legal
and compliance matters. Mr. Wang has previously participated in the
pre-IPO reorganisation and IPO exercise of the Company, including
merger and acquisition. He is responsible for the legal and compliance
matters of the Group after the listing of the Company. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Wang was the supervisor of legal department of
Chuanwei from September 2003 to August 2008 and worked as a
client relationship manager in Agricultural Bank of China, Chongging
Changshou branch* from August 2002 to September 2003. Mr. Wang
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Southwest University of
Political Science & Law in July 2002 and a master's degree in business
administration from Sichuan University in December 2020.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Yu, aged 56, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Yu was a chartered public accountant
in Sichuan Tongde Certified Accountants Firm* (formerly known as
Chengdu Xinda Certified Accountants Firm*) from 1994 to 2000, a
member of the expert panels of Land and Resources Department of
Sichuan Province and Science and Technology Department of Sichuan*.
Mr. Yu is a chartered public accountant (non-practicing) in the PRC,
a member of the Chartered Public Accountant Further Education
Committee of Sichuan Association of Chartered Public Accountants*,
and a professor, master and doctoral supervisor of the Accounting
Faculty of Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in
Chengdu, Sichuan. Mr. Yu is also the dean of the Auditing Department
at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu,
Sichuan.

Mr. Yu worked in the finance department of Weiyuan Steel Factory*
from July 1988 to August 1990. Mr. Yu served as an independent non-
executive director of Xinan Huaji Company Limited*, a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from 1998 to 2000 and he served as
an independent non-executive director of Jinyu Checheng Company
Limited* (“Jinyu Checheng”), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, and was also a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of Jinyu Checheng from May 2004 to June
2010. As a member of the audit committee of Jinyu Checheng, Mr. Yu’s
duties included reviewing the internal control system and reviewing
and analysing financial statements of the company. Mr. Yu was an
independent non-executive director and a member of audit committee
of Chengdu Tianxing Instruments (Group) Co., Limited*, a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from June 2012 to June 2015.
Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive director and a chairman of
the audit committee of Royal China International Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, from February
2017 to September 2018. Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive
director and a chairman of the audit committee of Sichuan Expressway
Company Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, from March 2013 to November
2019. Mr. Yu was also an independent non-executive director of
Sichuan Jiuzhou Electric Group Co., Ltd*, a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from May 2013 to October 2020. Currently,
Mr. Yu is an independent non-executive director of Chengdu Haoneng
Technology Co., Ltd.* and an independent non-executive director
of HitGen Inc.,* both companies are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange.
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Mr. Yu received a bachelor’'s degree from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan in economics (accounting)
in July 1988, a master’s degree in economics (accounting) in December
1992 and a doctoral degree in management (accounting) in March
2002. Through his professional qualification as a chartered public
accountant, his education background in accounting and his previous
experience as an independent non-executive director of public
companies, he meets the criteria for accounting and related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the view that Mr. Yu's experience in internal
controls and reviewing and analysing audited financial statements of a
public company that he gained when he was serving as a member or
chairman of the audit committees of various public companies enables
him to meet the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Liu, aged 58, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Liu is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Liu has been working at Sichuan
Metallurgical Design and Research Institute since July 1987, engaging in
project consulting, beneficiation process and mining design, feasibility
study and relevant engineering design work and specialising in mineral
processing engineering. His past experiences in mining design projects
include constructing iron concentrate production lines of various
capacities and mining operations planning for vanadium-bearing titano
magnetite mines. He is the deputy chief engineer and the chief project
designer of the mining engineering institute of Sichuan Metallurgical
Design and Research Institute. He is also a Work Safety Expert in
Sichuan* appointed by Department of Emergency Management of
Sichuan Province. Mr. Liu graduated from the faculty of mining resource
engineering of Xi'an Metallurgy and Architecture College*, now known
as Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology, in Shaanxi and
received a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1987.
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Mr. Wu Wen

Mr. Wu, aged 52, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 1 November 2014. Mr. Wu is also a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is
a qualified lawyer in the PRC. Mr. Wu graduated from Peking University
School of Law in 1990. Mr. Wu obtained a Juris Doctor degree from
Northwestern School of Law of Lewis and Clark College in 1998. Mr.
Wu worked as an associate of Sichuan Canway Law Firm from August
1998 to May 2002 and later became a partner from February 2003 to
December 2008. Mr. Wu also worked as legal counsel in Kodak (China)
Company Limited from May 2002 to December 2002. Mr. Wu practiced
law as a partner of Tahota Law Firm from February 2009 to February
2014. Since March 2014, Mr. Wu has been a partner of Zhonglun Law
Firm. Mr. Wu is a member of the Chinese Bar Association.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
Mr. Jiang is the chief executive officer of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.

Mr. Hao Xiemin
Mr. Hao is the financial controller of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.

Mr. Wang Hu
Mr. Wang is the head of compliance of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.
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The Directors hereby present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are mining and ore processing, sale of
self-produced products, trading of steels, management of strategic
investments and rendering specialised mining services. Details of the
Company'’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 are set out in note 1
to the financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “"Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report — Risk Management and
Internal Control” of this annual report. These discussions form part of
this Directors’ report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty; provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

A directors and officers liability insurance is in place to protect the
Directors and officers against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors and officers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 104 and 105 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

On 27 December 2018, the Board adopted a dividend policy that, in
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company will maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its Shareholder value. When considering
the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board will consider a
number of factors, including but not limited to the Group’s financial
results and cash flow position, the Group’s future operations and
earnings, the Group’s expected capital requirements and expansion
plans, the Group's debt to equity ratios and the debt level, any
restrictions on payment of dividends under any financial covenant
undertaken by the Group, the retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group, the
Shareholders’ expectation and industry’s norm, and the general market
conditions.

The Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (FY2019: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
24 June 2021 to Tuesday, 29 June 2021 (both days inclusive) during
which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to determine the
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM, all share transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17 Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 23 June 2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Additions to property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately RMB19.8 million
(FY2019: RMB42.1 million). Details of the movements during the year in
the Group's property, plant and equipment are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change in the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2020. Details of the
movements during the year in the issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 29 to the financial statements of this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 December 2020 in
the reserves of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 108 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles were
RMB1,877.5 million.

Under the Companies Law, subject to the provision of its Articles, the
share premium account may be applied by the Company in paying
distributions or dividends to its members or in paying up unissued
shares to be issued to its members as fully paid bonus shares provided
that no distribution or dividend may be paid to members out of the
share premium account unless, immediately following the date on
which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The reserves of the Company available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purpose, the amount which the Company's subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by reference
to their distributable profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the PRC. These distributable profits differ
from those that are reflected in the Group's consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with the IFRSs.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 246 to
248 of this annual report.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Details of the loans and borrowings of the Group are set out in note 27
to the financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, sales to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for 91.4% and 91.3% of the total
revenue of the Group, respectively, and sales to the largest customer
accounted for 68.4% and 70.8%, respectively.
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During the year, the Group's customers were highly concentrated
primarily because (i) the steels, coals and iron products are bulk
raw materials and the customers required stable supply and (ii) the
production volumes of self-produced products were low and our pool
of target customers was small. The Group was aware of the risk of
a concentrated customer base and has entered into non-exclusive
sales agreements with several potential customers. Pursuant to the
agreements, the Group is able to sell any of its products to the potential
customers without any restrictions.

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 81.7% and 92.1% of
the total purchases of the Group, respectively, and purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for 74.9% and 68.6%, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5.0% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
are as follows:

Non-executive Director
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

Executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Wang Hu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 31 to
36 of this annual report.

In accordance with articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles, Messrs. Teh
Wing Kwan, Yu Haizong and Liu Yi will retire at the 2021 AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2021 AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Liu Yi, an independent non-executive
Director, entered into a new letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 8 October 2020. Mr. Wu
Wen, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 November 2020.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has
entered into any service agreement with the Company which is not
terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than the statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the
Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICIES

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group.

When compared to other employees of the Group, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management put a heavier
weight on their contributions to the performance of the Group. This is
achieved by way of share option schemes. The emolument policies of
the Directors and senior management are overseen by the remuneration
committee of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes are set out under the section
headed “Share Options” of this report and note 30 to the financial
statements of this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, are as follows:

Long positions in share options granted by the
Company

Number of share options held by the Directors and chief executives of
the Company as at 31 December 2020:

Directors’ Report
EEEWRES

EEREETHRASREKMG
18 B B 17 e 15 1 5 B 4 o B 3¢

R2020F 1283 1H A RBEEZERESITHA
ERARBAHEAE LB (EERBFRPER
B EXVER) BV (5 ~ BRI D R BB RS ()
RIFHF RIS RO EXVEBE 7R ESH A
BARNB REBMZFANER RN A (BIERE
BENBERAIERBEXHEFARAEAN
BmEORA) ; FO)IREESF MG KA FE352
RBRBPRZEFIEELMUNER LKA ; &
(ORIEREFR BN G AR R EBH
RERBORBEWMT !

RAABFARUERMAENGE

R2020F 1283 1H A RBEZRESITEA
ERFENRMDEEHE !

Percentage of

Number of Number of the Company'’s
share options underlying issued share
Name Capacity held Shares capital
HAEREEET
e 515 FRiFRR {7 BAtE B B HRRG#E RAHBHSLE
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping Beneficial owner 13,500,000 13,500,000 0.60%
BHRTRE BEmEB A
Mr. Wang Hu Beneficial owner 1,800,000 1,800,000 0.08%
FE&E BmER A
Mr. Hao Xiemin Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%*
Tl BT BEEHEAA
Mr. Yu Haizong Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%*
REBRELE BmEEA
Mr. Liu Yi Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%*
2L BEmEB A
# Less than 0.01% # 2720.01%

FABDEERESTHASFANRNG ARF
BN ARSI Bt — BNk ER

The details of share options held by the Directors and chief executives
of the Company are disclosed under the section headed “Share
Options” of this report.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, so far as is known
to all the Directors and chief executives of the Company, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2009 Option
Scheme”) on 4 September 2009. At the 2010 AGM, the Shareholders
approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2010
Option Scheme”) and the termination of the operation of the 2009
Option Scheme (such that no further options shall thereafter be offered
under the 2009 Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions
of the 2009 Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect).

Since the 2010 Option Scheme was due to expire on 14 April 2020, at
the 2020 AGM, an ordinary resolution was proposed to approve the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2020 Option Scheme”)
to ensure the continuity of the Company’s share option scheme. The
resolution was approved by the Shareholders at the 2020 AGM and
the 2020 Option Scheme has become effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 16 June 2020. Outstanding share options granted
during the life of the 2010 Option Scheme prior to its expiry shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with their terms of
issue after the expiry of the 2010 Option Scheme.
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Summary of the 2009 Option Scheme

The purpose of adopting the 2009 Option Scheme was to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contributions to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Company and
enabling our Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The
eligible persons include any Director or employee (whether full time or
part time) of any member of the Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2009 Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to any eligible person
under the 2009 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
shall not in any 12-month period up to the date of grant exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of grant. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to the
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The vesting period and the
period within which an option may be exercised under the 2009 Option
Scheme will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion.
There is no general requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is empowered
to impose at its absolute discretion any such minimum period at the
time of grant of any particular option. The exercise price in relation to
each option shall be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of such option; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of such option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of grant of such option. The amount payable on
acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option was HKD1.0.
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1,400,000 share options granted under the 2009 Option Scheme
were outstanding at the beginning of the year and have lapsed during
the year. Details of the movement of share options which have been
granted under the 2009 Option Scheme during the year are as follows:

Exercise price

per share
Name or category of participant Date of grant Exercise period® option
shHkH
SEATHAHER RHAH frfesgo HETEE
(HKD)
(A7)
1. Directors/chief executives
1. EZ/BEHAZ
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 01.04.2010 01.10.2012 to 31.03.2020 4.99
Brysst 01.10.2012%31.03.2020
01.04.2015 to 31.03.2020 4.99
01.04.2015%31.03.2020
2. Employees (in aggregate) 01.04.2010 01.10.2012 t0 31.03.2020 4.99
2. B8 (B#) 01.10.2012%31.03.2020
01.04.2015 to 31.03.2020 4.99
01.04.2015%31.03.2020
Total 483t
Notes:
1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until
the commencement of the exercise period.
2. During the year, 1,400,000 share options granted under the 2009 Option

Scheme have lapsed. There were no share options exercised or cancelled
during the year.

Summary of the 2010 Option Scheme

The purposes of adopting the 2010 Option Scheme are: (i) to broaden
the scope of eligible persons to include all substantial shareholders
of the Company and any person whom the Board considers to have
contributed to the development and growth of the Company; (ii) to
provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contributions
to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Company;
and (iii) to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees. The eligible persons include directors, chief executives,
substantial shareholders or employees (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group and any person who the Board considers,
at its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the
development and growth of the Group.
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R EBEHE
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01.01.2020 the year® 31.12.2020
#2020 #2020
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The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2010 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
to each eligible person under the 2010 Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
Company had 15,600,000 share options outstanding under the 2010
Option Scheme, which represented 0.69% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of this annual report.

Any grant of options to a Director, chief executives or to a substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (ii) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options are
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.
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A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.

Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the 2010 Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing
to the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the
number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at
its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than
ten years from the date of grant. The 2010 Option Scheme was valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the date of
approval of the 2010 Option Scheme. The 2010 Option Scheme has
expired on 14 April 2020 and no option may be granted thereafter.

The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option. In the event of a grantee ceasing
to be an eligible person for any reason other than (i) by reason of
summary dismissal for misconduct or other breach of the terms of his
employment or other contract constituting him an eligible person, or
appears either to be unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect
of being able to pay his debts or has become insolvent or has made any
arrangement or composition with his creditors generally or on which
he has been convicted of any criminal offence involving his integrity
or honesty; or (ii) by death, the option may be exercised within one
month after the date of such cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is
an employee of any member of the Group, his last actual working day
with such member of the Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice
or not; or (ii) if he is not an employee of any member of the Group, the
date on which the relationship constituting him as an eligible person
ceases.
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Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2020 which BIR#E2010F AR st B3R HE 102020512831

have been granted under the 2010 Option Scheme are as follows: BHERITENRAOA#EFFOT .
Number of share options
Rip A
Exercise price
per share Held as at Lapsed during Held as at
Name or category of participant  Date of grant Exercise period®” ﬁ?ﬁ%&% 01 }_./(\)1.202(5) the year®? 31 E.A‘IZ.ZO%O
22020 2020
SEATHLHER BHAH fTfEHR %ﬁ&?—zfﬁ{% 1R1BKE EREHO 12B31BEE
HKD
()
1. Directors/chief executives
1. E%2/BBAHAR
Mrl.:PJian%Z;hong Ping 23.05.2011 23.05.2013 t0 22.05.2021 3.60 5,000,000 - 5,000,000
Erhy 23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 4,250,000 - 4,250,000
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000 - 2,125,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000 - 2,125,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mrf\/\g{snig Hu 23.05.2011 23.05.2013 t0 22.05.2021 3.60 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
iR 23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 400,000 - 400,000
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000 - 200,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000 - 200,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Hao Xiemin 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000 - 50,000
AT E 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 - 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 - 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Yu Haizong 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000 - 50,000
FEREE 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 - 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 - 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Liu Yi 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000 - 50,000
b 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 - 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000 - 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
2. FEmpIE) ee; (in aggregate) 23.05.2011 23.05.2013 t0 22.05.2021 3.60 4,500,000 (4,500,000) -
2 EE(3 23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 3,500,000 (3,500,000) -
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 1,750,000 (1,750,000) -
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 1,750,000 (1,750,000) -
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Total #5f 27,100,000 (11,500,000) 15,600,000
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Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until
the commencement of the exercise period.

2. During the year, 11,500,000 share options granted under the 2010
Option Scheme have lapsed. There were no share options granted,
exercised or cancelled during the year.

Summary of the 2020 Option Scheme

The purposes of adopting the 2020 Option Scheme are: (i) to provide
incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Company; and (ii)
to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The
eligible persons include any director(s), chief executive(s) (as defined
under the Listing Rules), employee(s) (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group, and any substantial Shareholder(s) (as
defined under the Listing Rules), suppliers, customers, contractors,
service providers, agents, advisers, consultants, joint venture partners
and business partners, of any member of the Group, who the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to
the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2020 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under all schemes
adopted by the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 224,901,541
Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares then in issue as
at the date of adoption of the 2020 Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed under the 2020 Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The maximum number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each eligible person under the 2020 Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
Company had 224,901,541 Shares available for issue under the 2020
Option Scheme, which represented 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of this annual report.
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Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a Substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (i) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options are
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.

Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the 2020 Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing to
the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the number
of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten years
from the date of grant. The 2020 Option Scheme is valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from the date of approval of the
2020 Option Scheme. The 2020 Option Scheme will expire on 15 June
2030 and no option may be granted thereafter.
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The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option (which must be a business day).
In the event of a grantee ceasing to be an eligible person for any
reason other than (i) by reason of summary dismissal for misconduct
or other breach of the terms of his employment or other contract
constituting him an eligible person, or appears either to be unable to
pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his debts
or has become insolvent or has made any arrangement or composition
with his creditors generally or on which he has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty; or (ii) by death,
the option may be exercised within one month after the date of such
cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is an employee of any member
of the Group, his last actual working day with such member of the
Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not; or (ii) if he is
not an employee of any member of the Group, the date on which the
relationship constituting him as an eligible person ceases.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the 2020
Option Scheme at the 2020 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its parent companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES
To the best knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2020, persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short

positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Long positions in Shares:

Name

s/ s

Trisonic International
E1UETES
Kingston Grand
Kingston Grand
Mr. Wang Jin
THEE

Mr. Yang Xianlu
mRBERE

Mr. Wu Wendong
SBX®EEE

Mr. Li Hesheng
FHBELE

Mr. Shi Yinjun
AIREFLE

Mr. Zhang Yuangui
REERE

Long Sino International Limited
Long Sino International Limited

Mr. Zou Hua
MEFLE

Ms. Jiang Hua
ZEZL

mIEFEERAE
mIMEHFEERAE
Erie Investments Limited
Erie Investments Limited

Notes

1&5
155
1&5
155
1&5
155
2,3&5
235
3,48&5
3 4K5
48&5
4525

Directly
beneficially
owned

1,006,754,000

202,892,000

Through
parties acting
in concert

BB
TBALER

1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000
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Held in the
capacity of Percentage
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security issued
interest share
in Shares Total capital
NBERRR R VNG
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- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
614,080,000 614,080,000 27.30%
- 202,892,000 9.02%
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Notes:

The issued share capital of Trisonic International was owned as to 3.0%
by Mr. Li Hesheng, 42.6% by Mr. Wang Jin, 7.2% by Mr. Shi Yinjun,
7.2% by Mr. Zhang Yuangui and 40.0% by Kingston Grand.

The issued share capital of Kingston Grand was owned as to 100% by
Long Sino International Limited.

The issued share capital of Long Sino International Limited was owned as
to 100% by Mr. Zou Hua.

Ms. Jiang Hua was the spouse of Mr. Zou Hua.

As at 31 December 2020, 1,006,754,000 Shares were held by Trisonic
International. Since Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua were parties acting in concert, each of Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua was deemed to be interested in 1,006,754,000 Shares held by
Trisonic International.

Mr. Wang Jin was a director of Trisonic International.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the

Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to restrict competition activities between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company, the Controlling Shareholders entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company dated 23
September 2009 (the “Non-Competition Deed").

The undertakings and covenants stipulated under the Non-Competition
Deed cover any business which involves ore processing and sale of
iron concentrates, iron pellets, titanium concentrates and titanium
related downstream products or any other business from time to time
conducted by any member of the Group (the “Competing Business”) in
Hong Kong, the PRC or such other part of the world where any member
of the Group carries on its business from time to time other than the
mines owned or operated by Weixi Guangfa and Yanyuan Xiwei.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed, the Controlling Shareholders
having an opportunity to invest in, participate in, engage in, operate
or manage any Competing Business (the “Business Opportunity”) shall
notify the Company about such Business Opportunity in writing. The
Company shall have the first right of refusal under the same investment
terms to such Controlling Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders
shall implement the project only if the Company has confirmed that
it has no intention to invest, participate in, engage in or operate such
Business Opportunity as approved by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company has not
entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business
of the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Except for the service contracts and share option schemes as disclosed
in this annual report, there were no transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group, to
which the Company, its parent companies, its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Other than the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in
the section headed "Connected Transaction/Non-exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions" on pages 56 to 61 of this annual report,
no contracts of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION/NON-EXEMPT
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 29 January 2019, Sichuan Lingyu entered into a sales and purchase
agreement in respect of the 2019 Disposal at a consideration of
RMB550.0 million with Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which was
approved by the independent Shareholders at the 2019 EGM. Upon the
completion of the 2019 Disposal on 30 July 2019, the Caitong Group
(i) ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Company and (ii) has since
become the subsidiaries of Chengyu Vanadium Titano. As the Relevant
Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more than 30% equity
interests in the Chengyu Vanadium Titano, Chengyu Vanadium Titano
is a connected person of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules,
and the 2019 Disposal constituted a connected transaction and very
substantial disposal of the Company. Please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 29 January 2019 and 30 July 2019 and the
circular of the Company dated 10 June 2019 for details of the 2019
Disposal.
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Immediately upon the Completion, Chengyu Vanadium Titano becomes
the holding company of the Caitong Group. Each of the Caitong Group
Companies becomes a connected person (as defined under the Listing
Rules) of the Group. Accordingly, after Completion, certain existing
ongoing transactions between the Group and the Caitong Group
have become continuing connected transactions of the Company
and the Company will comply with the annual review and disclosure
requirements in respect of the continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules, details of which are set out below.

1.  Provision of the CVT Guarantees by the

Company

Prior to Completion, the Company had provided the
CVT Guarantees in favour of certain banks and an asset
management and financial services institution in the PRC (the
“Financial Institutions”) in 2014, 2017 and 2018 respectively
guaranteeing, inter alia, the indebtedness owing by certain
Caitong Group Companies to the Financial Institutions (including
but not limited to the principal, interests, liquidated damages,
compensation and other costs and expenses payable by these
Caitong Group Companies) under the facilities granted by these
Financial Institutions to these Caitong Group Companies with
the aggregate maximum guaranteed amount of RMB730.0
million. Details of the CVT Guarantees are as follows:
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Maximum
Lender and beneficiary of guaranteed
Date of agreement Borrower the guarantee Guarantor amount
EA=E EEUN BERARERREA ERA BEERE
1. 11 September 2014® Huili Caitong® China Cinda Asset Management Co.,  the Company RMB200 million
Ltd., Sichuan Branch®
2014898115 FIREEY HEEEEEEERNEBERAHT /NS AR2008E T
M2 AE0
20 June 2017 Huili Caitong® Industrial and Commercial Bank of the Company RMB100 million
China Limited, Liangshan Branch
20174E6H20H FIEEA? REIHRTRHBRAR /NS ARE1008 8T
RUWDTT
27 July 2018 Xiushuihe Mining®  Industrial and Commercial Bank of the Company RMB30 million
China Limited, Liangshan Branch
2018%F7H27H FIR A EES TEIERTROHERAS /NS ARE30EET
RWATT
25 August 2017 Huili Caitong® China Construction Bank Corporation, the Company RMB400 million
Liangshan Branch
20174%8H25H FIEEIA? HPERERIRTROBRAE ZN/NS] AR08 E T
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Notes:

1. The guarantee provided by the Company in favour of China
Merchant Bank Co., Ltd, Chengdu Branch ("“CMB") was created
on 11 September 2014. Pursuant to the guarantee dated 11
September 2014 and entered into between the Company and
CMB, the Company granted the guarantee in favour of CMB for
the indebtedness of Huili Caitong under the credit agreement,
which was executed between Huili Caitong and CMB on even
date. By a notice of assignment of loan on 6 July 2017, the
Company was informed of the assignment by CMB of all its
rights in the credit agreement and the guarantee in favour of
China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd, Sichuan Branch.

2. The Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more
than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which
in turn holds 100% of the entire issued share capital of Huili
Caitong. Huili Caitong is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

3. The Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more
than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which
in turn holds 100% of the entire issued share capital of Huili
Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining is in turn owned as to 95% by Huili
Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining is therefore a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Company entered into the CVT Guarantees before
Completion as guarantee, so as to facilitate the Caitong
Group in obtaining credit facilities to meet its working capital
requirements. Since these Financial Institutions will only review
and process applications for the proposed release of the CVT
Guarantees after Completion, under the relevant sale and
purchase agreement, each of Huili Caitong and Chengyu
Vanadium Titano has undertaken to Sichuan Lingyu that it will
procure the release of the CVT Guarantees within one year
after the Registration Completion Date (or such other date that
may be agreed by the parties in writing). In order to minimize
the risk of the Group under the CVT Guarantees pending the
completion of the release procedures, Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company had on 30 July 2019, entered into the
counter indemnity (the “Counter Indemnity”) for the provision
of counter-indemnity by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour
of the Company in respect of the Group's liabilities and claims
under the CVT Guarantees.

According to the Counter Indemnity, Chengyu Vanadium
Titano's inventories (including but not limited to structural
steels, coals etc.) of approximately RMB767.0 million will be
pledged as security for such counter-indemnity. The Counter
Indemnity will be effective from the Registration Completion
Date to the date of the release of the CVT Guarantees. Upon
completion of the release of the CVT Guarantees, the Counter
Indemnity will be released contemporaneously.
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In 2020, Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Huili Caitong have
updated the Company that they have been following up with the
Financial Institutions for the release of the CVT Guarantees but it
has taken longer than expected time for the Financial Institutions
to review the release of the CVT Guarantees as cities in China
were on lockdown for COVID-19 outbreak containment earlier
in 2020 which delayed the discussions. The Financial Institutions
indicated willingness to release the CVT Guarantees provided
that the total outstanding loans with them are fully repaid.

Given that (i) the Counter Indemnity in favour of the Company
will also continue to be in place and remain effective until
the CVT Guarantees are released; (ii) the aggregate values of
the security provided by Chengyu Vanadium Titano remain
substantially higher than the maximum guaranteed amount
under the CVT Guarantees and the amount of the outstanding
principal loans; and (iii) no actions have been taken or
threatened to be taken by any of the Financial Institutions in
enforcing any of the CVT Guarantees against the Company, the
CVT Guarantees will be in continuation in accordance with their
original terms. For further details of the updates on the CVT
Guarantees, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 29 July 2020.

2. Provision of technical consultancy services by
the Group to the Caitong Group
On 28 September 2018, Sichuan Lingyu entered into a technical
consultancy service agreement (the “Technical Consultancy
Service Agreement”) with Huili Caitong, pursuant to which
Sichuan Lingyu shall provide technical consultancy services in
relation to mine development, mine core engineering design
and project management, mine geological engineering, safety,
environmental management, and other training and advisory
services to Huili Caitong from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2020 (or such earlier date as the parties may agree). Huili
Caitong shall pay to Sichuan Lingyu an annual service fee of
RMB8.6 million during the term of the Technical Consultancy
Service Agreement. The agreement decision was based on
assessment of a quotation provided by a third party with similar
scope of services and negotiated on an arm'’s length basis.

Such provision of technical consultancy services has ceased on
31 December 2020, in accordance to the terms of the Technical
Consultancy Service Agreement.

Other than the continuing connected transactions set out above, in respect
of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract of significance has
been entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
substantial shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Annual review conducted by the independent
non-executive Directors on the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions
were entered into:

o in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
. on normal commercial terms; and
° in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the

relevant transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Annual review conducted by the auditor of

the Company on the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
Company’s auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this annual report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The auditor of the Company has reviewed the continuing connected
transactions mentioned above and confirmed to the Board that:

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board;

. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group;
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J nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the amount of each of the transactions has exceeded its
specific amount mentioned above.

The Company confirms that the execution and performance of
the specific agreements in respect of above continuing connected
transactions during the year ended 31 December 2020 were in
compliance with the pricing principles of such continuing connected
transactions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (the “CG Code").

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures.

The audit committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and
Mr. Wu Wen.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the audit committee
has reviewed: (i) the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group and annual results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2019; (ii) the consolidated financial statements of the Group
and interim results announcement for the six months ended 30 June
2020; and (iii) the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group. Details of the risk management and internal control of the
Group are set out on pages 87 to 93 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The remuneration committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee currently comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman), one executive
Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu
Wen.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions relating to pre-emptive rights over Shares under
the Articles.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry to all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the CG Code. Throughout the year ended
31 December 2020, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code except for code provisions A.4.1
and E.1.2 as described in the Corporate Governance Report.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to pages
68 to 96 of this annual report.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S INFORMATION

Each of Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Liu Yi, an independent non-executive
Director, entered into a new letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 8 October 2020. Mr. Wu
Wen, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 November 2020.
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Since 24 March 2019, Mr. Yu Haizong ("Mr. Yu"), has been appointed
as an independent director of HitGen Inc., which was listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange since 16 April 2020. Mr. Yu has ceased to
be an independent non-executive director of Sichuan Jiuzhou Electric
Group Co., Ltd*, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
since 21 October 2020.

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the chairman of the Board and non-executive
Director, has been redesignated as a non-independent and non-
executive chairman of Livingstone Health Holdings Limited (listed on the
Catalist of the SGX-ST with effect from 4 February 2021 and formerly
known as Citicode Ltd.) following the completion of its corporate
turnaround plan via a reverse takeover exercise.

Save as disclosed above, there is no change in Directors’ and chief
executives’ information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in
the ordinary course of business are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements of this annual report. The Company has complied with
the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules for those related
party transactions which constituted connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules, as disclosed in the
section headed “Connected Transaction/Non-exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” on pages 56 to 61 of this annual report. Save
for the abovementioned, other related party transactions as set out in
note 36 to the financial statement either did not constitute connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions or constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from all disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief and as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

()

(ii)

64

Employees

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 191
dedicated full time employees, increased by approximately 3.8%
as compared to previous year under comparable basis. The
employee turnover rate for the year was approximately 9.4%.
The total full time employees included 51 female employees
and 140 male employees, of which 24 employees were aged
30 or below, 58 employees were aged between 31 and 40, 58
employees were aged between 41 and 50, and 51 employees
were aged 51 or above. Management maintained good
communications with the employees and encouraged feedback
from them. The proper training programmes were implemented
in order to promote employees’ career development and
progression within the Group. The Group evaluated the
employees regularly, promotions and further training were
provided when necessary.

Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s suppliers mainly consisted of
mining contractors, transportation contractors, suppliers of
production-related materials and trading companies. The Group
selected the suppliers based on various criteria, including but
are not limited to qualifications and reputations. The Group
has established long-term relationship with the major mining
contractor for more than 8 years, the transportation contractors
for more than 6 years, and both the suppliers of production
related materials and trading companies for more than 6
years. The Group has continued to maintain sound business
relationships with major suppliers, and no incidents that will
adversely affect the Group’s product supply have occurred.
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(iii) Customers

During the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 91.4% of the total revenue. The Group
maintained good relationships with the customers who required
stable supply for these bulk raw materials, these customers are
distributors and trading companies. The Group has established
long-term relationship with the customers for 5 to 7 years. The
trading of steels contributed 69.1% of the total revenue of the
Group.

Please refer to the financial statements of this annual report for
more details of the Group’s trading terms with its customers as
set out in note 20 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
The Company has always been closely communicating with its
stakeholders, actively responding to their needs, and taking those into
consideration during the corporate strategy formulation and decision
making process. The Company sees sustainable development as the
key for a corporation to succeed and therefore, it aims to seek a win-
win situation for the Group, society and the environment by balancing
between the creation of economic value and the impact on the
environment.

The Group strictly complies with various national environmental
protection laws and regulations. It has implemented a series of
measures to alleviate environmental impacts of ore mining, processing
and transporting. The Group has established rules for pollutant control
and waste disposal, including the proper way of handling airborne
dust, waste oil, noise, mine rocks and tailings generated during ore
mining and the promotion of waste recycling; the Group has also
brought in new equipment to improve resource use efficiency and built
tailings pond to control ecological impact and improve water resources
recycling; electricity consumption has been reduced by improving
the Group's facilities and technologies and increasing the proportion
of new energy purchases such as hydropower, thereby controlling
greenhouse gas emission; the Group supports green operations and
encourages its employees to adopt environmentally friendly working
habits. For further information about the Company’s environmental
performance during the year, please refer to the Company's separate
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be issued by the
Company. The report will be available on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website
after its publication.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group and its activities are subject to requirements under various
laws. In addition, the Listing Rules also apply to the Company. The
relevant PRC laws which had a material implication or impact on
the operation of the Group during the year include, among other
things, the Work Safety Law of the PRC*, Labour Law of the PRC*,
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC*, Land Administration Law of
the PRC*, Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the PRC*, Mineral
Resources Law of the PRC*, Law of the PRC on Safety in Mines*, Law
of the PRC on Water and Soil Conservation*, Law of the PRC on Wholly
Foreign-Owned Enterprises* and Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax* and the applicable regulations, guidelines and policies issued or
promulgated under or in connection with these laws.

The relevant Australian laws which had a material implication or
impact on the operation of the Group include, among other things,
Corporations Act (2001) and Environmental Protection and Biodiversity
Act (1999) at the national level of Australia, Work Health and Safety
Act (2012) and Mineral Resources Development Act (1995) in Tasmania,
Occupational Health and Safety Act (2004) and Mineral Resources
(Sustainable Development) Act (1990) in Victoria, Work Health and
Safety Act (2011) and Mining Act (1992) in New South Wales, Work
Health and Safety Act (2011) and Mineral Resources Development Act
(1989) in Queensland, and Occupational Health and Safety Act (1984)
and WA Mining Act (1978) in Western Australia.

The Company seeks to ensure compliance with these requirements
through various measures such as internal controls, trainings and
oversight of various business units at different levels of the Group.
The Group highly values the importance of ensuring compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group that have significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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The Company appointed Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company for KRB EBEKGAMEBEBRMEERLBTEE
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The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. The Directors consider that during the year ended 31
December 2020, the Company has complied with the code provisions
under the CG Code except for code provisions A.4.1 and E.1.2.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the non-executive Director, is not appointed for
a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1.
However, as Mr. Teh Wing Kwan's appointment is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election by the Shareholders at the annual general
meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles, in the
opinion of the Directors, this meets the objective of the CG Code.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman of
the board should attend the annual general meeting. Due to travel
restrictions as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, Mr. Teh Wing Kwan
was not able to physically attend the 2020 AGM and joined the 2020
AGM by means of teleconference instead.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
information that reasonably reveals that there is any non-compliance
with or deviation from applicable code provisions on corporate
governance practices set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules by the
Company anytime during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises a combination of executive Directors,
a non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules.
This provides a healthy professional relationship between the Board
and senior management in the process of formulating business
strategies for the Group. The Board is also supported by other key
committees to provide independent oversight of management. These
key committees are the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee and are made up of the majority of independent
non-executive Directors. As of the date of this annual report, the
composition and committees of the Board are as follows:

Board member

BEEEHNE

Non-executive Director
ERITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman)
BB RESE (FE)

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping (Chief executive officer)
BRERE (BEHTE)

Mr. Hao Xiemin (Financial controller)
TR, (I EAEE)

Mr. Wang Hu

FEEE

Independent non-executive Directors
BIUERITES

Mr. Yu Haizong

RBREE

Mr. Liu Yi

BTt

Mr. Wu Wen

SxEsE
Notes:

C: Chairman
M: Member

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 31 to
36 of this annual report.

EEG

EXERFAPTES FFRTESERBIUF
RTEFHEM -ED—RBIUFRATESFTHES
LEHRAUNERNBEEXRER (A ETHEEH
BEBEEMNH) - BN ESTESREE
[EHIEAREBMERRERERS RFMEERRR
F-BEFENBINHEMIEZE SRR BUS
BEEEFEHE -ZETELEEREREEE H
MEEERRELREZEE TERBIUIFNTE
BN -NAFREAN EFENEMKEET
LI

Audit Remuneration Nomination
committee committee committee
BREEY FNEEE RHEZEY

- - C
- M M
C M M
M C M
M - M

M 5E

C. xfE
M: &8

tHREENBEEFFHNEAFEREINEFIE
NEERSHRERE[NI—E-
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Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping, an executive Director, entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing from
12 December 2019. Each of Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu, an
executive Director, entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2020. The
appointment of each of the executive Directors may be terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective service
contracts and/or by either party to the service contract giving to the
other party not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Liu Yi, each an independent non-executive
Director, entered into a new letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 8 October 2020. Mr. Wu
Wen, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 November 2020. The appointment of each of the
independent non-executive Directors is subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the chairman and non-executive Director, entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company on 26 July 2017 and
pursuant to which, his appointment is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The appointment of Mr. Teh is terminable
by either party to the letter of appointment by giving the other party
not less than two months’ prior notice in writing.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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The key roles of the Board are:

° to guide the overall development, corporate strategies and
directions of the Group, approve the Board policies, strategies and
financial objectives of the Group and monitor the performance of
management;

o to ensure effective management leadership of the highest quality
and integrity;

° to approve major funding proposals and investments; and

. to provide overall insight in the proper conduct of the Group's
business.

The Board has delegated certain functions to the relevant Board
committees, details of which are disclosed below. Day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management
of the Company under the supervision of the executive Directors. The
management is mainly responsible for the execution of the business
plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and assigned to
it from time to time. The Directors have full access to information of
the Group and are entitled to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense. The functions
and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to ensure
that they remain appropriate.

During the year, the Company held four regular Board meetings for
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance,
considering the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Sufficient
notices convening the Board meetings were dispatched to the Directors
setting out the matters to be discussed. All the Directors were given
an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for the Board
meetings and had access to the company secretary of the Company
(the "Company Secretary”) to ensure that all Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations were followed. At the meetings, the
Directors were provided with the relevant documents to be discussed
and approved. The Company Secretary was responsible for keeping
minutes for the Board meetings.

EFENIERES
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During the year, the Company held one general meeting. The following
is the attendance record of the meetings held by the Board, audit
committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee and the
Shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2020:
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FR ARBRIT—RRRAG - REFE20205F
NRANBLEFERTHNEFE BREEE H
MEEE RLEZEERRRTENHELTR
LI

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

HEGERYBTEERY
Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board committee committee committee General

Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
§P§§E %M%aa RLZEEE

BERfy EXggE g g = REKRE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan 4/4 - - 11 01
xS E
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 4/4 - 2/2 1”1 11
Byt
Mr. Hao Xiemin 4/4 - - - 1/1
iEl G
Mr. Wang Hu 4/4 - - - 11
FREE
Mr. Yu Haizong 4/4 2/2 2/2 1/1 1/1
REBREKE
Mr. Liu Yi 4/4 2/2 2/2 1”1 1
AREE
Mr. Wu Wen 4/4 212 - 1”1 1”1
BXERE
# Due to travel restrictions as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, Mr. Teh # H R EFECOVID-19A RAIT B IR EE PR 5 » ok

Wing Kwan was not able to physically attend the 2020 AGM and joined
the 2020 AGM by means of teleconference instead.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contributions
to the board remain informed and relevant.

All the Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates the
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All the Directors had provided the Company with their respective
training records pursuant to the CG Code. During the year, all the
Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development by way of reading materials relevant to the Group’s
business or to Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

A EEZR S HE2020FREBERG > X
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The individual training record of each Director during the year ended 31 REZE2020F12A31HEEE  SEFWEA
December 2020 is set out below: ElEesRE T

Training received

BiEZ I

Non-executive Director

EHMITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman) (1) and (2)

BB E (F/E) (1)5(2)

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping (Chief executive officer) (1) and (2)

BrRESRE (BEHTE) (1)5(2)

Mr. Hao Xiemin (Financial controller) (1) and (2)

B (HEEE (1)k(2)

Mr. Wang Hu (1) and (2)

FEEE (Mk(2)

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIJEHITES

Mr. Yu Haizong (1) and (2)

REBRLE (1)k(2)

Mr. Liu Yi (1) and (2)

Bl e (Mk(2)

Mr. Wu Wen (1) and (2)

BxmE (1)5(2)

Notes: MIEE -

(1) Reading relevant materials and updates relating to the Listing Rules and (1) RMEREEETHBSEEMAN MR
other applicable regulatory requirements and matters of relevance to the HMBEREERAEREENME RRMER ;
Directors in the discharge of their duties; and )4

(2)  Reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials (2) HENREERTEBRSHBI I R AERE
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the EEHMEEENHE BT SR REAM
Directors in the discharge of their duties. RIEM KL o
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of the Company’s chairman and the chief executive are
segregated. Mr. Teh Wing Kwan is the chairman of the Board who
is chiefly responsible for managing the Board, providing strategic
guidance and acting in the best interest of the Group and the
Shareholders, while Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping is the chief executive officer
of the Company who takes charge of the supervision of the execution
of the policies determined by the Board.

The chairman chairs the Board meetings and briefs the Board members
on the issues discussed at the Board meetings. The chairman also
ensures that the Board members work together with the management
with the capability and authority to engage management in
constructive views on various matters, including strategic issues and
business planning processes.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

According to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation or, if the number
is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third shall retire from the office and shall be eligible for re-
election. The Directors to be retired by rotation shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last appointment or re-election. Every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years. Any other appointment, resignation,
removal or re-designation of Director will be timely disclosed
to the Shareholders by announcement and shall include in such
announcement, the reasons given by the Director for his resignation.

The Board selects and recommends candidates for directorship with
regard to the balance of skills and experience appropriate to the
Group's business.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The audit committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yu
Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen. The audit committee’s
main functions are:

° to be responsible for the relationship with the Company’s external
auditor, including making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

° to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and to develop and
implement policy on the engaging of an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

° to monitor the integrity of the financial statements and annual/
interim reports and quarterly reports (if prepared for publication)
and to review significant financial reporting judgments contained
in them; and

o to oversee the Group's financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems.

During the year, the audit committee held two meetings and performed
the following major tasks:

. reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements and
annual results announcement of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019, and reviewed the consolidated financial
statements and interim results announcement of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2020;

o reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed their
potential impacts on the financial statements;

BE%EES
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. reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s qualifications,
independence and performance;

o reviewed the Company's external auditor’s statutory audit plan,
audit scope and engagement letters; and

o assisted the Board to evaluate on the adequacy and effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and financial reporting procedures.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
directly reporting to the audit committee. The internal audit personnel
will attend the audit committee meetings and report on internal audit
matters annually. If there is any material internal control defect, the
internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit committee without
limitation. The audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the
risk exposures, design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk
management and internal control systems. The audit committee will
report to the Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the audit committee has
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems and the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function. Details of the
risk management and internal control of the Group are set out on
pages 87 to 93 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with CG Code. The remuneration
committee currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping.

The remuneration committee’s main functions are:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
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to review and approve performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time;

to determine, with delegated responsibilities, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors or senior management,
which should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to consider the granting of share options to Directors, chief
executives, substantial Shareholders or employees of any member
of the Group and any person who has contributed or will
contribute to the development and growth of the Group pursuant
to the share option schemes adopted by the Company;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

to review and approve the interim reports, annual reports,
announcements and circulars or any publication of the Company
regarding information on the remuneration and service contracts
of the Directors prior to approval by the Board.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two meetings, at

which the members of the remuneration committee:

78

determined the policy for the remuneration of the Directors and
reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors;

assessed the performance of the Directors; and

considered and approved the terms of the Directors’ service
agreements.
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The remuneration paid/payable to senior management (comprising

Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2020 by band is set out

below:

Remuneration Director's
Name of Director band fee
B3ty R ik

%

Chairman and non-executive Director
IRFFUTES
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan* HKD1,000,000 - 1,500,000 100
BRERE 1,000,000 - 1,500,000 7
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping RMB200,000 - 500,000 517
BREss AE 200,000 - 500,000
Mr. Hao Xiemin RMB200,000 - 500,000 47.7
i AR 200,000 - 500,007
Mr. Wang Hu RMB200,000 - 500,000 473
TRESE A 200,000 - 500,0007%
Independent non-executive Directors
BiUFRITES
Mr. Yu Haizong RMB100,000 - 200,000 100
REREE A 100,000 - 200,007
Mr. Liu Yi RMB100,000 - 200,000 100
AREE AE 100,000 - 200,000
Mr. Wu Wen RMB100,000 - 200,000 100
REE AE 100,000 - 200,0007¢
# Mr. Teh Wing Kwan received approximately 10% of director's fees

during the Reporting Period and has voluntarily deferred the remaining

outstanding balances payable by the Company and/or its subsidiary.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written

terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The nomination

committee currently comprises the non-executive Director, Mr. Teh Wing
Kwan (Chairman), one executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong,
Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen.

The nomination committee’s main functions are:

80

to review the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nomination for directorships with due
regard to the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) and
the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) of the
Company and other factors which are relevant to the Company;

to develop and formulate the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy for the Board’s consideration and approval;

to discuss any revisions to the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy that may be required, and recommend such
revisions to the Board for the Board’s consideration and approval,

to review, implement and monitor, as appropriate, the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

to review measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing any of the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, and monitor the progress on achieving such
objectives;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors with reference to, inter alia, the factors set out in the
Listing Rules and any other factors deemed appropriate by the
nomination committee or the Board and assess their ability to
devote sufficient time to the Board and Board committees;
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o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman and chief executive;

o to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship; and

o to keep under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in the
market place.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy is concerned with a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development and increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In this regard, the
nomination committee has considered the measurable objectives set
out in the Board Diversity Policy, which are to ensure that candidates
of the Board are considered based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The nomination
committee is responsible for reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of such policy and will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions
to the Board for consideration and approval.

Currently, the Board consists of seven members, including three
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors who are of different ethnicities and with
professional experience and qualifications in various aspects, such as
steel industry, financial management, law, compliance, accounting
and mining. Having regard to the composition of the Board and
the measurable objectives, the Company considers that the Board
composition is sufficiently diversified with a balance of skills and
experience desirable for the effective management and sustainable
development of the Company.
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During the year, the nomination committee held one meeting, at which
the members of the nomination committee:

° reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Directors;

o evaluated the performance and contribution of the retiring
Directors; and

° assessed the independence of the retiring independent non-
executive Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy applies to the Directors and where applicable,
senior management prepared for Board positions under the succession
planning of the Company. The Nomination Policy sets out the following
key nomination criteria and procedures, among others, as follows:

(1) Nomination criteria
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

(i) character and integrity;

(i) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience, and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company's
business and corporate strategy;

(iii) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

(iv) requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidate would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in
the Listing Rules;

(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;
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2)

(vi)  willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or board committee(s)
of the Company;

(vii) such other perspectives that are appropriate to the

Company's business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board

and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for

nomination of directors and succession planning; and

(viii)

such other factors set out in terms of reference of the

nomination committee.

Nomination procedures

(a)  Appointment of new Directors

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The nomination committee identifies individual(s)
suitably qualified to become Board members based
on its assessment on the character, biographical
information and other relevant details of such
individual(s),
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, and assesses

having due regard to the Nomination

the independence of the proposed independent non-
executive Director(s) as appropriate;

If the nomination committee has identified more
than one individual who are suitably qualified for
directorship based on the above assessment, the
nomination committee should rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each individual (where applicable);

The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

The Board considers the individual(s) recommended
by the nomination committee, having due regard to
the assessment of the nomination committee, the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

2)
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(viii)
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(b)

(v)  The Board confirms the appointment of the individual(s)
as Director(s) or recommends the individual(s) to
stand for election at a general meeting. Individual(s)
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board will be subject to re-election by
the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles; and

(vi)  The Shareholders approve the election of individual(s),
who stand(s) for election at general meeting, as
Director(s).

Re-appointment of retiring Directors (b)
(i)  The nomination committee considers each retiring

Director based on its review of each retiring Director's

overall contribution, services to the Company, and the

level of participation and performance on the Board,

having due regard to the Nomination Policy and the

Board Diversity Policy, and assesses the independence

of each retiring independent non-executive Director;

(i) The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

(iii)  The Board considers each retiring Director recommended
by the nomination committee, having due regard to the
nomination committee's review of each retiring Director,
the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

(iv)  The Board recommends the retiring Directors to stand
for re-election at the annual general meeting in
accordance with the Articles; and

(v)  The Shareholders approve the re-election of Directors
at the annual general meeting.

The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for all
matters relating to the selection and appointment of
Directors. Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect
or re-elect a candidate as Director at a general meeting, the
relevant information of the candidate will be disclosed in
the circular to Shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting
in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or other applicable
laws and regulations.
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(3)

4)

Principles considered by the nomination committee
In carrying out its responsibilities, the nomination committee

should give adequate consideration to the following principles:

(a)

(b)

in relation to Board composition — the Board should have
a balance of skills, experience, diversity of gender and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business. It should ensure that changes to its composition
can be managed without undue disruption. It should
include a balanced composition of executive and non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive
directors) so that there is a strong independent element on
the Board, which can effectively enhance decision making
capability of the Board. Non-executive Directors should be
of sufficient calibre and number for their views to carry
weight; and

in relation to appointments, re-election and removal — there
should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Directors. There should be
plans in place for orderly succession for appointments.
All Directors should be subject to re-election at regular
intervals. The Company must explain the reasons for the
resignation or removal of any Director.

Regular review

The nomination committee will conduct regular review on the

structure, size and composition of the Board, the Board Diversity

Policy, and the Nomination Policy and where appropriate, make

recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the

Company's corporate strategy and business needs.

(3)

4)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance function as set out below:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance and legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

o to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board held four meetings, at which the Board
considered and discussed, among other things, the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuous professional development of the
Directors, as well as the Company's compliance with the CG Code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the remuneration paid/payable
in relation to assurance services (excluding out-of-pocket expenses and
value added tax) by the Group to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst
& Young, is approximately RMB1,980,000.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND GOING
CONCERN STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for each financial period, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare audited accounts. Senior management
is required to present and explain the financial reporting and matters
that materially affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Group to the audit committee
and the Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the
audit committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

As at 31 December 2020, the Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial statements of the
Company on a going-concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for supervising the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.
The audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the risk exposures,
design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The audit committee will report to the
Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group established an independent internal audit function directly
reporting to the audit committee. The internal audit personnel will
attend the audit committee meetings and report on internal audit
matters annually. If there is any material internal control defect,
the internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit committee
without limitation. Meanwhile, the Group appointed an international
advisory firm as an external advisor in August 2020 to provide internal
control services under a two-year rotation plan based on a risk-based
methodology.
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Under the supervision of the Board, the management of the Group
is responsible for designing and implementing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Group has set up three
lines of defense for risk management. As the first line of defense, the
business units (e.g., sales department and production department) are
responsible for identifying and assessing business risks and developing
risk mitigation measures. As the second line of defense, the functional
departments (e.g.,
are responsible for assisting the business units to improve the risk
management and monitoring the effectiveness of risk management. As
the third line of defense, the internal audit function assists the Board
and the audit committee to review the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

compliance department and finance department)

As and when required during the year, the management convened
meetings which were chaired by the senior management with
attendants including managers from subsidiaries and department
heads from the headquarters. The Group’s decisions on operations,
implementation of investment projects, financial issues, and the
updates on risk management and internal control were considered and
determined in these meetings. The management convened annual and
interim work meetings in order to assign and review works on a yearly
basis and half yearly basis, respectively. The meetings have facilitated
the organisation, co-ordination, communication and supervision on the
commencement and implementation of the Group's various operations,
as well as the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information include:

° the Company has established a sensitive information disclosure
policy, which specified the information disclosure process,
the confidentiality requirements of the undisclosed sensitive
information, the confidentiality obligations of the employees of
the Group, etc;
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o the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

o confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations;

o the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors;

. the service contracts of the Directors, senior management and the
employees of the Group specify the confidentiality clauses; and

o the legal advisors of the Company regularly provide relevant
training to the Board and senior management.

Risk Management

The Board has established an enterprise risk management mechanism
according to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework (COSO
Framework). The Board has established risk management policies and
measures on the procedures of risk identification, evaluation, reporting
and mitigation. The risk management mechanism covers the whole
Group’s various risks in the business operations and management.
The functional department of risk management is the compliance
department of the Group, which reports to the audit committee
and is responsible for the establishment and operations of the risk
management system and coordination of risk management, supervision
and evaluation of the risk management, as well as providing advice for
material risk decisions.
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The compliance department of the Group periodically collected risk
information and conducted risk evaluation through questionnaires,
workshops, management meetings, etc., which were reported to
senior management in a timely manner. In 2020, based on the Group's
production and business conditions, the compliance department
of the Group summarised a total of 75 risk factors, categorised as
strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk and financial risk. The
management scored the risk factors based on their understanding,
production and operation experiences and determined the risk
mitigation and internal control measures to address the risks. The
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identified top five risks for the year ended 31 December 2020 are as
below:

S/N Risk title Description
R EMRIKE iR

1 Environmental risk The Group is principally engaged in mining and ore processing, sale of self-
produced products, trading of steels, management of strategic investments and
rendering specialised mining services. The Group owns and operates the Maoling —
Yanglongshan Mine, an iron ore mine, Shigou Gypsum Mine, a gypsum mine and
Maoling Processing Plant. The mines and processing plant are located in Sichuan,
the PRC.
FEENTIZEFARBRBEATE - HEAEER HEHES REMKEEE
MURiEHEERRRB AEBREARKS ELE—FRUESE @B -aEaEE
(BB KREETER 2SR TERSUNPED)IE -

1 RIGER

Mining and the related processing operations are susceptible to incidents of
environmental pollution arising from accidents, non-compliance with internal
procedures and external environmental regulations. Should there be an incident of
pollution that causes serious damage to the environment, human casualties and/
or fatalities, the Group’s operations and reputation may be adversely impacted by
legal actions initiated by third parties and regulatory actions such as penalties and
production suspensions.
RERAERTEESES S HRHERSIRWIRIR SR RS N B IR T KIS
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S/N
R R

3

4

4

Risk title
EkEE

Remuneration, welfare and talent
retention risk

#Fl BRI R AT R E R R

Mining management risk

R EIE AR

Industry adjustment risk

TERERR
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Description
it

The operations of the Group's business rely on three core groups of employees to
run its operations, comprising: (i) senior management and key managers; (ii) skilled
engineers, safety officers and mine geologist; and (iii) sales and marketing team. Talent
retention is important to the sustainable development of the Group. The continual
success of the business depends on the Group's ability to retain these personnel as
they possess the skill sets and experience necessary for the Group's operations.
FEEEGESEMB=_EZMVEERELE 8 ()IeREEABRTIELE;
(VAR TRM - Z2TERBERMESR ; Ri)HEREHBE K AAIREH K
EENTFEERBAEE ERSFENENINETS  RYRNERESIEEZE
AE REANRKEHEREBMAEREBNLBRERER-

The market for talent is highly competitive and the Group is exposed to the
risk that its key employees may be enticed away by its competitors or other
corporates. In addition, failure to maintain an attractive remuneration and staff
welfare structure internally may lead to resignation of core employees and inability
to attract new talents. Should there be insufficient talented and/or experienced
employees to run the Group's business, the Group may lose its competitive edge
and the Group’s operations may be adversely affected in the long term.
AATHEHRBHI WAEE DS AREEBTERFEINFHAHEHMEEZANE
Wo LS REBAEREEFTERSINDNFMRETRFMNEASTERZLESR
BAERBARSIFEAS - HEESIBR /AKREENEEABTEULE R
EERER AARERTERAGFEY MAEEZEREVERIITHZEZ-

Mining and processing operations are highly dependent on the use of heavy
machineries and equipment such as crushers, grinder machines and conveyor belts.
REARSFEEESEMRBERENMBRRE  IWHEAE IER R BET -

As these machines are subject to heavy usage, the level of wear and tear is
high. Improper use, repair and/or inadequate maintenance may lead to accidents
that could result in casualties, fatalities, damage to machineries, environment,
economic losses and prolonged operational disruptions.
ERZERBERERS BEEETS AEEA - HEKR  RREFEEHESI
HEHO XNFEMBT ET HBBEH RIE - KEBARREBEERE-

In addition, insufficient and improper mine management and maintenance may
lead to soil erosions and mine accidents with similar adverse impacts,

SN R EERFERN T EURER LIEEHREHAMUTE ENRRELR

The iron ore industry is exposed to changes in the macroeconomic conditions,
industry structure, government policies and environmental regulations. If the
Group is unable to adapt to the said changes, the Group’s business and financial
performance may be adversely impacted.
ERATERHRRLERR  TEERE BUNBERRIRRZREBEMER o H4
EEBABRE MEE A AERNEBRYBERBOEZITHEE-
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S/N Risk title
wmIE EREE

5 Sourcing risk

5 8 R bz

Description
i

The Group sources consumables, spare parts and machinery to run its operations.
As such, it is exposed to the risks of non-value for money purchases, purchases
of sub-standard goods or non-performing machinery, over reliance on a single
supplier and late deliveries.

FEESRBEHER SR RHBUKEER - FAI 7EFEHEERERE
KEE - BABRERABLEFRS BERBE —HEBAREELEREAMR-

Key contributary factors to the above risks include the lack of adequate and
effective operating procedures on selecting and maintaining a list of qualified
suppliers, quality control on receiving deliveries, procurement and production
planning.

B LitRBENEERZBERNRTHEFRVER DB A E B KRB NAEER
F-WERERE - RBEREERS

Internal Control

The audit committee supervises and inspects the comprehensiveness
and implementation of the internal control system of the Group,
and regularly discusses with the management on the system in order
to ensure that the management performs its duties to establish an
adequate and effective internal control system.

The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the assets
of the Group and maintain proper accounting records, execution with
appropriate authority and compliance of the relevant laws and regulations.
The Board has established and evaluated the relevant internal control
system across three spectrums covering the corporate governance and
system, business and accounting procedures and information system
control. The management, with oversight from the Board has established
internal control and risk management systems based on the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission’s Internal Control
Integrated Framework. The main features of the framework are as follows:

° control environment: including code of conduct and other
practices regarding acceptable business practice or expected
standards of ethical and moral behaviours, management of
conflict of interest, authority and responsibility, legal and
regulatory compliance, etc.;

° risk assessment: including objective management, risk assessment
and management, compliance management, etc.;
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. control activities: including sales, trade receivables and collection,
procurement, trade payables and payment, production and
costing, human resources and payroll, assets management,
treasury, financial reporting, information technology general
controls, etc.;

o information and communication: including forecasting and
budgeting, internal and external communication, confidentiality
and data protection; and

o monitoring activities: including internal audit function, reporting
of internal control defects, etc.

In 2020, the internal audit function of the Group, with the assistance
of a professional service firm, performed an annual review on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the above internal control system.
The main work procedures included policy review, interview with key
process owners and sample testing. As a result of the annual review, 14
internal control issues were identified, and the Group has requested the
responsible departments to take remedial actions in a timely manner.
The internal audit function, together with the professional service firm,
reported the results of the annual review to the audit committee. The
Board, through the audit committee, reviewed the work of the internal
audit function. The Board has adopted the recommendations set out
in the internal audit report. The Group believed that a proper internal
control system was established and executed, and no significant area of
concern which might affect the Shareholders was found.

The Board conducts a review of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems at least once a year. The Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the Board, through the audit committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal control
(including financial, operational and compliance controls), and was
of the view that the Group complied with the relevant CG Code of
risk management and internal control and concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and adequate,
and such controls effectively mitigated the risks that might have impact
on the Group in achieving its strategic objectives.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Eng Wee was appointed as a joint Company Secretary on 30
December 2019 and has become the sole Company Secretary since 1
April 2020. Mr. Chong Eng Wee is a partner and the head of corporate
at Kennedys Legal Solutions Pte Ltd. and his primary contact person of
the Company is Mr. Wang Hu, an executive Director. According to Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules, an issuer's company secretary must take no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in each financial
year. During the year, Mr. Chong has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, Shareholder(s) holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (the “Requisitionist(s)”) may, by written requisition
(the "Requisition”) to the Board or the Company Secretary, require an
extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM"”) to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in the Requisition. The
Requisition shall be deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The EGM shall be held within two months
after the deposit of the Requisition. In the event that the Board fails to
proceed to convene the EGM within twenty-one days of the deposit of
the Requisition, the Requisitionist(s) may convene a physical meeting at
only one location which will be the principal place of meeting, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. In respect of other
enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong which will
direct the enquiries to the Board for handling.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

In 2020, the Company continued to communicate with Shareholders,
investors and analysts in an honest manner through various channels.
Timely disclosure of corporate information and necessary data for
valuation purpose has been fully provided so as to help the capital
market understand the investment value of the Company. The main
communication channels with the Shareholders include:

Annual general meetings

The annual general meeting is an important discussion platform for
the Shareholders to participate in, facilitating the communications
between the management of the Company and the Shareholders. The
annual general meeting is held once a year, being accessible to all the
Shareholders. The Directors answer any questions the Shareholders have
at the annual general meeting, being attended by the external auditor
and the Company Secretary. All matters proposed to the Shareholders
for approval shall be submitted in separate resolutions and resolved
by way of poll at the annual general meeting. The procedures of
conducting a poll will be explained in details to the Shareholders and
the voting results will be set out on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website.

Constitutional documents

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board proposes to make
certain amendments to the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company (the "Proposed Amendments"), primarily for the
purposes of (i) providing greater flexibility to the Company in relation
to the conduct of general meetings by permitting general meetings to
be held simultaneously in different physical locations and the use of
hybrid meetings; and (ii) updating and modernising the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company to better align the provisions
with the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules, as
well as incorporating certain housekeeping changes.

Following the Shareholders' approval of the Proposed Amendments
by way of a special resolution at the 2020 AGM, the Company has
adopted the amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association (the "Amended and Restated M&A") with effect from 16
June 2020.

For further details regarding the Proposed Amendments, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 21 April 2020 and the
circular dated 27 April 2020.

The Amended and Restated M&A is available on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website.
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Annual reports, interim reports, announcements
and circulars

The Company issues its annual reports and interim reports after
publishing the annual results and the interim results in March and
August every year, respectively, so as to periodically review the
development of the Group as well as to update its Shareholders
with its latest business information and market trends. In addition,
the Company will inform the Shareholders through announcements
regarding any major event or inside information in a timely manner. For
any matter requiring the approval of the Shareholders, the Company
will hold an EGM according to the requirements of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and issue a circular prior to the specific date of the
meeting, allowing the Shareholders to have sufficient time to learn
more about the matters for making voting decisions. All annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars will be uploaded to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company’s website.

The chairman of the Board also encourages Shareholders and investors
to write to him directly if they wish so. He has included his email
address in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6 to 9
of this annual report.

The Company’s website

The Company's website offers timely access to the Group’s press
releases and other business information. Through its website, the
Company provides the Shareholders with electronic versions of the
financial reports, the latest slide presentations, as well as up-to-date
news about the Group's business, announcements, general information,
etc. To make contributions to environmental protection and maintain
effective communication with the Shareholders, the Group encourages
all Shareholders to browse the Company’s corporate communication
documents on the Company'’s website.

Investor contacts and enquiries

The Group has a dedicated team to maintain contact with investors and
handle Shareholders’ enquiries. Should investors have any enquiries,
please contact the Company’s external Investor Relations Consultant via
email at ir@chinavtmmining.com.

The Company will ensure that the information of the work on investor
relations is disclosed in a timely and accurate manner, and will react to
the capital market effectively and smoothly. This can help the capital
market to better understand its development strategies and operating
conditions of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

]
EY:

To the shareholders of
China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Central, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 104 to 245, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
these matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

B EE

Impairment of non-current assets

FFRBEERE

In accordance with IFRSs, the Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there are any indications of
impairment for its non-current assets. If such indicator of
impairment exist, an estimate of the recoverable amount
is performed. The Group has significant amount of non-
current assets, including property, plant and equipment,
other intangible asset and right-of-use assets. Based on
the existing market conditions in iron ore industry, gypsum
ore industry and mining service industry in Australia,
impairment indicators were identified for the Group's
material non-current assets.
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Accordingly, management performed the impairment
assessment based on the discounted cash flows expected
to be derived from cash-generating units (“CGU"). A
total impairment loss on non-current assets included in
assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale of
RMB17,781,000 was recognised during the year. The
assessment of recoverable amounts involved significant
estimation uncertainty, subjective assumptions and
application of significant judgement, in relation to
recoverable reserves, commodity prices, the discount rate,
budgeted gross margin and production volumes.
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The Group’s disclosures about impairment assessment for
these non-current assets are included in notes 10, 13, 1
and 16 to financial statements.
EEEBANZEFETHEERENREEHIN N FRERMN
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHARBAFEFEERMNEFA P MAEE

Our audit procedures included the following:

HANEAEFREUTEE:

We tested the impairment model selected for each
CGU and class of assets based on our understanding
of the methodology and checked its mathematical
accuracy;

BMERSFEZNER ARMEAREELBUK
SEEEBNNENREERL TIRETHTHE LN
E i

We compared key market-derived estimates, including
commodity prices and interest rates, against external
data. We evaluated the sensitivity analysis of key
assumptions and estimates underlying the calculations
prepared by management;
HEEDIBERNEREGS (BEEREERFIEX) -
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STEF B BA SR 14 R 5 A0 (i BT BURUIE DA

We compared key operational estimates in the models
to source data and publicly available information,
including the forward market price of iron ore and
gypsum and the growth rate of the gross domestic
product during last ten years in Australia;
AP EL AR B R B A AR B O RE 92 4k 5t B BUR SR e
T’AS%%?%E’J%TH BESBEAMATEATISER
REMNBETENBERNEELELEREX

We involved our valuation specialist to assist us in
evaluating the key valuation parameters such as the
discount rate calculation, the terminal growth rate
applied and the valuation model used; and
BRMBFEASTEER B RMALZEREREEES
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We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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MERTHZEXE  RETEEEREE M
7

. HA M EERRGFRERMER RS
HHEBRREEEARBERRILER &2
SHRMITEAS R UEHBLERRE MU
RERGEMBENERE FHXK
FIZRAVERE - B HGERIBE S e R aR
WE-BRER ERERIL FEERRA
BEEEL b RIERAEZIRAREME
BRHNEARERRAMH ARSI REER
HFERME R ERER AR

. THREESAAMAANEEE  URFE
EMNHEEF BENILFY S5H
NEEENAEMMERER -

. STEEEMRME S BERNEEMERIF
g s At AR R ER S E M -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
BB AR S

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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. HESRKMFTBECEGHERNBENT
TR &5 5 o IR IBPTE BRI B 51 &S » HEE
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. M BEEENBEENERTIOMBE
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2021

Independent Auditor’'s Report
B 2B ED R S

NAEAEREZEGBEBENFEET  HMAEEMRLE
FENAHGSMBRENEARAESZ K
MmiEMAREESFE - HAELBMREDHE
MBLEFE FIFERERTAFARAKES
LEE NEBBFERNBERT IRGERHR
ERMABESTEREFRENNEEERBE
EENRARH G HAPREFTEERSTES
ZFEE-

PEXRBIUZUMKRENETEEGBAER
B

L2k G st ENE B AR
BE TN
£
20215F3H26H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FMoEmkEMEENER

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F 128318 IEEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 AR¥Fx ARET T
(Re-presented)
(& E7)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEREETR
REVENUE KA 4,5 488,135 517,637
Cost of sales #HE B A (441,548) (477,107)
Gross profit EF 46,587 40,530
Other income HMA 5 3,864 409
Selling and distribution expenses HE R DIHEEX (4,572) (9,194)
Administrative expenses THEX (30,515) (22,034)
Other expenses Hhpsz (3,212) (417)
Reversal of impairment losses on FE S AR SR B S 18 2 [T
trade receivables, net B 7 1,479 8,844
Impairment losses on financial assets ST ATEA TRIE ~ HAFEU
included in prepayments, other MERAMEEN
receivables and other assets, net STHEEREBEFE 7 - (604)
Finance costs B 75 B 2 6 (5,598) (3,139)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM FEEEEBRAAE
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 7 8,033 14,395
Income tax credit/(expense) Friemike, ) 9 250 (6,091)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM FESEE£BENFE
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 8,283 8,304
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRIERERETR
Profit/(loss) for the year from ERIEKEERERN
discontinued operations B, (E518) 10 (32,675) 52,083
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FERFE (F518) (24,392) 60,387
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEmkEMEEE @R

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hihzmmks,~ (85518)
INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that ~ BIRF BB EHRDIES
may be reclassified to profit or loss in B EMEEmRE

subsequent periods: (B518) :
Exchange differences on translation of BMEBIEBELEN
foreign operations PE S =R

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ ERNE2EKE " (B5EB)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR “aza

Profit/(loss) attributable to: B (R BB
Owners of the Company KABEEA
Non-controlling interests JEVER R

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2ENE 7 (F518) 4858
attributable to: BB
Owners of the Company KABHEA A
Non-controlling interests RS

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE HERAAT L ERAE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BFEANSkRERH

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY: Z %I (&518) :

Basic and diluted EAR RS
— For profit/(loss) for the year —ERNFE, (B18)
— For profit from continuing — a4 A R e 3K

operations

Notes

By 5E

12

12

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AE®FT
(Re-presented)

(= =75)

(1,770) 743

(26,162) 61,130
(17,054) 69,199

(7.338) (8,812)

(24,392) 60,387
(18,489) 69,800

(7.673) (8,670)

(26,162) 61,130

RMBA K #(0.008)7¢ RMBA R #0.0317%
RMBA K #0.0047T RMBA E #0.0057T

2020 £ | FENKBEEBLERAE 105



-

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRRR

As at 31 December 2020
20205128318

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Other intangible asset

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Due from related parties

Pledged deposit

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale
Assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and other loans
Due to related parties

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Liabilities directly associated with
the assets classified as held for sale
Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

106 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2020 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes
s
ERHEE
YE B RRE 13
EREEE 16
BE&EE 14
HithE\FEEE 15
FETRUIE ~ H fih FE SRR IE Ky
HM&EE 17
FETRIBE & 18
ERHEELE
RENEE
=78 19
FE U BR R R ZE 3 20
FEATRRIE ~ Hoh FE UK R IE Ky
Ht&EE 17
[RE U R B 5 =B 21
EEBER 22
BERIBSEBEY 22
DEAFEHENEE 23
DEATIEHEN
HEENNEE 10
REEEHE
REEE
FETER TR 24
aHaE 25
H{th FES RIE M fE 5T R IE 26
FERTRAEMER 27
[E 1< BE B 5 I8 21
HEAaR 16
FET IR
BN EAREHENEE
EEERANaRE 10
REEEMEEE
REBEEFE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥TF T
155,431 190,849
6,909 3,178
735,603 736,666
= 137

966 1,125
14,824 12,783
913,733 944,738
5,814 29,418
181,760 202,544
4,693 8,615
8,929 22,096
328 -
32,645 26,689
234,169 289,362
= 35,832
77,730 -
311,899 325,194
30,493 68,463
2,277 5,820
63,254 88,390
84,735 99,247
3,868 40,638
3,945 1,254
11,266 9,435
199,838 313,247
84,990 -
284,828 313,247
27,071 11,947




TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to related parties

Lease liabilities

Provision for rehabilitation
Other payables

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Jiang Zhong Ping & F
Director #%

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI T

As at 31 December 2020
120205128315

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B =% AR¥FT AE®FT
BEEEERTHER
940,804 956,685
ERBEE
FE{T R B 75 7R 1B 21 7,680 -
HEaE 16 3,318 1,375
BIREE 28 13,654 12,847
HAuE (I w8 26 700 849
B EELREE 25,352 15,071
BEEFE 915,452 941,614
=
HEBRAAREE ANER
BETRA 29 197,889 197,889
#E 31 428,362 446,851
626,251 644,740
JESERE RE = 289,201 296,874
HER4EER 915,452 941,614

Hao Xiemin #B#i8x
Director BF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

malkEEER

Year ended 31 December 2020

HE2020512831HIEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
BRRELAEEA
Difference
arising from
Safety acquisition Retained
Share fund Share of non- Exchange profits/ Non-
Issued premium Statutory surplus— Contributed option controlling Capital fluctuation  (accumulated controlling Total
capital account Teserves reserve surplus reserve interests reserve reserve losses) Total interests equity
WEHER
5354 RiEE  EEELN ERin  2EHR/
BEARE  RAEEE  ERAAE BElE HARE [ ] £8 LN (1] (BHER) ER FERES RESE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABWTR  ARBTR  ABMTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR
note 30/
note 29 note 31(a) nate 31(b) note 31(d) note 31(¢) note 31(e) note 31(f)
i/
29 TE31) Hat310) Fiat3100) sl Hi31te) =it}
At 1 January 2019 WOW?EWHWE 197,889 1877488 0,176 176,827 87,38 40,144 (852,820) 186,200 695 (1,359,100) 574737 318,959 893,696
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16
%m 72 - - - - - - - - - 203 203 It 251
At 1 January 2019 (restated) 1201951718 (TE57) 197,889 1877488 20,176 176,827 81,38 40,144 (852,820) 186,200 695 (1,358,897) 574,940 319,007 893,947
Profitoss)for the year ERiIE/ (B8 - - - - - - - - - 69,199 69,199 (8812) 60,387
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ EREHM2ENE !
Exchange differences on translation of ARHBRRELNEREE
financial statements - - - - - - - - 601 - 601 14 4
Totel comprehensive incomel{oss) ERRENE/ (58) 88
for the year - - - - - - - - 601 69,199 69,800 (8670) 61,130
Utisation for safety fund surplus reserve: HER2ELTEHE - - - (5,790) - - - - - 5,790 - - -
Provision of safety fund surplus reserve RERZESTBER - - - 20,937 - - - - - (20937) - - -
Disposal of the discontinued operations HEBR HIEEE - - - - - (13.463) (13.463)
Transfer of share option reserve upon RRASRERRSS
the expiry of share options RihEESE - - - - - (15,575) - - - 15,575 - - -
At 31 Decerber 2019 0195128318 197,889 1.877488* 220,176* 191,974* 87,238% 24569¢ (852,820)* 186,200 129* (1,289,270 644,740 196,874 941,614
At 1 January 2020 #00E1818 197,889 1,877,488 00,176 191,974 87,238 24,569 (852,820) 186,200 1,29 (1,289,270) 644,740 296,874 941,614
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - - - (17,054) (17,054) (7,338) (2439)
Other comprehensive oss for the year; EREHEERS:
Exchange diferences on transltion of AEMBRRELNEDZE
financial statements - - - - - - - - (1,435) - (1,435) (335) (1,770)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERRAGREE - - - - - - - - (1,439 (17,054) (18,489) (1673) (26,162)
Utlisation for safety fund surplus resee HRZ2EE9EHE - - - (4,498) - - - - - 4,498 - - -
Provision of safety fund surplus resenve RUZ2ESTAERE - - 4m (8211 = =
Transfer of share option reserve upon RRASEERIERNEER
the expiy or forfeiture of share options Bk £ - - - - - (9,643) - - - 9,643 - - -
At 31 December 2020 1020£128318 197,889 1,877,488* 220,176* 191,747 87,38¢ 14,926* (852,820)* 186,200 (139) (1,296,454)* 626,251 289,201 915,452
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEHRBEROBEGAVMBZRRRANGERH

RMB428,362,000 (2019: RMB446,851,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax:
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Bank interest income
Gain on debt restructuring
Remission of general interest charge
Gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables, net
Impairment losses on financial assets
included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets
Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment
Impairment losses on intangible assets
Impairment losses on
other intangible asset
Impairment losses on
right-of-use assets
Impairment losses on assets
held for sale
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of other intangible asset

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REFHNRERE

MEIFE, (8518) :
REEEES
BRIEEEET

TN EBEFHBIRE
ME R A
RITH B ULA
BEBEAR T
—RF B HER
HENE -BERRE

BB W
HEF AT W

FEUR BR R (B RS 1R 1 ]
SRR
SEATRTRUR S HthAE UL
MERHEMEERN
TREERERE
ME BB R B
MERE
BICEERERE
Hitvmip EERERE

EREEERERE
REHEEERERIE
ME-BERREITE
ERREERE

B EERH
Hithim i & E#H

Notes

By 5E

10

7,10

10
10

10
10
10
13
16(a)

14
15

2020 8 | FENKEEHEERAET 109 <

mAHERER

Year ended 31 December 2020

HE2020FE 128310 IEEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AR¥ETF T
(Re-presented)

(& EF)

8,033 14,395
(32,675) 53,634
6,020 33,595
(33) (68)
- (18,521)
- (2,908)
(2,091) (2,087)
- (152,997)
(1,479) (5,636)
- 2,083
17,209 62,095
- 5,151

120 6,545
452 3,588
11,584 5,941
20,376 10,421
3,082 1,240
1,063 860
17 843
31,678 18,174
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EPAN P =]
s SREMR=E %E
Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

Decrease/(increase) in trade and
bills receivables
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Increase in contract assets
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets
Increase in amounts due from
related parties
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables
Decrease in lease liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in other payables
and accruals

Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from/(used in)
operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Increase in pledged bank balance
Proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment
Disposal of subsidiaries
Acquisition of an associate

Net cash flows from/(used in)
investing activities
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FE A R
Hb/ (8 00)
B/ ()

BHEENN

T ARIE ~ Bt EWGRIE R

Ht&ZEER LD,/ (G
& S R Bk 75 RRIR AL 0

FETBRRRIE I, GRLZL)

HE&S®RD

HA &S 7R IR e FE 5 7R 0R
@, CRb)

afmaEEm (el

REEE/ (A NVRE
BUH 2
BIFrER

REFEHELE, (ERA) M
Ren8FEA

REZPNRTAE

BEYME -BERRAE

BEETVEE

S HEMIRITAERRIEM
HEME-MERKHE
PRIS™IE
HEFRF
WE—EHEAT

REFDELE (ER) B
REMNBFER

Notes

My 5E

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T NG
(Re-presented)

(&=7)

21,467 (44,065)
10,900 (15,838)
(5,260) -
(1,209) 6,659
(3,989) (4,940)
(15,426) 32,910
= (1,717)

2,191 (4,323)
(3,543) 9
36,809 (13,131)
33 68
= (993)
36,842 (14,056)
(15,199) (47,053)
(75) (13,095)
(328) -
7,376 2,540

= 84,945
= (133)
(8,226) 27,204




CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bank and other loans

Repayment of bank and other loans

Principal portion of lease payments

Interest portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Increase/(decrease) in an amount
due to a related party

Net cash flows used in
financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances
Less: Pledged deposits for insurance of
bills payable and other payables

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the statement of financial position

Cash and cash equivalents attributable to (REBNR ER LA EIEHN

discontinued operations

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the R EIRENBERIEMN

consolidated statements of cash flows

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

11\7[_ = Iﬁﬁ\ﬁgﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
b AR¥FT AE®FT
(Re-presented)
(#&&E75)
MEEHNRERE
RITREMERPTSRIE 7,507 84,026
BEBRTREMER (4,333) (91,477)
HERLASEHD (2,522) (1,585)
HERFEED (353) (132)
EN%IJ 2 (4,864) (13,272)
FE — 2 BE B 5 = IEsg i,
GRLZ) (127) 6,205
METEBERANRS
e (4,692) (16,235)
HERREEEWEM
(GR2L) 3%8 23,924 (3,087)
FEVNRERIBREEEY
26,689 33,771
EXREHN T EFEE
(3,440) (3,995)
FHRNRERREEEY
47,173 26,689
RERREEBMEGRSN
& R IRITH R 22 32,973 26,689
B RN ER R EMES
TIERBEERN
PEE N 22 (328) -
Rz & B R RS R
HeERRSEEY 32,645 26,689
BERIRSEEY 10 14,528 -
BERIRSEEBEY 47,173 26,689

2020 £ | PENKEBIEEZERAT

111 <



-

Notes to the Financial Statements

FA TS R R B 5E

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F 128318 IEEE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008
under the Companies Law. The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at 31/F,
Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group were
principally engaged in the following principal activities:

° mining and ore processing

o sale of self-produced products

o trading of steels

° management of strategic investments

° rendering of specialised mining services

In the opinion of the Directors, Trisonic International, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong, is the parent and the ultimate
holding company of the Company.

REVREEER
RAFN2008F4H28HTHEFEIR
BRBNEAEMM LA —BEREERA
B] o A~ B AV 5E 1 3% 35 BE Mk A Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands e R AR NE B F EE E BT
TR 7 4R 8 ) it B 1 SR E S 2
31180

REE2020F12831BEEER » &
EFEREUTEEER

. PREE R RO T

. HEBREEmR

. HEEE

. REEMKREEE

. RHFERRRE

EERA ARIBER (—BREBEMRK

THAT) BEATNSATRBKEE
RAT
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries are as follows:

Company name

NCIE=E

Directly held:

BERFE

Powerside Holdings Limited
BAERBRAE

First China Limited
=RARRAT

Sure Prime Limited

Sure Prime Limited

Mancala Holdings®©

T =i

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.
Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.
Indirectly held:

BIEIE

Simply Rise Holdings Limited

ZRERABRAT

Sichuan Lingyu®

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
sEfRARIL,

S R 2 s BE

BVI
HBEREUHE
Hong Kong
N

BVI
RERYES
Cayman Islands
RERE
Singapore

N

Hong Kong
a5H

PRC

HE

Notes to the Financial Statements

1.

Issued share/
registered
share capital
BRITRMG,
ERLEN

usD1
17T
HKD2
28T
usD1
17T
HKD1
1870
SGD10,000

10,000%7 M3 7T

HKD1
1787

HKD770,000,000

770,000,000 75
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B 75 R R Y 5E

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

Percentage

of equity
interests
attributable to
the Company
BBRAATN
RAEEZHOL
%

100

100

100

81

100

100

100

PEREBEN @

AFWER
S&FATMHEMT :

Principal
activities

FTEEH

Investment
holding
BEER

Investment
holding
KREER

Investment
holding
BEER

Investment
holding
BEER

Investment
holding
KREER

Investment
holding
KREER

Product trading
and investment
holding
EmEBZ K
CEER
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R R Y 5E

Year ended 31 December 2020

HE2020F12831HIEFEE
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)

114

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

NETE

Aba Mining®

(b=t

Akuang Trading®

i B 5©

Sichuan Xinglian

a1 £ A

Sichuan Haoyuan®

m)iEEe

Xinjin Mining®

ELHEEY

MHPLO

£ FHERC
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Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
sEf AR

S R 2R 3 B

PRC

HRE

PRC

FHE]

PRC

aalEd

PRC

HRE

PRC

HRE

Australia

REREBRENR @

ERFARNER @

Issued share/
registered
share capital
BRITRKB
ERE

RMB20,000,000

AEE1%20,000,00075

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,00075

RMB1,000,000

AR1,000,0007C

RMB20,000,000

AEE20,000,00075

RMB1,150,000

AR #1,150,0007T

AUD298,817

298,817:8 7T

Percentage
of equity
interests

attributable to
the Company
BEREATN
RAEEZEIL
%

100

100

100

51

51

81

Principal
activities

TEEH

Iron ore mining,
iron ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
s A R
HE A RER
HEBEEM

Iron ore
beneficiation
and sale of iron
concentrates
BEAEER
THE BETE

Mining and
construction
consulting

R & Ti2555

Gypsum ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AEBEALER
HEBEEM

Gypsum ore
mining, gypsum
ore beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AEEARAE
AEBEARKER
HEBEEM

Contract mining
and specialised
mining services

BRI PRBE
HERRRT



1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

@ Sichuan Lingyu is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned
enterprise under PRC law.

® These subsidiaries are registered as domestic enterprises under
PRC law.
© Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or other member firm

of the Ernst & Young global network.

@ The Company entered into a memorandum of understanding
with a potential purchaser on 31 December 2020 in respect of
the disposal of Mancala Group. Refer to note 10 to the financial
statements for further details.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Year ended 31 December 2020
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2.1

116

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRSs"),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the "IASB"),
and International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair
value. Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale and
assets classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 10 and note 23. These financial statements
are presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2020. A subsidiary is an entity, directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(0) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investments retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the following revised IFRSs for the first time
for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
(early adopted)
Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material
and IAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised IFRSs are described
below:

(a) Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive
set of concepts for financial reporting and standard
setting, and provides guidance for preparers of financial
statements in developing consistent accounting policies
and assistance to all parties to understand and interpret
the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes
new chapters on measurement and reporting financial
performance, new guidance on the derecognition
of assets and liabilities, and updated definitions
and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It
also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence and
measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The
Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of
the concepts contained therein override the concepts
or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual
Framework did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The
amendments clarify that for an integrated set of activities
and assets to be considered a business, it must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of
the inputs and processes needed to create outputs.
The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business
and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is
on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The amendments have also
narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income
or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional
fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to transactions or other
events that occurred on or after 1 January 2020. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

120

(@]

(d)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period
before the replacement of an existing interest rate
benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR").
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable
hedge accounting to continue during the period of
uncertainty before the introduction of the alternative
RFR. In addition, the amendments require companies to
provide additional information to investors about their
hedging relationships which are directly affected by these
uncertainties. The amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position and performance of the Group
as the Group does not have any interest rate hedging
relationships.

Amendment to IFRS 16 provides a practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. The practical
expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the pandemic and only
if (i) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in
lease payments affects only payments originally due on
or before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive
change to other terms and conditions of the lease. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 June 2020 with earlier application permitted
and shall be applied retrospectively.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain
monthly lease payments for the leases of the Group's
plant and machinery have been reduced or waived by the
lessors upon reducing the scale of production as a result
of the pandemic and there are no other changes to the
terms of the leases. The Group has early adopted the
amendment on 1 January 2020 and elected not to apply
lease modification accounting for all rent concessions
granted by the lessors as a result of the pandemic
during the year ended 31 December 2020. Accordingly,
a reduction in the lease payments arising from the rent
concessions of RMB254,000 has been accounted for as a
variable lease payment by derecognising part of the lease
liabilities and the corresponding right-of-use assets for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on
the nature or magnitude of information, or both. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.
Amendments to IFRS 3
Amendments to IFRS 9,

IAS 39, IFRS 7,
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 8

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 27

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®
Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Insurance Contracts’®

Insurance Contracts’ °

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?
Amendments to IFRS 1,
IFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16,
and IAS 41°

2.3

B N8 1B 5] 5K 2 30 B9 B R

Rt 58k 5 2 Al

AEBURN AP HFREPRATIE
08B (B 18 AR A R B 5T R AR AE ST B PR B

B EER -

B R 5
IR L
BB 5 8 5 2 )

9‘:7Jf' . TED+EE|J

53957  FPR RS 75
WEERBTHR
B PR BT 75 3R 5 22 A
BAT R BIPR B 5
REEAH165R
(EHIE:N

= ﬁﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁiﬁﬁ'

FBIOFRELEE

R E285 BT A

BIRR &t 2R 158
(EHIE:N

BlR & 2ERE 15
(EHIEN

EIPR & 52 585
BT

BRI BIRE
E175%

BlPRE 53R S 2R

FI7REFT A

B9 S =]l

FI65RET A

8

5T 2 st 2R
EEYE A CHPN
R R R
2018F E20204F
HIEE 8

122 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2020 ANNUAL REPORT

BRI B e U

FIFBENE-F
BE

REEZHRBELE]
) SI%‘ZEﬁ
BELE L&

BHEARE

BEESEE 7B
FETTEP
B E S

/'?/] = /H

REEA

NE-BERZE
/”Eféf%fﬁﬁifﬁyﬂﬁ
Fr 127 B

EEEH —/% =1
B9 72

B PR B S R 5 22 B
F19% BRI
REERFIT
BIPRR SRS %
81 55 165RBERT A
=60 B & 1 K B PR
S ERHA5R
BT A2



2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

> As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June

2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities
that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer to IAS 37
or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3

124

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments
which affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The Phase
2 amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the
effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the
carrying amount when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest
rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the interest rate
benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations and
hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being
discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on transition
are dealt with through the normal requirements of IFRS 9 to
measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having to
meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is
designated as a risk component. The relief allows an entity,
upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the separately
identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component to become separately
identifiable within the next 24 months. Furthermore, the
amendments require an entity to disclose additional information
to enable users of financial statements to understand the effect
of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial
instruments and risk management strategy. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are not
required to restate the comparative information.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank loans denominated
in RMB based on the China Loan Prime Rate as at 31 December
2020. If the interest rates of these borrowings are replaced
by RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply this practical
expedient upon the modification of these borrowings when
the “economically equivalent” criterion is met and expects that
no significant modification gain or loss will arise as a result of
applying the amendments to these changes.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS
10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and
a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3

B 75 R R Y 5E

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

B N8 1B i8] 5k £ 2BV B PR
IR EER @)
FR2020F12B31H  KEEFEERH
HERTEREMNEUARBFEZS
FTHERTER - MZEEBEZMER
RARBARERRBHEEMA B NERH
BRFe & EEEmER EERERE
FEERKBZATHEE S A LB
TERAMEMEHNERZESBIIAME
HEEREIET ©

Bl R B 5 4k B ZE R S 1 05 Ko B PR & 5t 28
B 52858 B 5] A R IR B PR F5 iR 5 22 8
FI0ERERBERE 5T 2R F 285 R
EZzBREREEHEARMENTHGE
TEZBHENEAEERNT—HIE
MR SEIAEREREELAHERE
AEREGECEZBARETEIAEER
—IREGRER MR aDNEE 2
RS RTBREZNEER > X5
EENWEFGEERREENIEEARE
BoWATHBREENZBERD N
BELEPHNEDEAR ZFET R
AEMEAERA -BRGENEES
BER2015F 128 BIRERM B RS ER]
B0 B R & 5t 2R B 28R IE ST &Y
JRA s HI £ B HE > s 50 5 Al Bk
RERBGELEEHFETEREZNG
STREENRRGIEN B 22 2%
E5T 25 35 B BT R4

2020 8 | FENKEEHEERAT 125 <



-

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

2.3

126

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify
that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented
in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include both
the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and

an allocation

equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded
unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments
to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16,
and IAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of
a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements
in lIllustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying IFRS 16.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

130

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-current
assets classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use (“VIU") and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the

other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and in accordance with IFRS 5, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets held for sale”. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4

134

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment, other
than mining infrastructure, is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as

follows:

Buildings 5-20 years
Plant and machinery 2-20 years
Office equipment 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 2-6 years

Depreciation of mining infrastructure is calculated using the
units-of-production (“UOP”) method to depreciate the cost of
the assets in proportion to the extraction of the proved and
probable mineral reserves. The remaining estimated useful life
of the mining infrastructure at the end of the reporting period
ranging with 14 years are determined in accordance with the
production plans of the entities concerned and the proved and
probable reserves of mines using the UOP method.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Construction in progress represents items of property, plant
and equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowing funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

136

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Brand name

Brand name is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 10 years.

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Mining rights include the cost
of acquiring mining licences, exploration and evaluation
costs transferred from exploration rights and assets upon
determination that an exploration property is capable of
commercial production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the
mining reserves of existing mining properties. The mining rights
are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in
accordance with the production plans of the entities concerned
and the proved and probable reserves of the mines using the
UOP method. Mining rights are written off to profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses, and exploration assets
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. Exploration rights
and assets include the cost of acquiring exploration rights,
topographical and geological surveys, exploratory drilling,
sampling and trenching and activities in relation to commercial
and technical feasibility studies, and deferred amortisation and
depreciation charges in respect of assets consumed during the
exploration activities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

Exploration rights are amortised over the term of rights.
Equipment used in exploration is depreciated over its useful life,
or, if dedicated to a particular exploration project, over the life
of the project on the straight-line basis, whichever is shorter.
Amortisation and depreciation are included, in the first instance,
in exploration rights and assets and are transferred to mining
rights when it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production.

Exploration and evaluation costs include expenditure incurred
to secure further mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as
in new areas of interest. Expenditure incurred prior to acquiring
legal rights to explore an area is written off as incurred.

Exploration rights and assets shall be assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may exceed its recoverable amount. An impairment test is
performed if any of the following indicators are present:

(a) the period for which the entity has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

(b) substantial expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

(o) exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the entity has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

(d) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

138

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
exploration rights and assets’ carrying amount exceeds their
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the exploration rights and assets’ fair value less costs of disposal
and their VIU. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the
exploration rights and assets subject to testing are grouped
with existing cash-generating units of production fields that are
located in the same geographical region.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are transferred to either mining
infrastructure or mining rights and depreciated/amortised using
the UOP method based on the proved and probable mineral
reserves. Exploration rights and assets are written off to profit or
loss if the exploration property is abandoned.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 1 to 3 years
Plant and machinery 3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

140

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its IBR at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change
to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through

Financial assets are classified,
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FREHSME ®

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primary
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
J the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through”
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks

arrangement; and

and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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2.4

144

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

146

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing
bank and other loans.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings and
payables is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

148

POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable
overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation incurred
in converting materials into finished goods, based on the
normal production capacity. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in statement of profit or loss.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Provisions for the Group's obligations for rehabilitation are
based on estimates of required expenditure at the mines in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the PRC. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the
ground environment is disturbed at the production location.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final rehabilitation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform the
required work. Spending estimates are escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. When the liability is initially recognised, the
present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing
the carrying amount of the related mining infrastructure.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in
the present value based on the appropriate discount rate. The
periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised within finance
costs in profit or loss. The asset is depreciated using the UOP
method over its expected life and the liability is accreted to the
projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or changes
in estimates (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated
costs, or changes in timing of the performance of reclamation
activities) will be recognised as additions or charges to the
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liabilities when they
occur at the appropriate discount rate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.4
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Rendering of services

Revenue from the rendering of specialised mining services and
consultancy management service is recognised by the Group
when the service has been provided.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).
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154

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in note 11 to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the subsidiaries in PRC are required to
participate in a defined central pension scheme managed by
the local municipal government of the areas in PRC in which
they operate. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of the relevant part of the payroll of these
employees to the central pension scheme. The Group has no
obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond the
annual contributions. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

In addition to the above, the Group also participates in a
defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the MPF Scheme for
its employee in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

The subsidiary that incorporated and operated in Singapore is
obligated to contribute to an independently administered fund
(such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore, a government
managed defined contribution retirement benefit plan).

24 FEZHHEHNE @

LA {5 25 B BRI (3 7R (4

R BEEEBRECE > M EWREHN
BUSEREHERE 1B FEE
B B B S2AE AT i AR BE SRR S o IL BLHR
REEZEMAEENEEZFEEANIFR
B 1R BYE I B2 R - 221 > {8 B A7 SR B X
REBUHNRR TR BEEERIEER
A2 ED > B B BEUM BY SR KT 22 Bh i
WRBIRBAER PR A R ENRIEET

BMARTERAENBEEZECRMNGE
SkEN RN ET -

Hithfg S &7

BEE
RPENFRARANEERTSHBZSTF
A B) A E P 7E B3 (& B 3 75 T B AR
EMNERPRENREFE -ZEFRF
ERZSEEHFZRMBONETED
EEHMTFZPRBASEE - REE L
BEEBZNBHFEHRRUIYRAE
F o ZFH-MPN EIL R R RENEE
A AR FE AT R R IR BR o

frLitEN AERTHEEEBREES
BISTE HREFERAES RINEBHFE
(MafEE5t8))) W TARBEERSE - #
TR BEEERA AN EEER
HENETENLAE TRENMES
Baflff-AREAMNEERLERE
EBUFA H—EBIEEEEFA-

=

PO IR EE MR L R ENF AT A&
BrBIEEES (WHMMNKEFRAE
T —EHA BN EENEE H TR AR E
F5t8)) ke

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Pension schemes (Continued)

The subsidiary that incorporated and operated in Australia
pays fixed contributions in relation to several state plans and
insurances for individual employees on a mandatory and
contractual basis.

Save as disclosed, the Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay contributions in addition to its fixed
contributions, which are recognised as an expense in the period
that related employee services are received.

Housing fund

Contributions to a defined contribution housing fund
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre in PRC are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
functional currency of the Company. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

158

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING, JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

Revenue recognition

The Group applies judgements in determining whether it is
principally involved in the trading of coals and steels. The Group
concludes that it acts as a principal and recognises revenue in
the gross amount as the Group has the ability to direct the use
of coals and steels and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits from coals and steel before transferring to the
customers and has discretion in establishing the price for coals
and steels.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are described below:

(a)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

PRC corporate income tax (“PRC CIT")

The Group's operating subsidiaries in PRC are subject
to PRC CIT. As a result of the fact that certain matters
relating to PRC CIT have not been confirmed by the
relevant local tax authorities, objective estimates based
on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other
related policies are required in determining the provision
for PRC CIT to be made. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts originally
recorded, the differences will impact the income tax
expense and tax provision in the period in which the
differences realise. The carrying amount of PRC CIT
payable as at 31 December 2020 was RMB11,266,000
(2019: RMB9,435,000).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimates useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its items of property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and actions of its competitors. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it will record an impairment
provision for technically obsolete assets that have
been abandoned. The carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment as at 31 December 2020 was
RMB155,431,000 (2019: RMB190,849,000). Further
details are given in note 13 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Mine reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are
inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the significant judgements involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that
have to be met before estimated mine reserves can be
designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and
probable mine reserve estimates are updated at regular
intervals taking into account recent production and
technical information about each mine. In addition,
as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the
estimate of proved and probable mine reserves also
changes. This change is considered a change in estimates
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective
basis in both depreciation and amortisation rates
calculated on the UOP method and the time period for
discounting the rehabilitation provision. Changes in the
estimate of mine reserves are also taken into account in
impairment assessments of non-current assets.

Exploration rights and assets

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for
exploration right and assets requires estimation in
determining whether it is likely that future economic
benefits will result either from future exploitation or
sale or whether activities have not reached a stage
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence
of reserves. The determination of mine reserves is
itself an estimation process with varying degrees of
uncertainty depending on sub-classification. Estimates
and assumptions made may change if new information
becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised,
information becomes available suggesting that the
recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount
capitalised is written off in profit or loss in the period
when the new information becomes available. The
carrying amount of exploration rights and assets as
at 31 December 2020 was RMB65,991,000 (2019:
RMB65,991,000). Further details are given in note 14 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
cost to be incurred to completion and disposal. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of a
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result
of changes in downstream industries that consume
the Group’s products. Management reassesses these
estimates at the end of each reporting period. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2020
was RMB5,814,000 (2019: RMB29,418,000). Further
details are given in note 19 to the financial statements.

Provision for rehabilitation

Provision for rehabilitation is based on estimates
of future expenditures incurred by management to
undertake rehabilitation and restoration work which
were discounted at a rate of 6.27% as at 31 December
2020 (2019: 6.27%) reflecting the term and nature
of the obligations to their present values. Significant
estimates and assumptions are made in determining
the provision for rehabilitation as there are numerous
factors that will affect the ultimate liability payable.
These factors include estimates of the extent and costs
of rehabilitation activities, technological changes,
regulatory changes, cost increases and changes in the
discount rate. Those uncertainties may result in future
actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently
provided. The provision at the end of the reporting
period represents management’s best estimate of the
present value of the future rehabilitation costs required.
Changes to estimated future costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position by adjusting
the rehabilitation asset and liability. The carrying amount
of provision for rehabilitation as at 31 December
2020 was RMB13,654,000 (2019: RMB12,847,000).
Further details are contained in note 28 to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(h)

0}

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the tax losses can be utilised. Estimates
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash
flows from operations and the application of existing
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future
cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from
estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the deferred
tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period
could be impacted. The gross amount of deferred
tax assets recognised as at 31 December 2020 was
RMB14,824,000 (2019: RMB12,783,000). The amounts
of unrecognised tax losses and unrecognised deductible
temporary differences as at 31 December 2020 were
RMB1,051,268,000 (2019: RMB1,081,481,000) and
RMB119,234,000 (2019: RMB120,883,000), respectively.
Further details are contained in note 18 to the financial
statements.

Additionally, future changes in tax laws and regulations
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could
limit the ability of the Group to obtain tax deductions on
taxable income in future periods.

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

The Group’s exchangeable notes are designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss
and re-measured to fair value through profit or loss
in subsequent reporting periods. The fair value of the
exchangeable notes was estimated by management and
the estimation included some assumptions not supported
by observable market prices or rates and hence they
are subject to uncertainty. Favourable or unfavourable
changes to these assumptions would result in significant
changes in the fair value of the exchangeable notes and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain
or loss reported in profit or loss. The fair value of the
exchangeable notes at 31 December 2020 was nil (2019:
Nil).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

17

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Definite life non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Based on the
existing market conditions, impairment indicators were
identified for the Group’s main mining cash-generating
units, other pre-development stage mining rights, and
exploration rights and assets. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its VIU. The calculation
of the fair value less costs to sell is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
VIU calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The accumulated impairment amounts
for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and other intangible asset at 31 December 2020 were
RMB7,485,000 (2019: RMB8,527,000), RMB113,722,000
(2019: RMB113,722,000) and nil (2019: RMB6,545,000),
respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(k)

Leases - Estimating the IBR

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an IBR to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and products and has three (2019:
four) reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the high-Fe mining operation segment comprises the
operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 65% TFe to 72%
TFe and the provision of consultancy and management
services;

(b) the trading segment comprises the operation of sale of
traded products;

(0) the corporate and others segment covers the non-
operating activities supporting the Group which includes
the central functions such as the functional costs that
have not been allocated to the other segments.

The Directors monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax
from continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax
is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before
tax except that other income, other expenses, non-lease-
related finance costs and fair value losses on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits
and cash and cash equivalents as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and tax payable as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.
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TFeEENF65%E72%MNHEE
0 o 17 8 45 1% 25 75 DA R 3 L R 1
REERY ;

BENMOEHEEZEMRE

)

(b)

§

(0 ©EREMOBREZERSTER
IR SRS BE P REAE (W0
KA DEEH At BRI DI AEME Y
7) o

EE O RERAERRSKEEDMHE
& LB RD R RIR T EELRRER
DERREN DT 2| EFE B8
i MAI 2D EFMEBIEDEER
BREXEBMERBERAIAEEEY
B[R FTERZI R E U A ~ E
X IFEEMERMY B A kAT E
EMEZHFABRaNEMEENQT
BEEBN KBERAFEAENE
ErRBEAEERAFIEFHENGE
HH—He

HRNELEREEE EBENRERUKLIER
TRREEEVREREEETE 8D
BEEFBEZFEE

B s BRITRAMMEEURELRR
DEREBEEEE WHMBETEE
ZEakeo
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R ZR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2020

HE2020F12831HLEEE
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, KLEHEER @
(Continued)
Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference DEEHEEREBELSREERBETH
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the BEE=AEHEEFMANEEBRS
then prevailing market prices.
Year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ2020F 128318 LEE
High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
5 8 L
i E S BE 2R HAh =
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARET T ARETT

Segment revenue SEBURA
Sales to external customers MR FEHM
HE 87,079 401,056 - 488,135

Revenue from continuing HEREEBIA

operations 488,135
Segment results DEPELE 17,454 8,750 (13,555) 12,649
Reconciliation: AR
Other income HAhg A 3,864
Other expense Hhpasz (3,212)
Finance costs (other than MBmA (FBEHEE

interest on lease liabilities) BEMNFE) (5,268)
Profit before tax from HEREEBRRA

continuing operations F)H 8,033
Segment assets DEEE 342,802 169,684 723,016 1,235,502
Reconciliation: E
Elimination of intersegment K 85 93 20 5] FE U Fh 18

receivables (135,397)
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEE & 14,824
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRREEEY 32,645
Pledged deposit BEEHER 328
Assets related to discontinued HRABER IFLE R

operations & E 77,730
Total assets BEEME 1,225,632
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

4.

168

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020 (Continued)

4, REQEER @

HZF20205F12831ALLEE (&)

Corporate
and others

R EA
RMB’000
ARB T

59,875

753
2,206

Total

P
=N

RMB’000
ARB T

264,586

(135,397)

84,735
11,266

84,990

310,180

(1,479)
13,310
14,700

High-Fe
mining
operation Trading
= 8 (U
HUEER BE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AR%TT
Segment liabilities nHa’ 61,550 143,161
Reconciliation: HER
Elimination of intersegment I EH D 26 R FE (T FR 1B
payables
Interest-bearing bank and FFEIRITREMER
other loans
Tax payable FET R TR
Liabilities related to BRERIEREER
discontinued operations :p=RE
Total liabilities BB
Other segment information  Efth3E&E &
Provision for/(reversal of) FEW AR FURE RS 18
impairment losses on trade B/ (B0 P8
receivables, net (note 7) (FF5E7) 170 (1,649)
Depreciation and amortisation 78 K& # §4 12,557 -
Capital expenditure* (note 13) BRI * (f15E13) 12,494 =
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and *

equipment.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019

(Re-presented)

Segment revenue
Sales to external customers

Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment sales

Revenue from continuing
operations

Segment results
Reconciliation:
Other income
Other expense
Finance costs

Profit before tax from
continuing operations

Segment assets
Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment receivables
Deferred tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets related to discontinued
operations

Total assets

S EBA

M IR B A B9
HE
DEREHEE

AR -
D BMEEE

FREEEEBIRA

DEBEE
E 00

HAUA
HhFs2
LR %S

FEEEEBNA
AR

DEEE
HER -
EEH 9 B 8 AR WK IE

BEIEIRIAE &
REKRREEEY
ERERILEEER
WEE

BEME

L

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R Z< Bt 5%

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

4, REQEHEFE @

HE2019F12B31BIEEE

(REF)
High-Fe

mining Corporate

operation Trading and others Total
= 85 mm i

PRUEETS BE EERHA a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
82,493 435,144 - 517,637
4,733 - - 4,733
87,226 435,144 - 522,370
(4,733)
517,637
15,671 13,841 (11,970) 17,542
409
(417)
(3,139)
14,395
343,741 190,672 4,598,439 5,132,852
(4,027,826)
12,783
26,689
125,434
1,269,932
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

REDHEN @

BZE2019F 128318 LEE (8B)

(#&E5)
Corporate
Trading and others
BE ¥R HAM
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AREFT
191,654 3,676,140
(8,850) -
- 606
- 579
- 5,688

Total

a5t
RMB'000
AREF T

4,116,745

(4,004,144)

99,247
9,435

107,035

328,318

(8,844)

604
8,068
38,214

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2019 (Continued)
(Re-presented)
High-Fe
mining
operation
[SELRE
RUBZETS
RMB’000
ARTT
Segment liabilities SEEE 248,951
Reconciliation: AR
Elimination of K34 50 BB 6 FE (T 7R 18

intersegment payables
Interest-bearing bank and FRIBITREMER

other loans
Tax payable FE(TTRR
Liabilities related to BRBKRIELCEES

discontinued operations Na’&

Total liabilities BEEEE
Other segment information H M3 EpE K
Provision for/(reversal of) FEW R FUR B S 18

impairment losses on trade BifE/ (B0l F8

receivables, net (note 7) (B 5E7) 6
Provision for/(reversal of) FFATERRIE

impairment losses on H M WGRIE &

financial assets included Hh&EEN &R

in prepayments, other EERERBBEE

receivables and other assets (BE) (M5E7)

(note 7) (2)
Depreciation and amortisation 78 K& # 84 7,489
Capital expenditure* e 32,526
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment.

* BXARAXBEREME BERR

o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R ZR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REJEHEN @
(Continued)

Entity-wide disclosures BERERERE
Geographical information I E

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) HE I EEF HTA

TREERNFEBRBIDE
FURABI#IE R - TR BIPRTE
WBEREREEXNEmEE

The following table sets out information about the
geographical locations of the Group’s revenue from
external customers during the year. The geographical

locations of customers are determined based on the AR TS Bt BLEE IE ©
locations designated by the customers at which the
goods were delivered or services were rendered.
2020 2019
2020% 20195
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREFTT
Domestic — PRC A —HE 488,135 517,637
488,135 517,637
(b) Non-current assets (b) IETENE E
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®BFT
PRC FRE 897,183 887,844
Australia BN - 41,984
Singapore Hrhnig 587 394
Hong Kong &% 173 608
897,943 930,830
The non-current asset information of continuing TMSFECSEEBNIERSEE

EHNEENREMSER B
T EERMNRIE S HthEWRIE
REAMEENRIEIERBE E

operations above is based on the locations of the assets
and excludes prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and deferred tax assets.
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

172

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

(Continued)

Entity-wide disclosures (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from each of the major customers, which amounted to
10% or more of the total revenue, is set out below:

REDHEN @

EREERE @

EEEFEN

REERBEAI0%RU ENETEER
B A BREINT :

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFTT
Customer A EEH 400,777 435,144
Customer B 2R 72,907 62,719
Customer C AR 8,490 8,072
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5. WAKREMUA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADFWMT :
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR®T T ARETFT
Revenue from contracts &5 SAIWA
with customers
Sale of industrial HETEER:
products:
High-grade iron = MR
concentrates 78,966 16.2 79,112 15.3
Coals j -8 - - 6,347 1.2
Steels iz 401,056 82.2 428,797 82.8
Rendering of consultancy #2fHEE R K EERTS
and management
services 8,113 1.6 3,381 0.7
488,135 100.0 517,637 100.0
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5.

Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Segments

Types of goods or
services

High-grade iron
concentrates

Trading of steels

Rendering of
consultancy and
management
services

Geographical
markets
PRC

Time of revenue
recognition

Goods transferred at
a point in time

Services transferred
over time

P

SmEREER
= w5

il 8 5
e AR R B IR RS

g 5 35

P

LN S
RE—FERAEEN

1 O
=Raa}

W B el e B B IR 75

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R ZR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

5. WAREMBKA @

ERSHWA
(a) EB#FfFFHUAEH
#E2020F12H31HLLEE
High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
= 8 111
2 E BE ¥R EAM =k
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBTT ARBT T
78,966 - - 78,966
- 401,056 - 401,056
8,113 = = 8,113
87,079 401,056 - 488,135
87,079 401,056 - 488,135
87,079 401,056 - 488,135
78,966 401,056 - 480,022
8,113 - = 8,113
87,079 401,056 - 488,135
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HZE2020F12831HIEEE

174

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(a)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Segments

Type of goods or
services

High-grade iron
concentrates

Trading of coals

Trading of steels

Rendering of
consultancy and
management
services

Geographical
markets
PRC

Time of revenue
recognition

Goods transferred at
a point in time

Services transferred
over time

PaN:

B RFBEG

= m L E B

=
St

RE5
REEM K EERS

i 5
]

WS A T 2 B
NE R EEN

4 O
Haon

8 B R e S B AR 75

WA BREMUEA @

ERAHNBA @)

(a) EHFZUAEH (H)

HE2019F128318BIELFE
High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
= 8 (I
TRIEET BE BE R HAM a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR FT AREFTT AR®FT AR#EFT
79,112 - - 79,112
- 6,347 - 6,347
- 428,797 - 428,797
3,381 - - 3,381
82,493 435,144 - 517,637
82,493 435,144 - 517,637
82,493 435,144 - 517,637
79,112 435,144 - 514,256
3,381 - - 3,381
82,493 435,144 - 517,637
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REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R ZR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

5. WAREMEA @

EREHNEA @

(a) EHFZUAEH (F)
TXH#HINZEREHWALDEE

contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in BIRRENSBEINEER
segment information:
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F12831HILLEE
There were no intersegment sales for the year ended 31 BE2020F12A31HIEFENM &
December 2020. EADEBEHE ©
High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
= 88 dm 1L
Segments 7 BRUEETS BE R HAh =1
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBETT
Revenue from EBEEHWA
contracts with
customers
External customers INERE P 87,079 401,056 = 488,135
Intersegment sales DEEHE - - - -
87,079 401,056 - 488,135
Intersegment 7 BB R IEEH
adjustments and
eliminations - - - -
Total revenue from BEBHWALLEE
contracts with
customers 87,079 401,056 - 488,135
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HZE2020F12831HIEEE

176

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued) 5.

WA BREMUEA @

Revenue from contracts with customers BERSHWA @)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) EHRFUAEH ()
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZE2019E12831HIEEE
High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
= 8 G i
Segments DB RIEET = EREM ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARFT ANREFT AR®FT AREFT
Revenue from EREHRA
contracts with
customers
External customers SN P 82,493 435,144 - 517,637
Intersegment sales DEEHE 4,733 - - 4,733
87,226 435,144 - 522,370
Intersegment 53 B 5 5 HE e 8
adjustments and
eliminations (4,733) - - (4,733)
Total revenue from ERAHWMALREE
contracts with
customers 82,493 435,144 - 517,637
(b)  Performance obligations (b)) EBHEF

Information about the Group's performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the industrial products and payment is generally due
within 120 days from delivery.

Consultancy and management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Consultancy and management
service contracts are for periods of one year or more, and
are billed based on the time incurred.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the amount of
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) which are
expected to be recognised as revenue within one year
relate to sale of industrial products.
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REVENUE AND OTHER IN

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

An analysis of other income from continuing operations is as

follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R Z< Bt 5%

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

WAREMEA @
BEREHRA @)

COME (continued) 5.

RREEEBHEMBRADROT

2020 2019
20205 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
F ARETF T AR®ETF T
Other income HiA

Bank interest income RITHA BUA 8 19
Government grants BT # B (a) 967 26
Sale of raw materials FEAiEL 8 & 2,002 -
Miscellaneous HAth 887 364
Total other income HMg A 4858 3,864 409

Note: BsE -
(a) There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to (a) BB B 2 S MBI R AR B ZIE

these grants.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as

follows:

Interest on bank and other loans

Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(c))

Unwinding of discount on provision
(note 28)

jELEE R

6. MEBAZ
SECEEBUBRARIFNT ;

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥EFT AR®FT

BT REMEHRNFAE 4,461 3,464

HEaENHE (FsE16(0) 330 33
BeEBRIRE B O] (MF5E28)

807 (358)

5,598 3,139
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

178

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS

The Group’s profit before tax from continuing operations was

arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold

Employee benefit expenses
(including Directors” and
chief executive's remuneration
(note 8)):
Wages and salaries
Welfare and other benefits
Pension scheme contributions
— Defined contribution fund
Housing fund
— Defined contribution fund

Total employee benefit expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation and amortisation expenses

Impairment losses recognised on:
Impairment losses on financial assets
included in prepayments, other

receivables and other assets, net

Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables, net

Total reversal of impairment losses, net

Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities

Auditor’s remuneration

CEHEFERE

EERBANRAX (B
EERESITHRAE
#EN (M95E8)) ¢

TER#HE

B R B Ath A a1

BARE ST EIMHRR
—RAEHREE

FERAEE
—REHMEE

BEBMAEER

ME- BB RRBITE

EREEERE
BV EE N

rER MR

FLLA T IR B FESDRY R (E
JB518
STATRMNRIAE B

FE WS R IE e EL A
EENEREE
MEREFER
FEWRBR FUR B 518
EIbE

WRERRERFER

wESt AHEaEE
BFEEMR

1Z BB =

7.

Notes

By 5E

13
16(a)
14

17

20

16(c)

RFEEEXHRAFE

AEBNFBEEEZRAMN LR
bR/ (Gt A) THISEBER :

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥TF T
441,548 477,107
12,594 16,852
957 670

735 1,727

308 281
14,594 19,530
9,748 6,606
2,499 602
1,063 860
13,310 8,068

= 604

(1,479) (8,844)
(1,479) (8,240)
614 984

1,980 1,400
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EFKESITHAEHMMUU
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EEEHMNMNELES
EMPLOYEES

RBEEBHMIFAESF LHRA-BFER
BRBIZE383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (O R(FLAR 2
B (REBESMDER) REIF28 W E A
FEEFEARSITHRASNFMIOT :

Directors' and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2020 2019

20205 20194

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AR®ETF T

Fees B 2,223 2,244

Other emoluments: HiEf < :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ 2R EWF = 427 694
Pension scheme contributions BB EHEIMER

— Defined contribution fund —REMHES 45 45

472 739

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

RBREE
2R FkE
BxXkE

Mr. Yu Haizong
Mr. Liu Vi
Mr. Wu Wen

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2019: Nil).

2,695 2,983

(a) J|IFHTEF
ERNEABIENTESNRS

mF:
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F AR¥TF T
150 150
150 150
150 150
450 450

ERNWEEMNBIIIERTEEN
HME S (20194 © &) o
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive

director and the chief executive

2020

20204

Executive directors H{TEE

Mr. Jiang Zhong
Ping®

Mr. Hao Xiemint

Mr. Wang Hu®

Non-executive
director

Mr. Teh Wing
Kwan®

B 5

e
ERELE

FHRITER

B IEALED

8. ZEFKZEITBABEHMMA
et a%ES @
(b) ﬂf%?ﬂ#ﬂﬁ§$&
REITBRAE
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits scheme
Fees in kind  contributions Total
HE 2Kk BAE
wE kil sHEI R =1
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AR®TT AR®ETT AREFT
150 125 15 290
150 152 15 317
150 150 15 315
450 427 45 922
1,323 - - 1,323
1,773 427 45 2,245

180 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes to the Financial Statements

SRR MIEE
Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12B31HIEEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. ZEFKkmaITHABEHMMU

REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID e aEE @

EMPLOYEES (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive (b) BITEF -IEBRITEER
director and the chief executive BRE{TBRAES @
(Continued)

Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e EER BirE
wE BEYH & BEICE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT ARETT ARBTT

2019 20194
Executive directors  H{TEE
Mr. Jiang Zhong BRTEELD

Ping® 150 92 15 257
Mr. Hao Xiemin®® i3 3 &k 5 4 150 301 15 466
Mr. Wang Hu® FR&E 150 301 15 466
450 694 45 1,189
Non-executive FEHITES
director

Mr. Teh Wing BBk ST A
Kwan® 1,344 - - 1,344
1,794 694 45 2,533

Notes: e -

(i) Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping was re-designated from the (i) BRI AER2017FE10812
chairman of the Board and the acting chief executive BFhHESeIERZREERE
officer to the chief executive officer on 12 October HITERTEERTE
2017.

(ii) Mr. Teh Wing Kwan was appointed as a non-executive (ii) BBk S A R201757826H
director and the chairman of the Board on 26 July 2017 BHEABIIERNTES I
and 12 October 2017, respectively. R2017F 108 12HEZ TS

EEFEFEo

(iii) Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu were appointed (iii) MEHEEERERLER
as executive directors on 1 January 2018, and their 2018F 1A HEZEAIIT
share options were then reclassified from the category BEHENRAMEBEERM
“employees” to the category “Executive directors”. HHEE EEHRSEE M

TEE IR
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(c)

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year
include one director (2019: Nil). Details of directors’
Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2019:

remuneration are set out above.

five) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and e EMREYHG
benefits in kind

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFHEIMHERR

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

Z£%1,000,00078 7T
1,000,001 7% 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001 75 %2,000,0007% 7T

Nil to HKD 1,000,000
HKD 1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000
HKD 1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000

EFMESTHRAS MU

)34

(c)
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SN ELES @

manMNERES
FARSHMNN L RHEESE—
LEE (2019F | ) -EE/MH
N IEE N XX - RFEEERT
M4 (20194 @ %) BEIFEETR
FERBRSITHRAENRSH
e SR FHMFBEOT

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARET T
3,458 5,591

302 445

3,760 6,036

FMEUTHEANRSHME
B FEERFRBSTHAR B
HEWT :

Number of employees

BE&HE
2020 2019
20204 20194
2 Nil
1 4
1 1
4 5




INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the BVI, the Group was not subject to any income tax in the
Cayman Islands and the BVI for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The provision for PRC CIT is based on the respective PRC CIT
rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in PRC as determined
in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and regulations
of PRC for the year.

All subsidiaries domiciled in the PRC (the "“PRC subsidiaries”)
were subject to the PRC CIT rate of 25% during the year
ended 31 December 2020. Pursuant to the income tax rules
and regulations in Australia, the Group’s subsidiaries located in
Australia are liable to Australia corporate income tax at a rate of
30% on the assessable profits generated for the year. Pursuant
to the income tax rules and regulations in Singapore, the
Group's subsidiary located in Singapore are liable to Singapore
corporate income tax at a rate of 17% on the assessable profits
generated for the year.

The major components of income tax charge/(credit) are as
follows:

BIHER — T

Current — Singapore

Charge for the year FRZH
Current — PRC BEA— AR

Charge for the year FARALZH
Deferred (note 18) IEIE (MI5E18)

Notes to the Financial Statements

BT 155 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

FRrisi
BREHSEEREBEEENRRIK
RO AEBREAMEE20205F %2019
FRANHEFERMWRAEEEREER
BRREBRER -

AR AEBRNEE2020F %2019F128
BMELEEETERNEBNNE BB
BERRFE  MARBME B EBRE
o

o B 22 AR A th 0 B R T 2 BB
& R B AR R P S TR AR B R R » B
4 38 7 54 R B T2 5 8948 B R B 2
BRBEERE-

FrEREEMTAE (THREFRAE B
HE2020F12831HIEFEREBIE25%
B R B 1 ZEFT B TR TR M AR o 1R #5R8N
BI P13 70 47 Bl Kz #8541 » 7 & [ i 528 N
NFABERFERNEENERRFBIZ
30% BIFR Z AR BN B IR o R IR
MM TSR AR R KR > A B
REIEMN FAB B ENEENER
FRFTE 217 % B AR 2 AN #7038 b 2= PR
B

PRGMH/ (8%) W EAMEB oM
T

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FECEERFEARBSZ L

from continuing operations
Total tax charge for the year from
discontinued operations (note 10)

(%) 4858
ERIEKEEFFRARESSH
4828 (f35E10)

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥TF T
3 3

1,788 1,270
(2,041) 4,818
(250) 6,091

= 1,551

(250) 7,642
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

9. INCOME TAX (continued)
A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the applicable tax rate for the companies
within the Group to the tax charge/(credit) at the effective tax
rate is as follows:

Profit before tax from continuing BFESEEBRRFE

operations
Profit/(loss) before tax from BRI EEBRATE
discontinued operations / (E518)

Tax at the respective statutory tax — FEHEEEAEREEN

rates: M
— PRC subsidiaries, at 25% —HEFRE]25%
— Australia subsidiaries, at 30% —EMNFRE]30%
- the Company and its Hong Kong —&ABKEEH
subsidiaries, at 16.5% FRE16.5%
- Singapore subsidiary, at 17% — IR F AR 17%
Expenses not deductible for tax GIEE 12
Tax effect of tax losses not %Eﬁ%ﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬂé 19
recognised M2
Tax effect of deductible temporary ~ REERAIHIB BRI EZEN
differences not recognised MBTE
Income not subject to tax mARRIA
Tax losses utilised from the FABFFENRIERSE
prior year

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's BRAEEBEMRIFEN
effective tax rate MEZH (E%R)

Tax charge/(credit) from continuing 2 EEREAENTE

operations at the effective KEEBFRESTL
tax rate (%)

Tax charge from discontinued BREBERIFENBLL
operations at the effective SR S 2 IO TE S
tax rate

Note
=

FRiGiE &

BRERRAEEBETLARNBERRES
HWMMATFE (BB REZ S (K
%) BRERMEXFAENRIEI D/ (0K

%) HERWT ¢

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT AREFT
8,033 14,395
(32,675) 53,634
(24,642) 68,029
4,048 25,156
(9,802) (3,852)
(1,359) (2,856)
13 11
2,237 2,691
10,308 8,503
(412) 18,007
= (38,249)
(5,283) (1,769)
(250) 7,642
(250) 6,091
= 1,551

184 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



10.

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Note:

(a) Expenses not deductible for tax for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019 mainly consist of
administrative expenses incurred by offshore companies. These
expenses are not expected to be deductible for tax.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Disposal Group is mainly engaged in specialised mining
services in Australia. Pursuant to a board resolution dated
18 December 2020, the Group has decided to dispose the
Specialised Mining Services because it plans to focus its
resources on its High-Fe Mining Operation mainly in PRC. On 31
December 2020, the Company entered into the memorandum
of understanding in respect of the disposal with a potential
purchaser, while the Company has also been evaluating various
other options to exit the Specialised Mining Services. As at 31
December 2020, management had reasonably expected that the
disposal would be highly probable completed within one year.
As such, the results and cash flows of the Disposal Group has
been presented as a discontinued operation for the year ended
31 December 2020 and the comparative results and cash flows
has been re-presented in accordance with IFRS 5. With the
Disposal Group being classified as a discontinued operation, the
Specialised Mining Services are no longer included in the note 4
for operating segment information.

As mentioned in the Company's consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, Huili Caitong
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Disposed Group”) was disposed of on 30 July 2019 with the
consideration of RMB550,000,000. Upon the completion of the
disposal, the gain on disposal of the Disposed Group and the
related income tax were presented as part of the discontinued
operations for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Notes to the Financial Statements

10.
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

FriEi @

P EE

(a) B E2020F12831H%20194 128
BNHIEFEMNAIRMAZFEGIE
BFEAEEEMNTHRMEZ LbERX
FERRAR A0 0

BARIEREER
HEEBRTER BN EEEMER
o iR HEEA2020E 128 18HMWES
GREZ BARAEBRFEEFERR
MAEAFHNEE A ESER SUR
EHE SR 0122020512831
B AR HBTEERMHESFTIB L
REESE AIERERARAB N — B
ERHEERRRENZEEMEE.
£2020512831H > BIEE S EMFEH
HEZBERAAIER —FRTM - ALL
HEEENEENRTEREE 2 A
F2020F12831HIEEENBELR LK
X% MHEREENRAESRECEERE
MRS ERESRET BEEHESE
EREAEKRIEREER SERER
BABET A4S E DT ER o

MM AT EE2019F12831HIEE
ENGEMBHR&ML SBEUER
EF R (TX#BELHEEE) B
R2019F7H30HHE REABARKE
550,000,0007c° e HEEEE  HE
BHEERN W RAERMIRENE
F2019F12831HIEEEFABKIEL
EEBN—I Do
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

10.

186

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 10.

The results of the discontinued operations for the year are

presented as follows:

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment (note 13)

Impairment losses on other
intangible asset (note 15)

Impairment losses on right-of-use
assets (note 16(a))

Impairment losses on assets
classified as held for sale

Impairment losses on
financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables
and other assets (note 17)

Finance costs

Loss before tax from the
Disposal Group

Loss before tax from the
Disposed Group

Gain on disposal of the
Disposed Group

Profit/(loss) before tax from
discontinued operations
Income tax expense (note 9)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
FROM THE DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS

Notes

Py 5E

WA
SHE R A

E7
HAUWA B Wz
HERDHEAX
TR
Hhpgsxz
ME - -WMERZERE

w518 (M9sE13) (a)
HME\EREERERRE

(F¥5£15) (a)
FREEERERRE

(FizE16(a)) (a)
DEARHEHENEE
RIERE (b)
STATBA I - EfhAEUR
MEREMEEN
TREERERSIE

(fF5E17)
BN

HEERRAEER
HEERRAIEE
HEBHEERN G
BRIEEEERRA
FIE 7 (B548)
figps (EE9)

BRIEREERFRA
FIE 7 (B548)

BRIEREER @)

ERILEEXBNEEXES

I

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AEEFT
92,568 97,033
(77,556) (84,088)
15,012 12,945
3,700 5,513
(21,600) (25,403)
= (426)
(17,209) -
(120) (6,545)
(452) -
(11,584) (5,941)
= (1,479)
(422) (900)
(32,675) (22,236)
= (77,127)

= 152,997
(32,675) 53,634
= (1,551)
(32,675) 52,083
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Group measured the assets of a disposal group classified
as discontinued operations at the lower of its carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell. In accordance with the Group's
accounting policies, each asset or CGU is evaluated annually at
31 December or biannually at 30 June to determine whether
there are any indications of impairment. If any such indications
of impairment exist, a formal estimate of the recoverable
amount is performed.

In assessing whether an impairment is required, the carrying
value of the asset or CGU is compared with its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the CGU's
fair value less costs of disposal and VIU. Management has
performed impairment assessment on all the carrying amounts
of the Group's property, plant and equipment, other intangible
asset and right-of-use assets. For the purpose of impairment
assessment, Specialised Mining Services CGU (comprising
the property, plant and equipment, the right-of-use assets of
Mancala Group and the brand name) is treated as a separate
CGU. The recoverable amount of the Specialised Mining Services
CGU was estimated based on its VIU determined by discounting
the future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use
of these assets. The recoverable amount is determined based
on the calculation using cash flow projections according to
financial budgets covering a period of nineteen-year approved
by management with pre-tax discount rate of 13.84% (2019:
13.00%). The cash flows beyond the three-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.58% (2019: 2.57%),
which was referred to the growth rate of the gross domestic
product in Australia for the past ten years.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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ERIEEEXHT @
GER

(a) FEBRZRESEREQN T ERBEN
FIMENRBEFEDERTRIEEL
EEBHNLEANNEE - AL R
RHESHBRGER12A31HEEY¥
FR6AANEREENRTESE
B UEERSAEMRAETR-
i RIRERBRBETR > BIETLE
I El A E

R RE AR RERSELLREE
FREELBMNETERT KL S
o Bl EARSELEBUMNA
EERHE R AR EREERENR
BE-EEEBEHAEEVE -KRE
E&E HtBEEEUAREREE
ENFAREDSBEETRET G S
S RE BEMRRBEBEELES
Il (BEEFNERNDNE -BE X
HE - FCRAREEKRDELE WA
ABIUNRCEEBMNERE X
KRB RSELBUN AT REISEE
REEREE (EABFEERIL
LEEMEENARRSRET) &
sTom Bl RER Bz REREH &
N+ N FHRPBESEETHNIRERE
B MR BIAEIRZ13.84% (20194 -
13.00%) st H - = FHBWIRE MR
FA2.58% (20194 : 2.57%) MR X
EE ZEEXE2ZTRNBE+F
HENEERELRER.
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

188

(a)

(Continued)
Other key assumptions used in the estimation of VIU are as
follows:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the last ten year before the budget year.

Revenue growth — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the revenue growth rate is the growth of the gross
domestic product during the last ten years before the budget
year for Australia from where the revenue is mainly generated.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects

specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

Based on the above-mentioned impairment assessment, the
recoverable amounts, carrying amounts as at 31 December 2020
and impairment provisions for the year ended 31 December
2020 are as follows:

Specialised Mining EEXREBREREEESMN

Services CGU

10.

Recoverable
amount
AT B 28
RMB'000
AR T

21,366

BRLEEERR @
sk 1 (48

(a)

&
HEtEAEEREANEMEZRR
wE

BEERF AR ERRTREER
ERENESEATEEE LA EE
ESESTETIE S

HWABR—AREELTHRABEE
B EENEER RN (EZRARR)
RESFEMTFBENEEREE
Eo

HHEEF-FFEANBERRIGRR
B RREEREAARNEER

"
fg o

BT EERROEERINPER R

—He

i BB BT 102020128
3TEMAREEE - RESEREE
2020 12B3 1B L HFENRBERE
mE

Carrying Impairment
amount provision
IREE WEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARETT
39,147 17,781

The above impairment provisions as at 31 December 2020 have
been allocated to the following asset classes.
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Impairment loss recognised on property, plant and
equipment

An impairment loss of RMB17,209,000 (2019: Nil) was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020 to write
down the carrying amounts of Mancala Group’s property, plant
and equipment to their respective recoverable amounts of
RMB20,819,000 as at 31 December 2020.

Impairment loss recognised on right-of-use assets

An impairment loss of RMB452,000 (2019: Nil) was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2020 to write down the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets of Mancala Group to
their respective recoverable amounts of RMB547,000 as at 31
December 2020.

Impairment loss recognised on other intangible asset
An impairment loss of RMB120,000 (2019: RMB6,545,000) was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020 to write
down the carrying amount of the brand name of Mancala Group
to the recoverable amount of Nil as at 31 December 2020.

The impairment loss arising from Mancala Group was mainly due
to the challenging outlook on macro-environment and weaker
market sentiment given the increase in risk and uncertainty.
The business plan was adjusted correspondingly to reflect the
recoverable amount which consequently led to impairment.

Held for sale assets comprised part of plant and equipment of
the Mancala Group which would not be utilised in the current
operation. The Group measured the assets held for sale at the
lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
An impairment loss of RMB11,584,000 (2019: RMB5,941,000)
was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020 to
write down the carrying amounts of assets held for sale to its
respective recoverable amounts of RMB17,786,000 as at 31
December 2020.

The non-recurring fair value measurement for assets held for sale
was considered to be Level 2 for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019, as it is derived from quoted prices in markets

that are not active.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2020
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10. BRIEREETE ®
Wizt © ()
(a) (&

E BB RRE DI HERE

REE2020F128318 IEFERRER
R EBEAS AR®17,209,0007T
(20194 : /) > EEREFHEREM
ME - -BERLEHRESERRE
HZBM2020FE12831HM AW E &
B AR1£20,819,0007T °

EAREEEET A EEE
REZE2020F 128318 L EERIH
BEEA AR452,0007 (2019
F IR CBEEREFNEENER
REENROSEMREESER
2020 12A31BN KB B AR
#547,0007T °

PR & B E R R A E
REZE2020F 128318 IEEERRHN
BEREAAR®120,0007t (2019
£ AR16,545,0007T)  EER 2
Fh & E R G 8 4 78 B0 BR T = RE MUR
FEHP2020F 12831 B Ko+ 58
Fo
EFNEERNRESEEBEERNRAR
EABEY EASRBERRAS M
e mMBRARGE EHKBEBSHE
HERE > UKo El &% A
BERE

FEHEEEOREFNERRFTY
ARREEENBDRE KL E &
EERRESERR T ERHERE
MENRBEEFEFFHESE-R
HZE20205E 12831 H L FEERIHR
ER518 4 AR #11,584,0007T (2019
£ ARM5,941,0007T) » SERIT
FHESENRASEMAZEEEZR
202012831 BRI KEIEEAR
#£17,786,0007T °

HE2020F K201941283181E&E
ERFEHEEEMNI LB EAFES
EREAHFE22E BEREHERBIEERE
MBWREESH
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Year ended 31 December 2020
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10.

190

10. BRLEKREERE @
HEEFEN2020F12831HNETEEE
Ra@EE T

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group
as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

2020
20204
RMB’000
ARETT
ASSETS BE
Property, plant and equipment (note 13) M BB RRE (HE13) 20,819
Right-of-use assets (note 16(a)) EREEE (Mx16(a) 547
Inventories 78 12,704
Trade receivables FEUL AR X 796
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets FENRIE EtERREREMEE 5,290
Contract assets BREE 5,260
Cash and cash equivalents RERRBEEEY 14,528
Assets classified as held for sale PDEAREHENEE 17,786
Assets of a disposal group classified PDEAREHENHEARNNEE
as held for sale 77,730
LIABILITIES &afE
Trade payables FEAT AR R 22,544
Other payables and accruals HMFE N RIE K FEsT7IE 32,358
Interest-bearing bank and other loans FEIBITREMER 17,660
Due to related parties P& 1< B Bk 75 =018 11,772
Lease liability (note 16(b)) FHESE (WE16(b) 656
Liabilities directly associated with the HAOEATFLENESEEEHEANERE
assets classified as held for sale 84,990
Net liabilities directly associated HHEEEEREERNZEE
with the Disposal Group (7,260)
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10.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The net cash flows incurred by the Disposal Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Operating activities KEEe
Investing activities KEED
Financing activities B EE
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BE&RA (RA) $48
Loss per share: SREMEE
Basic and diluted, from the BEARREE LEEE

Disposal Group

The net cash flows incurred by the Disposed Group for the
period ended 30 July 2019 are as follows:

Operating activities BEEH

Investing activities BEEE

Financing activities REEH

Net cash outflow IR H AR

Earnings per share: RO EF
Basic and diluted, from the Disposed Group EARRKE#E

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R Z< Bt 5%

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

10 Eln\\ l%é(é%¥§k (nﬁ

HEEBENREE2020F K2019F 12831

HIEFEEENRERSFEUWT -
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AE®FT
13,811 (680)
(1,376) (2,845)
(40) 1,787
12,395 (1,738)

RMBA R #(0.012)7 RMBAE #(0.008)7c

DHEEBEREHZE20199F7830H L&A

MEEMNIEE RS FENT

Period ended

30 July
2019
HZE2019F
78308
HARS
RMB’000
AREFTT

31,087

(53,230)
22,123

(20)

HEEE RMBA K #0.0347%
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10.

11.

12.

192

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted profit/(loss) per share from
the discontinued operations are based on:

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent from the
discontinued operations
— from the Disposed Group
— from the Disposal Group

—BHEEHR
—HEEE

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the
(fF5%£29)

basic and diluted earnings/(loss)
per share calculation (note 29)

DIVIDEND

At a meeting of the Directors held on 26 March 2021, the
Directors did not recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 2,249,015,410 (2019: 2,249,015,410) in issue during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 in respect of a dilution as the exercise prices
of the Company’s outstanding share options were higher than
the average market prices for the Company’s shares during the
current and prior years.

10. BRLEKREERE @
HEERLEREERERRMDE R R E
SR, (5548) B LU 5IIE B A A

EERSATEBERREREA
MBEARIEEE XTI, (B8

BRstEERELRBERF
(B518) MY B AR N TE T 19 8L

2020 2019

20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AEEFT

= 75,821

(26,467) (18,011)
(26,467) 57,810
2,249,015,410 2,249,015,410

11. KRB
R2021FE3826HRITHNEFT T EZE L
BEEAEZIRKCEZE20205128318 1
FERARKRE (20195 : &) ©

12. BEBNEARSEKE
BFEANSRROERN
(E518)
EREBROEABFILERGEBNRARE
ZERREREANERMNBEEE
2020 12A31HIEFERBETEER
IN#EF ¥9842,249,015,41088 (20194 :
2,249,015,4100%) st& o

HREEE20205 5201961283 1H Lk
FEH> ARBEEATHENRGBENTT
FESHRARBRMHFHETE QI
ERAFEERBFFELZINESRRKG
BARBRHM, (F8) SEFHE S S

%go
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2020

HE2020F12831HLEEE
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ME-BERRKE
Construction
Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure (“CIP”) Total
i £ BEREE HAZRE HEBER RREE ERIR &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

AEBBTR  ARETR AEBTR ABBTR AEBBTR  ARETT  ARETR

31 December 2020 20205128318

Cost: A

At 1 January 2020 202061810 40,352 70,243 1,327 2,663 135,454 38,578 288,617
Additions from continuing operations  FEEEEKRE (H:4)

(note 4) = 851 16 - 4,417 9,416 14,700
Additions from discontinued operations E&IHEEEHFE - 339 32 700 - 3,989 5,060
Transferred from CIP BOERIE 87 4913 S 90 = (5,090) -
Disposals in discontinued operations BREREERNE - (3,627) - - - - (3,627)
Transferred from assets held for sale BORMFLERE - 9322 - - - - 9,322
Cost included in discontinued operations 5t A B4 I8 £ % M5 & - (51,936) (781) (1,057) - (4,069) (57,843)
Exchange realignment ERBE - 1,079 19 7 - 134 1,239
At 31 December 2020 1#2020£128318 40,439 31,184 613 2,403 139,871 42,958 257,468
Accumulated depreciation R MERAME

and impairment:

At 1 January 2020 20201810 20,838 21,114 735 2,193 49,745 2,543 97,768
Provided for the year from continuing ~ EREHEMFELEEHK

operations (note 7) B (z7) 1,538 2,011 45 77 6,077 - 9,748
Provided for the year from discontinued R EHERILLE

operations £5EE - 10,401 87 140 - - 10,628
Impairment recognised during FARINBL L

the year from discontinued £%AME (5100)

operations (note 10(a)) - 17,209 - - - - 17,209
Disposals HE - (3.543) - - - - (3,543)
Transferred from assets held for sale EORFHEEE - 6,915 - - - - 6,915
Depreciation and impairment included in 5t A\B#& ILE & 54

discontinued operations TERAEE - (35,271) (451) (218) - (1,084) (37,024)
Exchange realignment ERBE - 292 " 4 - 29 336
At 31 December 2020 420206128318 22,376 19,728 427 2,196 55,822 1,488 102,037
Net carrying amount: RESE
At 1 January 2020 20201818 19,514 48,529 592 470 85,709 36,035 190,849
At 31 December 2020 %2020£125318 18,063 11,456 186 207 84,049 41,470 155,431
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

RL) =N =
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ME -BRERSE @
(Continued)
Construction
Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure ("CIP") Total
BF iR Rt o WAERE RBEH FEER TRIR &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR AEBTR NS W ARETR ARETR AEBTR AEBTR
31 December 2019 20195128318
Cost: A
At 31 December 2018 #2018%128318 40,288 67,686 1,166 2,523 105,014 31,151 247,828
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 AR B RS
FI6RNTE - (824) - - - - (824)
At 1 January 2019 (restated) 201951818 (BE5) 40,288 66,862 1,166 2,523 105,014 31,151 247,004
Additions RE 04 3,500 153 137 30,440 7,846 42,140
Transferred from CIP HRAERTE - 463 - - - (463) -
Disposals HE - (1,048) - - - - (1,048)
Exchange realignment ERBE - 466 8 3 - 44 521
At 31 December 2019 #20195128318 40,352 70,243 1,327 2,663 135,454 38,578 288,617
Accumulated depreciation FitTERAE:
and impairment:
At 31 December 2018 #2018%128318 20,929 17,696 570 2,054 44,846 2,530 88,625
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 FmERRBREE
FI6RNTE - (289) - - - - (289)
At 1 January 2019 {restated) 1201951818 (£E5) 20,929 17,407 570 2,054 44,846 2,530 88,336
Provided for the year ERGHERE (91) 5313 161 139 4,899 - 10,421
Disposals HE - (1,037) - - - - (1,037)
Exchange realignment EREZ - 31 4 - - 13 48
At31 December 2019 120195128318 20,838 21,714 735 2,193 49,745 2,543 97,768
Net carrying amount; REFH:
At 31 December 2018 #2018 12H318 19,359 49,990 5% 469 60,168 28,621 159,203
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 R ER RS
FIoRNTE - (535) - - - - (535)
At 1 January 2019 (restated) 7201951818 (@E7) 19,359 49,455 59 469 60,168 28,621 158,668
At 31 December 2019 2019128318 19,514 48,529 592 470 85,709 36,035 190,849

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, each asset
or CGU is evaluated annually at 31 December or biannually
at 30 June to determine whether there are any indications of
impairment. If any such indications of impairment exist, a formal
estimate of the recoverable amount is made.

AERRBHEEHBREEN12A31H
XEFENRAIHTEEEENRE
EEBEM UBEERSAEMREDNR -
HHREAMARBENR B{EHIER
BJUg el &R 5t o
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2020

Cost:
At 1 January and
31 December 2020

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment:

At 1 January 2020

Amortisation provided
during the year (note 7)

At 31 December 2020

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2020

At 31 December 2020

20205 12A31H
R

72020 1B 1H K
128318

REtBH KRR (E -

%2020F181H

FAFHRAEIE A
(My5E£7)

72020FE12831H

BRTEFEE -
720201818

720205128314

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

14. BEEE

Exploration

Mining rights and
rights assets Total

RiEE BREEREE aE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TRT ARETRT
800,295 65,991 866,286
129,620 - 129,620
1,063 - 1,063
130,683 - 130,683
670,675 65,991 736,666
669,612 65,991 735,603
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14.

196

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

31 December 2019

Cost:
At 1 January and
31 December 2019

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment:

At 1 January 2019

Amortisation provided
during the year (note 7)

At 31 December 2019

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2019

At 31 December 2019

2019%12H31H
R

R2019FE 1B 1B &
128318

REtBHRIRME ¢

20191 81H

FAFHRNEHER
(MH5E7)

72019 12831H

BREREE -
R2019FE181H

20198128318

As at 31 December 2020, the mining rights of Maoling
Mine with a net carrying amount of RMB19,903,000 (2019:
RMB20,966,000) were pledged to secure the Group's bank loans

(note 27(a)).

14. BEEE #®)

Exploration

Mining rights and
rights assets Total
KRR REEREE a5t
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARBTTT AREFT
800,295 65,991 866,286
128,760 - 128,760
860 - 860
129,620 - 129,620
671,535 65,991 737,526
670,675 65,991 736,666

R2020F12831H  REFREH A
119,903,000t (20194 | AR
20,966,0007T) WESEERREEEE
B (FARERIRTERNER (M
27(a)) °
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15.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET

31 December 2020
Cost:

At 1 January 2020
Cost included in discontinued operations

At 31 December 2020

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

At 1 January 2020

Amortisation provided during the year from
discontinued operations

Impairment recognised for the year from
discontinued operations (note 10(a))

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
included in discontinued operations

At 31 December 2020

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2020

At 31 December 2020

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R ZR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

15. HithWEREE

Brand name

mmhE % T8
RMB’000
ARETT
20205128318
s
202051818 8,440
S ABR IS AR (8,440)
72020FE12831H _
Bt RRE -
20201818 8,303
FERFHENBR LSS EF M RE
17

ERNEDNERIEEEEREHE
(FEE10(a)) 120
STABR IS ESN R B RRE

(8,440)
120205 12831H =
AREPEE
1202051818 137
120205 12H31H -
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET (Continued) 15. Hth&EREE @)

198

31 December 2019

Cost:
At 1 January and 31 December 2019

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
At 1 January 2019

Amortisation provided during the year
Impairment recognised for the year (note 10(a))

At 31 December 2019

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2019

At 31 December 2019

Brand name arose from the acquisition of the business of
Mancala Group, whose principal business operations are carried

out in Australia.

20194128318

A
7201981818 % 12H31H

R B RIAE
720191818
FANFHREREHER
FERNHEBRYRE ([5E10()

#2019 12831H

IRTEFER -
201918 1H

720198 12831H

GE
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Brand name

CILEN
RMB'000
ARETFT

8,440

915
843
6,545

8,303

7,525
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

LEASES 16.
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for office premises and various

ME

EEBREAEEA
AEBMREBMAZSERAEYEUR
TEREKR%SEBEEITIHESN R
WEHRN ZEBEFEEREBEE]
UETRBEESN -AEEEHEBE
A =—FNHEERAEYESI N —%F
BRIEARIE BT ERBEZEHENK
made under the terms of these leases. Leases of office premises AFENAR-MREYERENHEBEN
TIE3F -HERIEBHEENHE—K
A3Fo—MME > AEERARKEE:?
EEERDHETREBUIAL

items of plant and machinery used in its operations. During the
reporting period, the Group entered into certain long-term lease
contracts for items of plant and machinery. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased office premises with
lease periods of three years, and no ongoing payments will be

have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. Leases of plant and
machinery generally have lease term of 3 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) FHAESE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets rEERFTHREEENRESER
and the movements during the year are as follows: FRESHUWT -
Office Plant and
premises machinery Total
HWAEYE PR 55 B e 2% a5
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR AREF ARETR
As at 1 January 2020 720201818 2,725 453 3,178
Additions from continuing FECSEBERE
operations - 8,066 8,066
Covid-19-related rent concessions ~ HFAAR FHELEEHH
from lessors in continuing COVID-19f8 B &
operations TR (232) - (232)
Covid-19-related rent concessions ~ HFAARFEH& LK
from lessors in discontinued E£3%5HCOVID-19
operations RS (22) = (22)
Depreciation charged in continuing B 30BRBIEAE LS #7%
operations (note 7) e (MW7) (769) (1.730) (2,499)
Depreciation charged in BN BAILEE
discontinued operations EBINE (583) = (583)
Impairment recognised in BREZINER REER
discontinued operations (B (fiEE10)
(note 10) - (452) (452)
Assets included in discontinued AR ERE LB
operations (note 10) BE (5210) (547) - (547)
As at 31 December 2020 720204128318 572 6,337 6,909
2020 F# |
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE
16. LEASES (continued) 16. #HE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) TEBEREREAN @
(a)  Right-of-use assets (Continued) (a) REAEEE B
Prepaid
Office land lease Plant and
premises payment machinery Total
FEfT Lt
MAENE HER HBERKS CE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARETR ARETR
As at 1 January 2019 120191810 4,578 23,064 535 28,177
Additions NE 1,291 - - 1,291
Depreciation charged BIIRNITE (1,158) N (82) (1,240)
Impairment recognised FREDNAEE
during the year - (3,588) - (3,588)
Decrease as a result of AHEF AR
disposal of subsidiaries (1,986) (19,476) - (21,462)
As at 31 December 2019 120198128318 2,725 - 453 3,178
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16. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R ZR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

16. & ®
FEBEAEAEAN @

Carrying amount at 1 January

New leases from continuing operations
(note 33(b))

New leases from discontinued
operations

Accretion of interest recognised during
the year from continuing operations
(note 6)

Accretion of interest recognised during
the year from discontinued operations

Covid-19-related rent concessions from
lessors of continuing operations

Covid-19-related rent concessions from
lessors of discontinued operations

Payments from continuing operations

Payments from discontinued operations

Liabilities directly associated with assets
included in discontinued operations
(note 10)

Decrease as a result of disposal of
subsidiaries

Carrying amount at 31 December

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

(b)) HEEE
HMEaENRESBRFENES
mr

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%F T AREFTT
11BN RE S 2,629 4,670
FRERESE£EMEE
(Ft5£33(b)) 8,066 -
BRI EERMEE
= 1,051
FABBNFESE X
FESTHE (MIsE6)
330 33
ERBRBNERLELE
HEBRESTFE 23 99
HEARFHELSEEXHEN
COVID-1948 B & =Rl (232) -
HEAARFERIEEEER
BICOVID-19t8 B & = A (22) -
FFEREEBAR (2,313) (445)
B IERESEHB TR (562) (1,272)
B ABRIELEERD
EEEZERNEE
(f$5E10) (656) -
HEFABMmRLD
= (1,507)
P12B31HNRE %8 7,263 2,629
Ak
TMENER 3,945 1,254
JEMENEL > 3,318 1,375

2020 £ | PENKEBIEEZERAT
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

16.

202

LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

16. fHE @
SEEEARBA @)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 38 to the financial statements.

As disclosed in note 2.2 to the financial statements, the

Group has early adopted the amendment to IFRS 16

and applied the practical expedient to all eligible rent

concessions granted by the lessors for leases of certain

plant and equipment during the year.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follows:

Interest on lease liabilities
— from continuing operations
(note 6)
— from discontinued operations
Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets
— from continuing operations
(note 16(a))
— from discontinued operations
(note 16(a))
Expense relating to short-term leases
(included in administrative expenses)
Variable lease payments not included in
the measurement of lease liabilities
(included in selling and distribution
expenses)

Total amount recognised in
profit or loss

HEEENFE
— R (ééééfk(Mjnf6)
— BRI ER
ERREENITESH

— B ERS
(FtzE16(a))
—BRIEEEER
(MF=E16(a))
BIGHATAE RS
GTATTERX)
Tt ATHESBEN
EAER GTAHER
bakicl= )

FR 18 m HESY RV 4R

(b)

(c)
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HEEE ()
HE&SENEIR R DTN
RRMIEE38WE o

MNP FHRRI5E2.2PR K EE > A
EEERERMERMBREE
AE16SRIERT & > WA F N
BARETFRERRBEEMR
FHFFAGEREZRBERAH
TR E-e

P ENBERERATERNT ¢

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AEREFT
330 33

23 99
2,499 602
583 638

614 953

= 31

4,049 2,356




17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS

Current portion:

Prepayments consisting of:
Purchase of raw materials
Utilities
Prepayment for the use

right of a road
Other prepayments

Other receivables consisting of:
Deductible value added tax input
Other receivables

Impairment allowance

Non-current portion:

Prepayment for the use
right of a road

Long-term deposit

REE S -
FARTRIEELE
BERMHIH
RS
ERERAERMRIEA

HAiFAa T mIA
Hit W IaaE

FIBE R ER
HAh WA

BRI

FEmENEE S -
ERERERMREA

RiRE

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R Z< Bt 5%

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

17. FA(IRRIE ~ HhEUTRIE K

3

31 December 31 December

2020 2019

20204 20194

12H31H 12H31H

Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Mi5E AREBTT AE®EFT
705 222

220 -

47 47

1,208 2,920

1,708 2,784

1,409 3,248

5,297 9,221

(@) (604) (606)
4,693 8,615

538 585

428 540

966 1,125

5,659 9,740
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17.

204

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Note:

(a) The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are as follows:

At beginning of year PR EA]
Impairment losses, net BEEEFEE
— from continuing operations —FEREEY
(note 7) (F$5E7)
— from discontinued operations —BRIEREET
(note 10) (Ff$5E10)

Amount written off as uncollectible  $if{#4 4~ 5] Uz [2] & 28

At end of year JIREEEEES

Where applicable, impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering expected credit losses, which
are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference
to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied as
at 31 December 2020 ranged 0.0% to 100.0% (2019: 0.0% to
100.0%).

17.

FE(ITRRIE - EfthEURFRIE K
HtEE ®

M 5E

(a) ST TR AT FRIE ~ EL A U IR Ko EL A
EENSRMEENREBEEREZD

mE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFT
606 33
= 604
= 1,479
(2) (1,510)
604 606

HHEABERTN AEEGRERESR
HEBE EBREREBIETRESD
o mBREHABAT2RBRAEEN
EL IRt E A IB R 5 A G5t o
AEEBGRABHEX URMREF
R B 2R AR AT B AR R B TROR (W
) 720206128318 FREANIE
BENF0.0%%E100.0% (20194 :
0.0%%100.0%) °
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18. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as

follows:

At 1 January 2019
Deferred tax charged to profit or
loss during the year (note 9)

Deferred tax assets at
31 December 2019

At 1 January 2020

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to
profit or loss during the year
from continuing operations
(note 9)

Deferred tax assets
at 31 December 2020

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R Z< Bt 5%

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

18. JRIEFRIE
RERIBEERFANNEFHUNT
Losses
available Excess tax
for  depreciation
offsetting over book
against value of Provision Provision
taxable fixed for for
profits assets  rehabilitation impairment Others Total
EEEEN
AR RIERE
FERHR A BHREE
B HESE EREE AERE Hith At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR#ETT ARETT NS AEBFT AR#ETT AR#ETT
201951518 8,188 5,978 408 2,289 738 17,601
FREBRINEHN
EERIE (WEF9) (4,389) (338) (77) (14) - (4,818)
201951283188
EERAEE 3,799 5,640 331 2,275 738 12,783
11202051518 3,799 5,640 331 2,275 738 12,783
EREBEAR/
0k MiFELE
EBIRERIE (H:29)
1,981 (339) 348 (40) 91 2,041
220201283188
EEREEE 5,780 5,301 679 2,235 829 14,824

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has tax losses arising
from PRC of RMB1,051,268,000 (2019: RMB1,081,481,000)
that would expire in one to five years and other deductible
temporary differences of RMB119,234,000 (2019:
RMB120,883,000) that were available for offsetting against
future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses and deductible temporary
differences as it is not considered probable that taxable profits

will be available against which they can be utilised.

R2020F12831H  AEBRERBEF
E-#BR—ZERERIPNRIBEEA
FE#1,051,268,0007T (20194 : AR
1,081,481,0007t) Kz & fih o] 108, & B =
FBAR®E119,234,0007T (2019 : AR
#%120,883,0007c) » AJ A LUK #4 R 2k &
RRAE o AR A EFEB AT AR SE
FERMAE B LURDE &8 K A0
B R ERE AR E AR R ATl
B EBREDRERIBEE -
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

18.

19.

206

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets related to the PRC subsidiaries have been
provided at the enacted corporate income tax rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in PRC. The requirement has been effective from 1 January
2008 and applied to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
withholding tax rate for the Group is 10%.

As at 31 December 2020, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group's subsidiaries established in PRC. In the opinion of the
Directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials R4

Spare parts and consumables BELRHREED
Finished goods AR &

Others HAith

Provision for inventories FEEE

18.

19.

IRIETRIE (@)
HOEFAREMNEEREEEDR
25% B4 B 4B > TSI 12 o

RIEPEBRRARERAER &R &
ERFTETERILINE B EFHNIE
BEENREHBI0%MTENR - 2R
EEH2008FE1F1BREER  LEA
2007F12831B BB &P EHE
SNEREEMED G EEERE
WE > JEEERRENTEINRE - HA
EEME  BAARESRI0%-

R20205F 128318 AL B = AL
Y TFRABIABMTENR K ERRF]
ms  MEREDEZEENCEINRNAER
HIRIERIBEE -EFHRAE ZETRT
TRAENRAIRBRDIRZERF]

=78
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AEREFT
3,549 8,213
2,236 1,553
56 125
= 19,554
5,841 29,445
(27) (27)
5,814 29,418
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20.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

FE WS BR R
Impairment A

Trade receivables

Trade receivables, net of impairment

W RE

Bills receivables

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. During the year, the Group granted credit terms ranging
from six months to nine months to its customers for sale of self-
produced products and a credit term of six months to its trading
customers. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and
unsecured.

As at 31 December 2020, bills receivables of RMB5,120,000
(2019: Nil) were pledged to secure the Group’s other loans (note
27(c)).

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of each
reporting period, based on the date of revenue recognised and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 3 months 3ERA
3 to 6 months 3E6@EA
6 to 9 months 6E9EA

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R ZR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

FEUER TR - EFHFRIBIE

=

20 Ib\u&l‘Eﬁ'X&ﬁE%y%
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥F T
187,702 215,357
(11,334) (12,813)
176,368 202,544
5,392 -
181,760 202,544

FEEAZRHNEZRREZRRIRT
X-AEEFRNOTEEERPBENT
EARENEANGERE THRTESE
FREBRNERR - BURRBTTR

R AR R o

R2020F12831HB A8 AR
5,120,0007% (20194 : i) HEEIREZHE
EEH (FAXEREMERNER (F

5E27(c)) ©

RERSHR > BRWAERD B B
R (BHRBEAHE BRE DTN T

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AE®FT
176,368 173,543

= 28,844

= 157

176,368 202,544
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HZE2020F12831HIEEE

20.

208

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year REH]
Reversal of impairment, net (note 7) REREFEE (MPsE7)
At end of year RE#

The decrease in the loss allowance was a result of the decrease
of expected credit loss rate.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

20.

FEWERF R EE @)
FIE Ut B 20585 5 B 48 A A B 8 F

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AEEFT
12,813 21,657
(1,479) (8,844)
11,334 12,813

BEER DT ARRERERBELAXT
ERPREL

REREEH AERFN BEFEERES
BREAEREL ETRED T - #HE
XNERZEABRUEERANEF
DERARR] (BN P 4R R K st AR &I 23) BY
BAIRBETE - stE D AR RMAE
ER -EFHERNERSEHNERS
BERBESMH  EFIRRKRE RREH
KRR ANEEMEEEXFER
— MRS > FEUWAR TR0 8 3R e 1 52 58 Al
RATRBPAIR > B G 3N -
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20.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2020

Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount
(RMB'000)

Settlement subsequently
(RMB’000)

Carrying amount subject
to credit risk exposure
(RMB'000)

Expected credit losses
(RMB’000)

As at 31 December 2019

Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount
(RMB’000)

Settlement subsequently
(RMB’000)

Carrying amount subject
to credit risk exposure
(RMB’000)

Expected credit losses
(RMB’000)

BmEBEAEAE

SREABER
(ARBTT)

H&KE
UNES =S o)

EREERRR
REEER
(AR T7T)

BHIEREX
(AR F7T)

MRS AR

IREABER
AR#ETT)

Hig
(ARBTT)

EHEERERS
SREEER
(AR T 7T)

FREAEREE
(ARET7T)
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20. EBWERFKRERE @

TXHEINFBEBERERSHAEBRBK

RRESNEERBRNER

122020 12H31H
Current Past due Total
ENHA BiHA 45t
2.54% 100%
180,498 7,204 187,702
(17,890) - (17,890)
162,608 7,204 169,812
4,130 7,204 11,334
72019%F12831H
Current Past due Total
BIEA %0 HA 485
3.10% 100%
208,153 7,204 215,357
(27,223) - (27,223)
180,930 7,204 188,134
5,609 7,204 12,813
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20.

210

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
Transferred financial assets that are
derecognised in their entirety

As at 31 December 2020, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables to these suppliers
with a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB178,896,316 (2019:
RMB218,863,000) (referred to as the “Derecognised Bills”). The
Derecognised Bills have a maturity term from three to seven
months at the end of the reporting period. In accordance with
the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the
Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if
the PRC banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the
opinion of the Directors, the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills.
Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the
Derecognised Bills and the associated advances on discounting
and trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and
the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised
Bills is equal to their face amounts. In the opinion of the
Directors, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement
in the Derecognised Bills are not significant.

No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year and cumulatively. The
endorsement of bills receivable have been made evenly
throughout the year.

20.

@W,\ETA& 2% (8
A..‘\.IJ:EEWL.\E'JE'.ﬁn%ﬁnﬂ

ﬁé

B2020F12A31H  "EBBEET
HEBHLELTEANBRTEANE
FTREZEE WEERBREAAR
#%178,896,3167C (20194 | AR
218,863,0007t) MIE 2 S IER RN
(T4 IERRERZER ) - RIREHR &Ik
BRAEZEABH=-ZEtER -RBHIHNE
oA WP ENIRITEL BIAR IERRE
BEREEAEROEAERREEN ((FE

MBH) -BEERD FAEECKKILRE
REBNEBAS D ABRRERER R

IEEBUHRBA LR EE AN

BRREMNEROEMRASE &
ERASKIERIBZBENFELESERA

BhoZE ?%Jtﬁﬁ;?f?ﬁéﬂ’]%ﬁﬁfﬁiﬁém

MAZERINER RSN HmER-
EERA ZK%@*T K IEFER RIBEVF
BH2HENATERK

MERTETSEEBEARRFT R
HER - BREBOMENBEFES
(R o
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21.

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

Due from related parties:
Trade receivable

— Huili Caitong
Dividend receivable

— Huili Caitong

Due to related parties:
Non-trade in nature
— Yanyuan County Xiwei Mining
Co., Ltd. ("Yanyuan Xiwei")

— Longwei Hotel Management
Co., Ltd. (“Longwei Hotel")

— Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co.,
Ltd. ("Chuan Wei")

— Trisonic International

— Mancala Resources Pty Ltd.
(“Mancala Resources”)

— Martin Kyne Consultants Pty Ltd.
- Skanworth Pty Ltd.

— Akerman and Elliott Family Trust

Dividend payable
— Huili Caitong

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

M BEH 5 7R -

FE U BR X
—GEIE

FEW AR 2
—gEiE

JEIT BT 57008 -
FEZME

— R TR E
EREMERH
(T8RP )

— I NBERCE S
BIEFRAT
(TBERLE E J)

—UIE N EEE
BRAR (THE)

— B BIBIE

—Mancala Resources
Pty Ltd. (T Mancala
Resources J)

—Martin Kyne
Consultants Pty Ltd.

—Skanworth Pty Ltd.

—Akerman and Elliott
Family Trust

EAiRE
—2EHE

DT -
neEEm o
JEREEB o
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21. HLRREE TS R4S ER

2020 2019

20204 20194

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
[ ARETFT AR¥F T
(i) 8,929 4,940
(viii) - 17,156
8,929 22,096

(i) - 1,332
(iv) - 10
(v) 1,736 439
(ii) 2,132 2,447
(vi) - 7,617
(vii) = 1,319
(vii) - 1,319
(vii) = 1,319
(viii) 7,680 24,836
11,548 40,638

3,868 40,638

7,680 —
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21.

212

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
(Continued)

Notes:

U]

(iii)

(vii)

(viii)

Huili Caitong and Trisonic International are ultimately controlled
by the same beneficial owners. The balance due from Huili
Caitong as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 represented trade
receivables on the rendering of consultancy and management
services by the Group.

The balance due to Trisonic International as at 31 December
2020 and 2019 mainly represented an interest-free loan granted
by Trisonic International, which was repayable on demand.

Yanyuan Xiwei is a company controlled by Chuan Wei. The
balances due to Yanyuan Xiwei as at 31 December 2019
represented certain expenses paid by Yanyuan Xiwei on behalf of
Aba Mining.

Longwei Hotel and Trisonic International are ultimately
controlled by the same beneficial owners. The balance due to
Longwei Hotel as at 31 December 2019 represented a rental
payable to Longwei Hotel for the operating lease of office
premises by the Group.

Chuan Wei and Trisonic International are ultimately controlled
by the same beneficial owners. The balances due to Chuan
Wei as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 mainly comprised staff
remuneration paid by Chuan Wei on behalf of Sichuan Lingyu
and Aba Mining.

Mancala Resources is a company controlled by the directors and
one employee of MHPL. The balance as at 31 December 2019
represented an interest-free loan granted by Mancala Resources,
which was repayable on demand. As at 31 December 2020, the
outstanding balance of RMB7,735,000 has been classified to
liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale.

These are individually entrusted by each of two directors and
one employee of MHPL, respectively. The balances as at 31
December 2019 represented interest-free loans granted to
MHPL, which were repayable on demand. As at 31 December
2020, the outstanding balance of RMB4,037,000 has been
classified to liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for
sale.

These dividends were proposed and declared before the
completion of the disposal of the Disposed Group and were
payable to Huili Caitong.

BLRR G 7T R4S B ()

M 5E

(@)

(iii)

(vii)

(viii)
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Mancala Resourcesz—FS i £ FHriE
KHNEER—LEBEFINAT R
201912831 H A BRI MMancala
ResourcesiZtM—E R EEM > BE
ZREIE 22020512831 B KB
BEREAR7,735000cEHBAD
EARBFHENHEEENGES
Al e

ZEGRENIBERNERMLE
Eh—%EESEBZEFT 1L20195F12
A31HWERIEA S FAERIER
MR BB AREERER 122020
F12A31HNAEEHRBARE
4,037,000 EFADEAIFIELE
WHEEENaEER -
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22. RERBRELEEBYUR
PLEDGED DEPOSIT EEREFER
2020 2019
20205 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M 5E AR¥FT AE®EFT
Cash and bank balances BE MIR{T4ERR 32,973 26,689
Less: pledged time deposits for: U TIEEERY
EHATER -
Insurance of bills payable FEAT R 25 -
Other payables H e I8 (a) 303 -
328 -
Cash and cash equivalents HeRRESZEY 32,645 26,689
Note: M -
(a) As at 31 December 2020, deposits amounting to RMB303,000 (a) R2020F12B31H A AR
(31 December 2019: Nil) were restricted to secure the Group's 303,0007T (2019412H31H © #) W
other payables to a construction supplier (note 26). ERZREBIEERAEmMEN —H

ERARENEMRE (H5E26)

The Group's cash and bank balances are denominated in RMB at FAEENRERBITERNSREHAE
the end of each reporting period, except for the following: MAREHE  ETIIFRIBRS
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBEF T
Cash and bank balances MUPHEEENRER
denominated in: RITHEER -
HKD HBTT 614 286
usD E7T 36 49
SGD N o 101 233
VND HWrEE - 48
AUD JBIT - 1,852
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, ARBATEERRARMER AT
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and RIE P ESIMNEB IO RAEE - EE R
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign NEBERE ~EEEHERBRER
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange BETHEXEFNVIRTEARERRA
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct Hthg1o

foreign exchange business.
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22.

23.

24.

214

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSIT (continued)

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Unutilised fixed assets of Specialised
Mining Services

The balance as at 31 December 2019 represented the fair value
less cost to sell of assets held for sale, which comprised part of
plant and equipment of MHPL which would not be utilised in
the current operation.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date or
issuance date, where appropriate, is as follows:

Within 180 days 180K
181 to 365 days 1812 365K
1 to 2 years 1824

2 to 3 years 2E34F
Over 3 years HBiE3F

Trade payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within 180 days.

22.

23.

HERRBBOARDHETEE

24.

RERREEBYUR
BEEHER @
BITRESBRENSHRTERREHE
BT BRI R B - R R BREBHER
EROEERL BN BB RN
R1T0

DEAFKELENEE

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETFTT
= 35,832

12019 12831 HNEHRIERFIFHEE
ENATERHENRET EPEESF
HERKFTERNRREENDDRKE
Rt o

FE& 15 BR R

RBEEMR AERABRVERRENER
HEfs 3 B B A (@A) BUERES DA
L

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
24,664 60,495
1,001 3,283

766 696

203 24

3,859 3,965
30,493 68,463

AEBNBMNEMATEE BERI80
RAEHE -
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. HEaRE
31 December 31 December 1 January
2020 2019 2019
2020F12H31H 2019412831H 201918 1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREETT AR¥F T AREFT
Short-term advances received B UWE PGB
from customers
Rendering of specialised B IEKEERRM
mining services from EERRRE
discontinued operations - 5,820 5,811
Sale of self-produced FERESEBIHE
high-grade iron concentrates B E &= fa i # 15 7&
from continuing operations 2,277 - -
2,277 5,820 5,811

The movement of contract liabilities in continuing operations

for the year ended 31 December 2020 was mainly due to the

increase in short-term advances received from customers in
relation to the sale of self-produced high-grade iron concentrate

at the end of the year.

Changes in contract liabilities during the reporting periods are as

follows:

At 1 January

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning
of year from discontinued operations

Increase due to cash received, excluding
amounts recognised as revenue during
the year

At 31 December

K1A1H

SIAFVERIEEEER SN
BENEEEA

HEWIREmEMN - T EEFRN
DR AW A BIRIE

M12831H
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BHNENaREHTERNERMBE
HESRUEABEERELNEHER
e

BNEERBSHANEHNT :

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AE®BFT
5,820 5,811
(5,820) (5,811)
2,277 5,820
2,277 5,820
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Current portion: MEEE

Payables related to: R THIEB N ENRIE:
Construction in progress EETRE
Taxes other than income tax FRFTSIR MR IE
Exploration and evaluation assets RBERTEEE
Payroll and welfare payable FEAS 3 & B 1@ A

Consultancy and professional fees B REFEE

Deposits received [Salveiis

Accrued government surcharges fE ST BUS MY 0 &

Accrued interest expenses fESTR B X

Other payables HMEA IR

Non-current portion: FETRENE S -

Other payables HMEARIE

Note:

(a) As at 31 December 2020, deposits of RMB303,000 (31
December 2019: Nil) (note 22) were restricted according
to the civil ruling to secure the Group's other payables of
RMB2,218,000 (31 December 2019: Nil) to a construction
supplier.

26. HfthfE I RIE K fEStRRIA

31 December 31 December

2020 2019

20205 20194

12831H 128318

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TT AEREFT
(a) 24,217 19,655

8,586 23,616

8,922 7,456

10,307 8,770

2,141 4,455

4 4

4,529 4,529

107 111

4,441 19,794

63,254 88,390

700 849

700 849

63,954 89,239

M -
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27. A ERITREMER
LOANS
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
20204 20194
12831H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
IS ARET T AR®ETF T
Bank loans — Secured RITEM—F IR (a) 79,615 83,770
Bank loans — Unsecured RITER—EIEH (b) - 179
Other loans — Secured Hitt 8 —HigH (0 5,120 -
Other loans — Unsecured HAE R — Mg (d) = 15,298
84,735 99,247
Current liabilities mENEE (84,735) (99,247)
Analysed into: pakiid I
Bank loans repayable: JER T3 BT 1E#E
RITER
Within one year or on demand —FERNFEEKX 79,615 83,949
Other loans repayable: FEF TR 15 =69
BME#
Within one year or on demand —ERDEEK 5,120 15,298
84,735 99,247
2020 2019
20205 20194
(Effective interest rate)
=y E)
Bank loans RITEM 4.35% 2.40%-4.35%
Other loans HMEMR 5.51% 0.00%

2020 8 | TENKEEHEERAT 217 <



-

Notes to the Financial Statements
B T ¥R FR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
LOANS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The Group’s bank loans are secured by:
Mining rights of Maoling Mine  FEZa I IEAVERIE

(b) The balance as at 31 December 2019 mainly represented the
unsecured bank loan for the compensation insurance of workers
in Australia with a one-year term ended on 1 July 2020 at the
annual interest rate of 2.4%.

(c) The balance mainly represented the short-term loan granted by a
third party to Aba Mining at the annual interest rate of 5.51%.
The loan is secured by bills receivable of RMB5,120,000 and due
for repayment on or before 29 April 2021.

(d) The balance as at 31 December 2019 mainly represented an

interest-free loan granted by Sapphire Corporation Limited, a
non-controlling shareholder of Mancala Holdings, to Mancala
Holdings Pty Ltd. The loan is unsecured and due for repayment
on demand.

As at 31 December 2020, there were no unsecured other loan
and bank loan, whereas the secured bank loan and other loan
were denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2019, the
unsecured other loan and bank loan were denominated in AUD,
whereas the secured bank loan was denominated in RMB.

SREIRITREMER @
fe 5% -

(a) AEBRTERUTIIEL FIR

#

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBFT

(Amount of bank loans)

(R7TE 7 58)

79,615 83,770

(b) ZER2019F 12831 A& SR T B
%N T AR ERRE H R EIEE
RITEN —FHRER2020F7A1
BEm » FFER2.4%

(0 DA ETEIER—RLE =R TS
BENRPER FFER551%
ZEEMUARES,120,0007THY fE
WEREIR > 522021548 29H
HZATEIHAEE

(d) ZER2019F 12831 BEHEEE
BittEERAS (e RNk
ERERR E8) 3% FMancala Holdings Pty
Ld R EBR -ZEERARIEE
T BEEEREE -

112020512831 BiEEIEFENEAM
BERERIRTER BIRERTERKREA
HERAUARKSHE - 1R2019F128
MH BIEREMERRIBITEMLUR
TLEHE BIRFRITERIUARE ST
Eo
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28. PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION

At beginning of year
Unwinding of discount (note 6)
Additions

At end of year

29. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

Authorised:
10,000,000,000
(2019: 10,000,000,000)
ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each

Issued and fully paid:
2,249,015,410 (2019: 2,249,015,410)
ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as

follows:

At 1 January 2020
Issue of new shares

At 31 December 2020

REA)
FRIR O (5E6)
=1

IS

i 1n

EE

10,000,000,0008%
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28. EEREEE

(20194 : 10,000,000,0004%)

SREEIETNEER

ERITRERE :

2,249,015,4108%

(20194F : 2,249,015,4108%)

SREECIEBTHNIZER

202051818
EITH AR

7202051283 1H

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREEF T
12,847 1,833
807 (358)
- 11,372
13,654 12,847
29. g7
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBEF T
880,890 880,890
197,889 197,889
KABIRALEHHEEZNT :

Number of Issued
shares in issue capital
2RITRHEE BRITRE

RMB'000

AR¥EFTT

2,249,015,410 197,889
2,249,015,410 197,889
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30.

220

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

2009 Option Scheme

On 4 September 2009, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2009 Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2009 Option Scheme include the directors,
including non-executive directors, and other employees of the
Group.

2010 Option Scheme

On 15 April 2010, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2010 Option Scheme”), and simultaneously terminated
the operation of the 2009 Option Scheme (such that, no
further options shall thereafter be offered under the 2009
Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions of the
2009 Option Scheme shall remain in force and effect). Eligible
participants of the 2010 Option Scheme include directors, chief
executives, substantial shareholders or employees (whether
full time or part time) of any member of the Group and any
persons whom the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the development and growth of
the Group. The 2010 Option Scheme remained in force for 10
years from that date until 14 April 2020.

The maximum number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
under the 2010 Option Scheme to each eligible participant in
the 2010 Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited
to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

30.

B 1n BRfE 51 8

2009F HARE 5T &1

200949848 > & A T IRM—IBERH
HARESHB) (T 20004 HBHESH B1)) » B U3
B R 5] 8% 4 s £ B 1 B THAT % 1 2 2
HAERSE A+ o 2009F B HBIK
SERBEALTOEES (OEENT
) REMAEERS -

2010F HARE T3

12010548158 » A B RN — B
HAREETE) (T 20N 0FHARE ST E)) » BIRFAR
IEFETT2009F FA#E 5+ &) (BEHB B
TR¥R2009F A 51 2145 K HAHE > 182009
FHREN MR EEMBEM A mES
BE+RB N RKAER) c2010FH# 12|
NEERSEATBERAEBRTAMRE
NENERE - BRETHAE - TEREY
EHIARBEE UREFTZ2HNG
RAEGRAFEHAERNERKIER
EEBEEBIEM A 2010F 255121
PHZEHESFIOFERNMAER BEEZ
EEFEMA+HEAALE

RIF2010F BAMESH 8> PMEMI121E R &
BIAE2010F B TR ER S A
ATERERERHOAEETERSE
TRAEATETHRD RSB UG
REHBRARSEEHITRMHNI%A
ReE—FHEBBBZ LRARM AR
ARRRIRREARG LHE
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30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

2010 Option Scheme (Continued)

Share options granted to Directors, chief executives, substantial
Shareholders or any of their respective associates are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
the independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees
of the options). In addition, any grant of share options to
substantial Shareholders or independent non-executive Directors
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue on the date of offer with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares quoted on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at the date
of grant) in excess of HKD5 million made within any 12-month
period from the date of grant (inclusive) would be subject to
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HKD1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors that no option may be exercised more than 10 years
from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board of Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of shares of the Company; (i) the average
closing price of the Company's shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the share options;
and (iii) the Hong Kong Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company's shares on the date of grant of the share options.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Az HAME S8 (@)

2010 HAfESTE ()

BEF - RETHRAE - ETZ2RFARK
EXREREMBHBEARBROER A
NEBIFATESE FTaEBHREA
BRABIIFATES) #E 15 I
REGBH (BEER) B5HEMA12ME
RAHBARTFEERRUBILIFNTE
ERREFLZEEEABBEANEARD S
EEBARZNEREARATIEETRMNH
0.1% > U 4818 (B 1 & B H P PR R
KRB ROV FEHBRANETEFH)
BHESEEAT WATRREAG LES
BREHLE o

RHROAENEZENFTIHAZNBERIE
st28 0 MM AR AR AR () AR B
AXNEHIBTHSRAXAEB-FAEY
ROPENITERRESEEE  HHE
BMAERRHBHmI0FERIT/E-

ROEENTEEHEFEET KT
BERTISETNESE ()VERER
PEE (VAR RMKEBERFLRN
HEAMALERZ BN TFHRHE
Reii)Z A B A0 B 1R HH B 7 HA 7 B HRRY
ERABMZPARTHE-
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30.

222

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

2020 Option Scheme

On 16 June 2020, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2020 Option Scheme”).
the 2020 Option Scheme include directors, chief executives,
substantial shareholders or employees (whether full time or part
time) of any member of the Group and any persons whom the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will

Eligible participants of

contribute to the development and growth of the Group. The
2020 Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that
date, unless otherwise cancelled or amended.

At 31 December 2020, no share options have been granted to
any eligible participants since the adoption of the 2020 Option
Scheme.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2009
Option Scheme and the 2010 Option Scheme during the year:

As at 1 January 2020 1202061 81H

— 2009 Option Scheme —2009F HAtE s &I

- 2010 Option Scheme —20105F fAtE T2l
Forfeited during the year F PRI

- 2009 Option Scheme — 2009 HARE AT &I

- 2010 Option Scheme —2010FHAE 5T &

As at 31 December 2020 72020%FE12831H

30.

Notes

M5t

D HAREST 2 ()

2020F HATE TR

122020568 168 » & A B IR — B (5
HRRESHEI (T 2020 HAMEET 1) ©20204F
BN EERSEATBEAER
FAMREATDNES BRTHAE X
ZREXNEHAFRBEE URESE
EHRNERAGLHABF T HAEERE
BREEEFLRERNEMAL BRIES
TR IEET » T RI2020F HAME 51 B35
PEZER0ERDBABE N

72020F12831H > B #2020F #A%E
SRR BEATAEERSHALT
B H TR AR D HA#E -

RERNRIEE2009F B 518 5220104
BRI M RITENRMEAEN T ©

Weighted

average Number
exercise price of options
HKD per share ‘000
MiEFI9ITEE HAREEE
sREHET T4
4.99 1,400

2.01 27,100
4.99 (1,400)
2.02 (11,500)

2.00 15,600
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HE2020F12831HLEEE
30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 30. R HARESTEl @)
2020 Option Scheme (Continued) 2020 HAME ST B (®)
Notes: Mk -
(a) The share options outstanding as at 1 January 2020 represented (a) 7220201 B 1 H # R ITERI AL (D HR
share options granted under the 2009 Option Scheme and the {8 ABIR20105F481H ~ 201145
2010 Option Scheme by the Company on 1 April 2010, 23 May B23H &%2014F4815H 1R 20094
2011 and 15 April 2014 at the exercise prices of HKD4.99, HAREST 8 K201 OF HARE B B 0 B2 1T
HKD3.60 and HKD1.00 per share, respectively. EEERRMNA.99%8 7T 3.608 TR
1.00 o iE B 15 BB A o
(b) The following share options under the 2009 Option Scheme (b) 722020 128331H > 2009F EA#ESTE
as at 31 December 2020 were lapsed upon the expiry of the TRITERRE R BT R8I 15 HARE YD
exercise period: T
Exercise
Number of price per
options Share Exercise period
sRERM
HEHE TEE 1T1EHA
‘000 HKD
145 I
700 4.99 01 October 2012 to 31 March 2020
20124108 1H%E20205%3831H
700 4.99 01 April 2015 to 31 March 2020
2015F481HZE2020%63H31H
1,400
(0 The following share options granted to two employees under (0) 2010 HAKEE B TIEFMAREE N
the 2010 Option Scheme were lapsed following their resignation NIREERNE TR M EBRN
during the year: T
Exercise
Number of price per
options Share Exercise period
sRERM
HEHE TEE 1T1EHA
‘000 HKD
145 I
4,500 3.60 23 May 2013 to 22 May 2021
201358230 E20214F5822H
3,500 1.00 15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
201441081508 £2024F48 148
1,750 1.00 15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015F48515HE2024F48 148
1,750 1.00 15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015108158 £2024F4814H
11,500
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30.

224

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019

are as follows:
2020
Number of
options
HARERE
‘000
TF15
6,000
4,800

2,400

2,400

15,600

Exercise
price per
Share
SRRH
TEE
HKD
AT

3.60

1.00

1.00

1.00

30. RIDHAEETE @

122020 12831HX2019% 128318 H
RITHEHRDEBENITHEERITHERN
T

20204

Exercise period

1T1EHA

23 May 2013 to 22 May 2021
2013858230 £2021§5822H
15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
20144108158 £2024%F4814H
15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015548158 £202454H14H
15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
20154 10H15H £20245F4H14H
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 30. R HARESTEl @)
2019 20194
Number of Exercise price per
options Share Exercise period
FRED
HREsE TEE 1T HA
‘000 HKD
T4 BT
700 4.99 1 October 2012 to 31 March 2020
20124108 1HE2020F3831H
700 4.99 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2020
2015545 1HE2020563H31H
10,500 3.60 23 May 2013 to 22 May 2021
2013458238 F202145822H
8,300 1.00 15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
20145108 15HE2024F4H14H
4,150 1.00 15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015548150 £2024F4814H
4,150 1.00 15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024

20155108150 E2024%F4814H

28,500

The Group had 15,600,000 share options exercisable as at 31 R2020F12HB31H XEEB

December 2020 (2019: 28,500,000) and the weighted average 15,600,00017 (20194 : 28,500,0001%)

exercise price was HKD2.00 per share (2019: HKD2.15). BT 1T MMEFEHITEE
#EREMN2.0087T (20194 : 2.158
7T) °

The Group did not recognise any share option expense during F ANEE W EER TR IBERS

the year (2019: Nil). (20194 : f®) o
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 30. RRipHAEETE @)
The fair values of equity-settled share options granted were RHNREGEROBENAFEESR
estimated and valued by independent professional valuers as FHHBAEBIIEXHEMUZERER
at the dates of grant, using the binomial model, taking into BEtRtE EFEE EELAENE
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were A TRIWHZEXMBNEE
granted. The following table lists the major inputs to the model EAE
used:

Equity-settled share options granted on

T B AR R AR A AR (7 B 4

15 April 23 May 1 April 29 December
2014 2011 2010 2009
20145 20115 20105 20094
4H15H 5823H 4H1H 12829H
Dividend yield (%) AR B (%) 2.17 2.07 1.36 1.41
Expected volatility (%) TEHAR 18(%) 49.47 62.40 66.40 68.56
Risk-free interest rate (%) & & F) % (%) 2.270 2.430 2.788 2.652
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical AR IR & MR E PR IR Th R AR B 1548
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not HNEBEZ T—EABRER-
necessarily be the actual outcome.
No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into FFEATERSRS KEEEHAENE
the measurement of fair value. (UESI=E
At 31 December 2020, the Company had 15,600,000 share 1R20205F12831H > A AFRIEK2010
options outstanding under the 2010 Option Scheme. The FHIREEHE)E15,600,00017 i R ITEHE R
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under HEE - BREBEARBREFEARREE X
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue HITHE B RITERMDBESZ SRS
of 15,600,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and 2%1715,600,000 A QAR B UK E
additional share capital of HKD 1,560,000 and share premium of HEEEINIE 1,560,000 T & IR 1D EE
HKD29,640,000 (before issue expenses). 29,640,000 ¢ GRINPREETTRES) ©
At the date of approval of these financial statements, the AZEBERRENEZB  ARAR
Company had 15,600,000 share options outstanding, which 15,600,00017 B AR ITER D EARE > HE
represented approximately 0.69% of the Company’s shares in RZBENEARBEBEITRNA0.69% °

issue as at that date.
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31.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in the financial
statements.

(@) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
Under the constitutional documents and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
distributable as dividend on the condition that the
Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in
the ordinary course of business at the time the proposed
dividend is to be paid.

(b) Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries,
each of the PRC subsidiaries other than Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profits after tax,
as determined in accordance with the PRC Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (the “PRC GAAP"),
to the statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR™) until such
reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

As Sichuan Lingyu is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise,
according to the Rules for the Implementation of
Foreign-funded Enterprise Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of Sichuan Lingyu, Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve
fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

The SSR and the SRF are non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation and subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations. They can be used
to offset accumulated losses or capitalised as paid-up
capital.

Notes to the Financial Statements

31.

BT 155 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

A
FEERFAEERBEFENRFESER
RESFHRMBERENEEREEHE
25e

(a) RRMPEEIR
B aERNERAZHEREA
BFEEE -REABEREXHK
MBS RBE Ik EIKR
B RAREEHANENB B %
BARPNEEREIBNSZNZSE
BEENBER T BROBEIES

EEDIKe

(b) ZEERES
BRABEABERTETF AR
EE@@E%E%HEW%@J%@
B (IU)IE RSN B i i
ﬁﬁqﬂlﬁuﬂ‘;‘uﬂ?ﬁlﬁzmﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁé
%'Jff'ﬁﬁﬂo%i/fmmﬁﬁ NG

NECEZEAMEAN
O%Z%Jto

HRmIEN S —ESEEER
FOREPENELEEZEHMA
A m)IEBNRAEERMEA
) InEEAERREARE SR
E'J PECH10% IR BF B EEE
B2 BEERRBZEEZHEM
BARM50%7% ko

BB FEBBABERE
ERFEZHFRTREIIK LR
AT AR R EE MR FRR G o %
EBBEAREREAEHBEA A
ERE RS BRI RERERE
REAR-
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31.

228

RESERVES (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represented the difference
between the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange of or consideration paid for
subsidiaries acquired and the aggregate amount of
the nominal value for the paid-up capital of these
subsidiaries attributable to the owners of the Company
for business combinations under common control.

Safety fund surplus reserve

Pursuant to a Notice regarding Safety Production
Expenditure jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance
and the State Administration of Work Safety of the PRC
in February 2012, the Group is required to establish
a safety fund surplus reserve based on the volume of
mineral ore extracted. The safety fund can only be
transferred to retained earnings to offset safety related
expenses as and when they are incurred, including
expenses related to safety protection facilities and
equipment improvement and maintenance as well as
safety production inspection, appraisal, consultation and
training.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised,
or be transferred to retained earnings should the related
options expire or be forfeited. As at 31 December 2020,
the forfeited share options due to resignation and the
expiry of the exercise period amounted to RMB9,643,000
(2019: RMB15,575,000), which was transferred to
retained profits.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represented the Group’s capital
injection to subsidiaries by way of transfer from retained
profits in 2012.

31.

#1E @

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)
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THEZGHMEEBENEART
EAANZEFRANBEESR
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Z2EEHEH#ME
REFEFEPEBRERZEEE
EEEEEEMN2012E28H4
BHHN—BRNZEEEENE
Mo REBBENFERESNK
UEZEESHEHRE T2ES
RAERRZEEEBASESE
REBEEERALLHAER
MY OEERZRERRER
AREEUARZEEERS T
B RIS BN

A HARE Gk

RO REEEERHEE X
TENKRMDBEENATFE E—
SRR BRKRMNE2.45 B
MRS ABERNCRN Gt
Ko ZMBENEBRRETS
BreE i = IR mER > TR
RARE B M S R ARV B T
EBERN > FE R 12020
F12B31H > R ERTERE
TME RIS EBEAS AR
9,643,0007T (20194 : AR
15,575,0007T) > BEEE B EF
e

RN
ARAEIERE B 20126 58
it B R BRI T8 T A B fF i
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32.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group's subsidiary that has material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest
held by non-controlling interests:
Sichuan Haoyuan

Total comprehensive loss for
the year allocated to
non-controlling interests:
Sichuan Haoyuan

Accumulated balances of
non-controlling interests at
the reporting date:
Sichuan Haoyuan

IR R A
B :
JH/DL

DEEIFE TS E’JEW
SHEEEME%E

mo)IERE

REREHEERIEZERER
RetéEer -

mo)IERE

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial

information of the above subsidiary.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

32. BEEEKRIEERERD

EREFLF
BEEAFIERESNAERF AN
BEEMNUWT
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T

49% 49%

1,127 1,376

294,827 295,954

TERRBUEFABNHEMHER -

2020 2019

20205 20194

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETF T AR®ETF T

Other expenses B (2,300) (2,807)

Loss and total comprehensive FREBEBEREHEEBRE

loss for the year (2,300) (2,807)

Current assets B E 1,707 1,811

Non-current assets FERBEE 659,824 657,703

Current liabilities mEas (59,843) (55,526)
Net cash flows used in REEBERENIRE REFEE

operating activities (1,129) (5,762)
Net cash flows from MEZFAENRESREFRE

financing activities 1,123 5,614

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IRE&KMIREEEY) R FEE (6) (148)
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

230

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB8,066,000
(2019: RMB1,291,000) and RMB8&,066,000 (2019:

RMB1,051,000), respectively,
arrangements for office premises.

Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities

Year ended 31 December 2020

At 1 January 2020 1220201818

Changes from financing MERERELH
cash flows

New lease (note 16 (b)) A (HEt16(b))

Derecognised as a result [ACOVID-19#8RafE &
of Covid-19-rent related BRMAR IEFER
concessions

Interest expense FIRRE

Increase from reclassification ~ EHEF AT EWERN
as a result of disposal of DEETIE M
subsidiaries

Foreign exchange movement 4} [& &4 &}

Liabilities included in AR RS ER
discontinued operations SOR=RET

At 31 December 2020 #2020F12831H

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED

in respect of lease

33. ZRIREMERMGE
(a) FEFREXRS
EW rEEERBAEYE
HEZHNERAREEREE
BEFHESFEDINABARE
8,066,0007T (20194 : AR
1,291,0007t) Kz A\ 168,066,000
7t (20194 : AR 1,051,000
JT) °©
(b) MEFBFFELEAEEGN
o)
HE2020E1283181LEE
Amount
Bank and Interest due to a
other loans payable related party Lease
amount amount provision liabilities
FE{
$RIT R H fth EBERE —%BEHBS
BEREEHE B EE TRIBEE HE&R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBTT ARBTRT AREBTR®
99,247 111 40,638 2,629
3,174 (4,864) (127) (2,875)
- - - 8,066
- - - (254)
- 4,860 - 353
- - (17,201) -
(26) - 10 -
(17,660) - (11,772) (656)
84,735 107 11,548 7,263
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HZE2020F12831HIEEE
33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. RERERERMZE @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) FIEZHFIELXEEDN
financing activities (Continued) 25 @)
Year ended 31 December 2019 HE2019F12B318ILFE
Amount
Bank and Interest due to a
other loans payable related party Lease
amount amount provision liabilities
1T
RIT R HAth EEHE —%EES
BReHE Ea MIEEE HEaR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTRT ARETR
At 1 January 2019 720191818 100,794 100 9,805 -
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 #R 40 E B BF 75 3R & 4 Bl
FI6RNFE (96) - - 4,670
At 1 January 2019 (restated) 72201951818 (& E5) 100,698 100 9,805 4,670
Changes from financing MEREREEH
cash flows (1,451) (4,279) 6,205 (1,717)
New lease WHE - - - 1,051
Interest expense FEMZ - 4,290 - 132
Increase from reclassification ~ EHEF AT EHERMR
as a result of disposal of SEEmmEM
subsidiaries - - 24,836 -
Foreign exchange movement  4MEEH) - - (208) -
Decrease of lease liabilities HEBERHEFAH
as a result of disposal of ik 32%
subsidiaries - - - (1,507)
At 31 December 2019 1220195128318 99,247 111 40,638 2,629
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33.

34.

232

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c¢) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

RS TEEA
RREFEFR

Within operating activities
Within financing activities

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As mentioned in the Company's annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company entered
into a sales and purchase agreement (the “SPA") with Chengyu
Vanadium Titano Technology Ltd. (“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”)
on 29 January 2019 in respect of the disposal of the Disposed
Group with the consideration of RMB550,000,000. Upon the
completion of the disposal on 30 July 2019, the Disposed Group
(i) ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Company and (ii) has
become subsidiaries of Chengyu Vanadium Titano.

As at 31 December 2020, the amount of contingent liabilities
of the Group, which was represented by the maximum
amount the guarantees given by the Company in favour of
the Disposed Group was RMB730,000,000 (31 December
2019: RMB730,000,000) (the “CVT Guarantees”). The CVT
Guarantees were provided by the Company prior to the disposal
to guarantee the indebtedness of the Disposed Group owed
to certain banks and an asset management and financial
services institution (the “Financial Institutions”) in the PRC.
The indebtedness has not been repaid and the CVT Guarantees
has been continued as at 31 December 2020. The Group's
obligations under the CVT Guarantees have been counter-
indemnified by Chengyu Vanadium Titano.

Details about the CVT Guarantees and the counter-indemnity
are included in note 36(b)(i) and (ii) to the financial statements.

ZERERERMFT @

(C) *ﬂﬁmiﬁﬁmt é"@g,ﬁ
HFAREREXRNWEERER

MEEEGNR -
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARET T
614 984
2,875 1,717
3,489 2,701

34. HBEER

AR TEE2019F128318 LEE
HE2FEHFBIRERMM KRB R20195F
18298 8 ANSKBIRERAR (M6
AN ST —H EE W= (FEETWJ
ZE)ORNBEMEEHEER REAA
E1550,000,00075 ° 5220194 7830H
ERHEEFBER BEHEERNO)FABA
A BB FA B K (i) 2 Ba S 8K B9 F
NI

R2020F12B31H AEBEHBEEES
AR #730,000,0007¢ (2019512831
H: AR#730,000,0007T) (BIAAF
MEHEEBEAZ @ AMEFHNERNE
= e (THhEEKIER) o PEEiKiE
REAAQBDNHEFTEFRME  LUER
HEERANTHETRTER—BEE
BERERRFHE (SRIEE)) NE
502020128318 ZEBHEM kK
B MPEERERDAB N - AEEH
B A B S AR N Y RS A AR S EA 1
RBEREE o

BRAMESKIERE R BERENES
B SRR BT 5E36(b) (1) K i)
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35.

36.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for: B4 [BRERH
— Acquisition of mining rights — N BB R B A

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

Revenue generated from 0 & IE A @ IR R

the rendering of consultancy K EERFE AT EE
and management services to BIUA
Huili Caitong

Note:

(i) Huili Caitong and Trisonic International are ultimately

controlled by the same beneficial owners. The
Group has entered into a three-year consultancy and
management service contract with Huili Caitong from
1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020 at a yearly fixed
fee of RMB8,600,000. In arriving at the above service
fee, the Group has considered a third party quotation
for providing similar services and negotiated on an arm'’s
length basis.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

35. BE7AKIE
AEE RS HASRE L RS A R ¢

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AE®FT
1,736 987
1,736 987

36. FAEtIE RS
(a) HBEAMBREREMBHOSIETN
RN REBRERERE S

EITUTRG .
2020 2019
20205 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
== AR¥EFT AR¥EF T
(i) 8,113 3,381
Mzt

(i) SEMBREGAIERHER—
BmMAE ANREES o AEER
BREEMBI L —H=F
BB REERB AN &
#A%2018F 15 1HE20204F
12B31B FEEBTERA
AR #8,600,00077 ° FREEH
TIRBEERR AEEDE
BiIREAEERBENE =F &
B WA FELERER
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36.

(b) Other transactions with related parties

@

Prior to the completion of the disposal, the

Company provided the CVT Guarantees in favour of
the Disposed Group with the aggregate maximum
guaranteed amount of RMB730,000,000. The
principal terms of the CVT Guarantees are set out

as follows:
Lender and
beneficiary of
Borrower the guarantee
fERA ERARERZZA
Huili Caitong China Cinda Asset
Management Co., Ltd,
Sichuan Branch
HIEH@ HEEEEEEERD
BERATMEIIDAF
Huili Caitong Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch
BIEMB FETIHBTROERAE

Xiushuihe Mining

RUDTT

Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch

F IR 2 FETERTROBRAE
RWLD1T

Huili Caitong China Construction Bank
Corporation,
Liangshan Branch

IR B REEZIBITROBRAE

RUDTT

RAEt AR5 )
(b) ERAEAHNEMRKS

0]

Guarantor

#HRA

the Company

/NS

the Company

/NS

the Company

EN/NS]

the Company

EN/NS]
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REREESER > AR

BUBELHEEEAT A

A B S R

EEEREBEAARE

730,000,0007T ° H1 B %

IR E B R E I
T

Maximum

guaranteed

amount

EEiEfRE

RMB'000

AR¥F T

200,000

100,000

30,000

400,000

730,000



36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

37.

(b) Other transactions with related parties

(Continued)

(ii) Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Trisonic
International are ultimately controlled by the
same beneficial owners. A counter-indemnity has
been entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company for the respective period
from 30 July 2019 to the date of the release
of the CVT Guarantees, details of which are
specified in note 36(b)(i). Chengyu Vanadium
Titano’ s inventories (including, but not limited
to, structural steels and coals) with the aggregate
amount of approximately RMB1,067,000,000
have been pledged as security for such counter-
indemnity at 31 December 2020 (31 December
2019: RMB767,000,000).

(c) Outstanding balances with related
parties
Details of the Group's balances with its related parties as
at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note
21 to the financial statements.

(d) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group
Details of Directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments,
including compensation of key management personnel,
are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values are as explained below:

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposit, trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, amounts due from related parties, trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables, interest-bearing
bank and other loans and amounts due to related parties
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.
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236

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the group
finance manager is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to the
financial controller and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the financial controller. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss is based on valuation techniques. The model incorporates
unobservable inputs of the recovery rate. The carrying amount
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is the same
as its fair value.

The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss measured at fair
value required significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. An increase in
the recovery rate would result in the increase in the fair value
of exchangeable notes. The fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group's assets held for sale measured at fair value was
derived from quoted prices in markets that were not active
(Level 2) as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.
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38.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The financial assets of the Group mainly include cash and bank
balances, pledged deposit, trade and bills receivables, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
and amounts due from related parties, which arise directly from
its operations. Financial liabilities of the Group mainly include
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, trade
payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing
bank and other loans.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Risk management is carried out by the finance department
which is led by the Group’s executive directors. The Group's
finance department identifies and evaluates financial risks in
close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The main
risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.

The Group's financial risk management policy seeks to ensure
that adequate resources are available to manage the above risks
and to create value for its shareholders. The Directors regularly
review these risks and they are summarised below.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its exposure to a shortage of funds by
considering the maturity of both its financial liabilities and
financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current assets of
RMB34,406,000.

Regarding 2020 and thereafter, the liquidity of the Group is
primarily dependent on its ability to maintain adequate cash
flows from operations and successfully renew its short-term
bank loans and other loans to meet its debt obligations as they
fall due.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. MBRAKREEBEFKREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TREN I RS (58)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the end RREBPFR ~EBEHREBEENREHN
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted REGIRA BRI T -
payments, is as follows:
2020
20205
Less than 3 to 1to5
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total
BEKR WA3MER 3E12188 1255 =
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT AR®TT ARETT ARETT
Interest-bearing bank & BIRTTREMEMN
and other loans - 854 99,002 - 99,856
Trade payables FE{TBR R 30,493 - - - 30,493
Other payables and ~ HthfEZIERK
accruals fEStRIA 39,832 - - 700 40,532
Lease liabilities HEaE - 929 2,619 4,163 7,711
Due to related parties  FE{JBIH 5T IA 3,868 - - 7,680 11,548
74,193 1,783 101,621 12,543 190,140
2019
20194
Less than 3to 1t05
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total
BER DR3ME A 3Z12{ER 1E55 &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT AREBTT AREBTT
Interest-bearing bank &t BIRITREMER
and other loans - 986 100,979 - 101,965
Trade payables FE{TERIR - 60,495 3,283 4,685 68,463
Other payables and ~ EfhEFIERK
accruals fEsT I 43,623 15,773 - 849 60,245
Lease liabilities HE&E 100 116 1,038 1,375 2,629
Due to related parties  FE{T R /5 =008 40,638 - - - 40,638
84,361 77,370 105,300 6,909 273,940
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group's bank deposits, interest-bearing bank loans and other
loans and exchangeable notes (which are subject to fair value
interest rate risk). The interest rates and terms of repayment of
interest-bearing bank and other loans are disclosed in note 27
to the financial statements.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk exposure
arising from all of its interest-bearing loans through the use of
fixed rates. In addition, the Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge against interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Substantial amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposit are held in major reputable financial
institutions located in PRC, Hong Kong and Australia, which
management believes are of high credit quality. The credit risk
of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise trade and
bills receivables, other receivables and amounts due from related
parties, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Group has no other financial assets which carry significant
exposure to credit risk.

As disclosed in note 4, the Group sells most of the products
to a small number of customers. As a result, it faces a high
level of concentration of credit risk. The Group manages this
risk by offering a six-month credit term to its customers for
the sale of self-produced products and its trading customers
because market conditions remained weak. The Group
maintains strict control over its outstanding receivables and
senior management regularly reviews the overdue balances. In
addition, the Group's exposure to credit risk is also influenced
by the individual characteristics of each customer and default
risk of the industry in which customers operate. During the year,
the Group generated its revenue mainly from the sale of iron
products and trading of steels and coals to the steel producers
and distributors that purchase the Group's products and resell
them to steel producers. In addition, the Group also generated
revenue from the rendering of specialised mining services and
consultancy and management service to other customers. In this
regard, the Group is exposed to the concentration of credit risk
in the steel and iron industries.
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38.

240

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum

38.

exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,

which is mainly based on past due information unless other

information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-

end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts

presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

Trade and bills

receivables*
Financial assets
included in
prepayments,
other receivables
and other assets
- Normal**
- Doubtful**

Cash and cash

equivalents
- Not yet past due
Pledged deposit

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED |
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SERE™M
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EEAR @

BEABRRFEHRE
TRERENAEEESEENESE

FhkesEERE TEERARER
(FFIFEMEBEMNAIERERTTEBRSNAE
FIBENHBERTERS)  URK128318
NWEGHERDE A2 TBRAETME

EARMEARER
5220205128318
12-month
ECLs Life time ECLs
1218 B 7288
EREX SHFEERRX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FE& B 1 RS B2 PEER3 1675 % Bt
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT ARETR ARBTRT ARETRT AR®BTRT
- = - 193,094 193,094
1,233 - - - 1,233
- - 604 - 604
32,645 - - - 32,645
328 - - - 328
34,206 - 604 193,094 227,904
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. MBRMEEBIRKRERE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#)
Credit risk (Continued) EERKE @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) RBEERRFZEE (B)
As at 31 December 2019 2019 12831H
12-month
ECLs Life time ECLs
1218 A T8 A
(VRS SHITEHREREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
R B f B2 F5ES3 B1EA % i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFIT ARBFIT ARBFIT ARBFIT ARBFIT
Trade receivables* FEULBR ZR - - - 215,357 215,357
Financial assets STATEFRIE
included in HM g Ia K
prepayments, HMBEEN
other receivables THEE
and other assets
- Normal** —Eg** 1,705 - - - 1,705
- Doubtful** — B AR - - 2,083 - 2,083
Cash and cash RERREEEY
equivalents
— Not yet past due — R 26,689 - - - 26,689
28,394 - 2,083 215,357 245,834
* For trade and bill receivables to which the Group applies the * MAEEERREREAS ENEIER

*x

simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

* %
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately
16% (2019: 16%) of the Group’s sales were denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating
units making the sale, whilst approximately 15% (2019: 15%)
of costs were denominated in the units’ functional currencies,
mainly from the discontinued operations.

The Group's foreign currency exposures arise primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely HKD,
UsD, AUD, SGD and VND, against the RMB. HKD, USD, AUD,
SGD and VND are the functional currencies of respective entities
within the Group.

The Group does not enter into any hedging transactions
to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
Management monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
when the needs arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0%
change in RMB against HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND,
respectively. The 5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in the foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analyses of the
Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of each
reporting period have been determined based on the adjustment
of translation of the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
each reporting period for a 5.0% change in RMB against HKD,
USD, AUD, SGD and VND, respectively, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax for the year ended
31 December 2020 (due to changes in the fair value of cash and
cash equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss denominated in HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND):
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ¥R ZR B 5

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F12831HIEEE

38. MBAREEREBRRER
(42)
SRR ()

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%FT AREF T
Increase/(decrease) in profit before tax #RAIFIEE M, GRL)

If RMB strengthens against MARERBTET BT
HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND H N TT ket R B R 764 123

If RMB weakens against MARBERABTET B
HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND N T LR EE TS (764) (123)

The Group does not consider that it has any significant exposure
to the risk of fluctuation in the exchange rates between HKD/
USD/AUD/SGD/VND and RMB as a reasonable possible change
of 5% in RMB against HKD/USD/AUD/SGD/VND would have no
significant financial impact on the Group’s profit or loss.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders or raise new capital from its investors.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing financial risk during the year.

The Group will minimise the capital expenditure and renew or
extend its short-term loans as part of capital management. The
Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total equity plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to
keep the gearing ratio between 20% and 40% over the long
term. Net debt is defined as interest-bearing bank and other
loans and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and it
excludes liabilities incurred for working capital purposes. Equity
includes equity attributable to the owners of the Company and
non-controlling interest. As at 31 December 2020, the gearing
ratio was 6.1% (2019: 7.4%).
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. FATIMBEEIRAE

244

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

RREMRERBHHBRREZBERN

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: e
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Office equipment MREFRE 6 6
Right-of-use assets FRESE 167 602
Investments in subsidiaries RFRABNKRE 539,130 464,645
Total non-current assets ERHEELE 539,303 465,253
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Dividend receivable RS 17,157 17,157
Due from subsidiaries FEURF AT FRIE 140,618 225,520
Prepayments, other receivables and FEATFIE ~ U ERIE K
other assets HM&EE 75 75
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEHEEY 540 311
Total current assets MENEEHE 158,390 243,063
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENE R
Due to subsidiaries B F AR 60,391 52,714
Due to the holding company TR A BIFRIE 2,132 2,447
Lease liability HESE 178 314
Other payables and accruals H A FE(I FIB & EET R IE 8,741 7,923
Total current liabilities REIBEEMEE 71,442 63,398
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEIFE 86,948 179,665
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREEE
Lease liability HEAE - 178
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEEE - 178
Net assets BEEEE 626,251 644,740
EQUITY Em
Issued capital BEITRA 197,889 197,889
Reserves (note) s (5 428,362 446,851
Total equity R AR RE 626,251 644,740
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)
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39. XABMMBERAR @

Note: st -
The movements of the Company’s reserves are as follows: RABRENEBUWT -
Share Share
premium option Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
%15 HARE
B A7 5 (B AR & RitEsE A%
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBEFT ARBEFT AREBFT
At 1 January 2019 #2019FE181H 1,877,488 40,144 (1,540,784) 376,848
Transfer of share option TR 0 B RE fE T B i
reserve upon the RAD ARG 05
expiry of share options - (15,575) 15,575 -
Total comprehensive income 4 R 2 E IR & 4228
for the year - - 70,003 70,003
At 31 December 2019 and 720195128318 &
1 January 2020 2020E181H 1,877,488 24,569 (1,455,206) 446,851
Transfer of share option REPHAREE M3
reserve upon the ER W
expiry or forfeiture of R 1n RRTEGE1E
share options - (9,643) 9,643 -
Total comprehensive income 4 & [ I8 & 42 28
for the year - - (18,489) (18,489)
At 31 December 2020 72020F12831H 1,877,488 14,926 (1,464,052) 428,362

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share premium account when the related
options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits
should the related options expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board on 26 March 2021.

ROMBEBEERESRHERRITEN
ROEIENATE E—FPHAEREME
AR 2 4R R U & BB A
G 5T BUR o IR 1 A8 B B 1T (B
REBERGGER NEEABRREE
MBARYNBERTEEEREMH X
BR-

40. HLAEMBHRR

EEEN2021F3826 B HEREHET
BPHHREK
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Five-Year Financial Summary

I EMBHREE

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, is set out below.

Results

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Other expenses
Impairment losses on goodwill
Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment
Impairment losses on
intangible assets
Impairment losses on other
intangible asset
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment
losses on trade receivables, net
Impairment losses on financial assets
included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets

Impairment losses on assets held for sale

Fair value losses on
financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Finance costs

Share of losses of an associate

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income tax credit/(expense)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Loss for the year from
Discontinued Operations

Gain on disposal of
Discontinued Operations

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

RRREEY
A
HEME

£

ESLONCL 6
HERDHERX
TER<

Hftx

HERERSR

WE BERRERESR

EBREERESRE
HttEVEERERR

FEUERFUAERSR
&E/ (BB 28

STATERUE S HthE I
MEREMEER
tRHEERNERR

RFHEEERERR

BRATEBMAZS
STARENEREER
ATEER

BERE

AME—RBERRNER

RESEEHRANE/
(5548)

fiisiiER/ (%)

BECEEBEANE/
(§548)

BRIEGELH
ERIEEEEBENGR

HEBRILBEEHN NG

FRFE/ (B8

MEBERRE

TXHINAERBELBEYREENEE B
E-B8RAFEREDEE HEEEE QMY

REZMFRE -
E 35 |
F=iE
For the year ended 31 December
HENAMHLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20205 20195 20185 20175 20165
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBFT NS NG ST N S N ST
(Re-presented) (Re-presented)
(&5 (&7
488,135 517,637 684,750 877,183 1,833,305
(441,548) (477,107) (634,210) (861,611) (1,790,858)
46,587 40,530 50,540 15,572 42,447
3,864 409 602 1,353 1,442
(4,572) (9,194) (11,284) (15,123) (76,295)
(30,515) (22,034) (34,746) (15,931) (72,028)
(3,212) (417) (2,256) (8,123) (619)
- - (1,071) - (185,195)
- - - (64,884) (200,040)
1,479 8,844 9,898 (10,521) (64,865)
- (604) (23) - -
= - (1,469) (4,525) (78,334)
- - - (109,617) (111,555)
(5,598) (3,139) (8,343) (5,282) (57,322)
- - - (9,458) -
8,033 14,395 1,848 (226,539) (802,364)
250 (6,091) 2,808 4,076 2,853
8,283 8,304 4,656 (222,463) (799,511)
(32,675) (100,914) (453,907) (167,158) -
- 152,997 - - -
(24,392) 60,387 (449,251) (389,621) (799,511)
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hth2EkE /(8§58
INCOME/(LOSS):

Other comprehensive income/(loss) IRARBEENSEE
that may be reclassified to profit or loss ~ BRNEMEE L,/
in subsequent periods: (B#8)

Exchange differences on translation of ~ HBEEHNEBELN
foreign operations ERER

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT/(LOSS) ER2EFIHE / (5518) 45
FOR THE YEAR

Profit/(Loss) attributable to: B/ (BB BB
Owners of the Company EREEBA
Non-controlling interests FERER

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EKE/ (B518) £8
attributable to: BER
Owners of the Company AAFEBA
Non-controlling interests FiERER

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) BERAAESERRE
per Share attributable to BFEANERRNHELRR
ordinary equity holders BaRn,/ (58)
of the Company: (RMB) (AE#T)

- Continuing Operations —HREREEE
- Discontinued Operations —BRIEKEER
Total st

# Less than RMBO0.01

Five-Year Financial Summary

LEMBGRE

For the year ended 31 December

HE12A3HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20205 20195 20185 20175 20165
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

(Re-presented) (Re-presented)

(=5 (&5
(1,770) 743 989 (140) -
(26,162) 61,130 (448,262) (389,761) (799,511)
(17,054) 69,199 (443,969) (349,490) (773,742)
(7,338) (8,812) (5,282) (40,131) (25,769)
(24,392) 60,387 (449,251) (389,621) (799,511)
(18,489) 69,800 (443,161) (349,603) (773,742)
(7,673) (8,670) (5,101) (40,158) (25,769)
(26,162) 61,130 (448,262) (389,761) (799,511)
- —H —# (0.08) (0.37)
(0.01) 0.03 (0.20) (0.08) -
(0.01) 0.03 (0.20) (0.16) (0.37)

DR ART0.015T
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Five-Year Financial Summary

LFEMBGRE

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests

BEE -BERIFERER

As at 31 December

®12A318

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

20205 2019 20184 20174 20164

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT

Non-current assets ERBEE 913,733 944,738 923,027 2,100,096 2,162,708

Current assets REEE 311,899 325,194 1,522,820 935,779 1,118,448

Non-current liabilities FRBHER (25,352) (15,071) (19,133) (347,513) (11,924)

Current liabilities piizp=E (284,828) (313,247) (1,533,018) (1,343,257) (1,597,277)

Total equity A% 915,452 941,614 893,696 1,345,105 1,671,955

Non-controlling interests FERER (289,201) (296,874) (318,959) (324,198) (353,782)
Equity attributable to owners of GBRRAABEE ANER

the Company 626,251 644,740 574,737 1,020,907 1,318,173
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“1H2020"
F20204 B4

“2010 AGM”
2010 REBFANE

“2019 Disposal”

F2019F HEEIE)

“2019 EGM”

F2019F IREEAF R A&

“2020 AGM”
F2020F REBFANE

“2021 AGM”
2021 REBFANE

“2H2020"
F20205 ~H4F)

"Aba Mining”

I 3R i =

"Aba Prefecture"
T[] 388 N

“Akuang Trading”

e =R

"Anhydrite”
MEKEE]

"Articles”

4B

Glossary
e =
5A) S

the 6 months period ended 30 June 2020
#E20209F68308 (L7518 B #i R

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting held on 15 April 2010
FR2010F4B8 15BETHREBFTRE

the sale transaction of the Caitong Group from Sichuan Lingyu to Chengyu
Vanadium Titano which was entered into on 29 January 2019 and completed on
30 July 2019
2019518298 5T 52201947830 FE Ak HIU) IDE T A Aloa S SE B & B 38
EENXS

the Shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting held on 28 June 2019
1220196828 B E1THREFRIKE

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting held on 16 June 2020
1220206 B 16 B ETHREBF ARG

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting to be held on 29 June 2021
Bi2021F6 B29B B 1ITHREBF RS

the 6 months period ended 31 December 2020
#ZE2020F 128318 /@A #

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 27
February 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FRIBEEXBRAT > —BR2004F 28278 EFERUNERET QG AHER
BNEEEE T AT

Aba Tibetan and Qiang Autonomous Prefecture

o] 355 7l 1k T 1 B R N

Huili County Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 13 June 2012 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

ZREBRMEEZBRAT —BR2012F6B13BEFEMRIIMNERSEAR
RAEAANBINEZEL2E T AT

an anhydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSOa
— B KR EE B R YY) » 158202 CasS0a

the articles of association of the Company, adopted on 4 September 2009 and as
amended from time to time
AN BT 2009F9 54 H ERAN I AR BB STV AR A = A2 40 B
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Glossary

Gl

"Australian dollars” or “"AUD"
MRt

"Board”
==

"BVI"
RERY S

"“Caitong Group Companies”
M B EE A B

“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”

Pk a0 #8450

“China” or "PRC"

TFhE

“China VTM Mining”, “Company”,

“our”, "us” or “we"”
MR E#igk) ~ TR A B
T
"Chuanwei”
)R
"close associates”
3 YN
“Companies Law”
ABE]

“Completion”
M5ERLJ

the lawful currency of the Commonwealth of Australia
TRAF B IREE B

the board of Directors
N

The British Virgin Islands
HERZES

any company(ies) in the Caitong Group
MBEEENEARR

Chengyu Vanadium Titano Technology Ltd.*, formerly known as Weiyuan Steel
Co., Ltd.*, a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC on 3 April
2001 and a connected person to the Group

AN SRR AR AT FIBRZEEEE R AR) > —ER2001F4838EHEIRL
UWPRIIEERLSbE RAERNBAEALT

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
PEARSE RAERME  FRESS TERFIBITHERA Y

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008

RS EZEEEBRAS > —EiR2008F4828HTHEHEFMMIINEIR
YN

Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 29 March 1998 and a connected person to the Group
MINENEREEBRAB —MBR1998F3A29B8 EREMIINBRETAE
RAEBNBEEAL

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B ERRAPME TR E

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands
MEBEZAIE28EREE (1961575413 > BIRE KIEST)

Completion of the 2019 Disposal on 30 July 2019
12201978308 EM2019F tHEE A
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"

“connected person(s)
MREE AT

“Continuing Operations”
ST A Sk 2

"Controlling Shareholder(s)”

HERRR]

"CVT Guarantees”

e [ 350 S HE 1R

"Director(s)”

&%)

"Disposal Group”

MEEER)

"Discontinued Operations”

MERIEREER

“Exploration Result(s)”

Glossary

Gl

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B ERRAFTE T 89H &

operations of the Remaining Group

REEBNER

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and in the context of this
annual report, refers to Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs. Wang Jin,
Shi Yinjun, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Zhang Yuangui and Li Hesheng
B KRB TR ER > siARERM S » 55 8B ~ Kingston Grand ~ E¥5%
T RIRERE-BABRE RXRELE REERERFNBLE

guarantees given by the Company in favour of the Caitong Group guaranteeing,
inter alia, the indebtedness owing by the Caitong Group Companies to certain
banks and an asset management and financial services institution in the PRC with
maximum guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million.
ARABUMBEERRT T AMFENER BREPSE BREEEATGEXH
BEFRTUA—EEEEEREMBEGHBNES RoEREE/MARE
730.0B8 7T

director(s) of the Company or any one of them

KABERN—RHAZRESR

refers to the Caitong Group and / or the Mancala Group, as applicable

EEER /HEFUER WER)

refers to operation of the Low-Fe Mining Operation from 1 January 2019 up to
the date of Completion and operation of the Specialised Mining Services for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, as applicable
H2019F 1 A1 HEEETA B AR ENESRUESEHEEU R E2020F
F2019F 12831 HIEFEMNEXRRRBEE WMER)

exploration results(s) include(s) data and information generated by mineral
exploration programmes that might be of use to investors but which do not form
part of a declaration of mineral resources or ore reserves
BEEROEMRITFREEN IHEEEFERET FRABEE RENELH
EEXRESBONEBEMNER

chemical symbol of iron element

BT RMCERR
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Glossary

Gl

“FY2019”"
F20198F L E |

“FY2020"
F20208f U |

"Group”
MREE)

"Gypsum”
s

“High Fe Mines”
M&#m g%

“High-Fe Mining Operation”
M= 8 m R 5 275

“Hong Kong”
&%)

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HKD"
ez Sl

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”
& B P

“Huili Caitong”

“IFRSs”

MER [ B 5 4R 5 22 A1

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2019, as applicable

HZE2019F 12831 HIEHBEE R,/ HHF20194£12831H (WEH)

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2020, as applicable

HZE2020F 12831 HIEHBERE R, 5R202086E128318 (@ER)

the Company and its subsidiaries
KABKRHEFRE

a soft hydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSOa4 e 2H.0
—TBME QKR EEY) > (E2 K RCasS04 © 2H20

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and Maoling Processing Plant

EE-FRUBBERERRER

refers to operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron concentrates within
the range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe
HETFeEEN FE5%E2%M B ES M E AR ER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEEAFITHE

the lawful currency of Hong Kong
EBLEEEE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBEXZBRAE

Huili County Caitong Iron and Titanium Co., Ltd.*, established in the PRC on
7 July 1998 and has been a foreign equity joint venture in the PRC since 29
December 2010, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company till 30 July
2019
BERYBARBREET LT 11998FE7B7HEHREIAI 1 52010612829
HEMRATENIIEEELERE BEE201947A308A AKX ARANEES
BHFRHA

International Financial Reporting Standards, which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board and
the International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee
that remain in effect

BB EER S MAEMBRERE S ERIESEHAERNEI REE Y
REEEREGEEZE G ENBRG SRR K EHREEEGRE
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Glossary

Gl

“Indicated” part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape
and physical characteristics are estimated with sufficient confidence to allow the
application of modifying factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning and
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

M2t ] 5 BEERTERANE il (NEE) BE-FRAKBREUHOEERMLSNE
Do UBEERERRFBNEITRER  IFHRBNEERS RIETRAREE 1T
1 SF A

“Inferred” part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade (or quality) are estimated

on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence
is sufficient to imply but not verify geological and grade (or quality) continuity.
It is based on exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through
appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes

THEER) 15 BEERVTAEBOHERRMU (NES) JREERENMEEBEMREMLEHE
Do MEEERENRSE (BIFZE) E Rl (REE) NEES - ZLE2IRE
TR BER TR TR B8 K 18 7L 35 3 B LU B BT UR SR O B R ~ SR R R
EREMEY

“iron” a silvery-white, lustrous, malleable, ductile, magnetic or magnetisable, metallic
element occurring abundantly in combined forms, notably in hematite, limonite,
magnetite, and taconite, and alloyed for use in a wide range of important
structural materials

K= 15 —BIRABMN A E- B -PIIER - BN REENEB TR UEE
MERAKREEFET FEAFHE -BHBE HEBEKAS TASBBELAEMNY
FREEEN—B8

“iron concentrate(s)” concentrate(s) whose main mineral content (by value) is iron

M55 5 FEBYIAMG (REE) HENEE

"iron ore” compounds of iron and oxygen (iron oxides) mixed with impurities (gangue); it is a
mineral which when heated in the presence of a reductant will yield metallic iron

M A 15 REEH (ko) WERSEEY ELH)  2E—BEERE —ENAFERAE
& =1 89 I

“iron pellet(s)” a round hardened clump of iron-rich material suitable for application in blast
furnaces

e 5 BARBENERRBECYE SEES
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Glossary

Gl

“JORC Code (2012 Edition)”

A RFEEZE SR
(20124 HR) |

"Kingston Grand”
lKingston Grand |
“km."
MRE

gt
[0 |

"Ktpa”
Mg, 4

“Listing Rules”

FEmRA

“Low-Fe Mining Operation” or

"Caitong Group”

MEEm RS XS N BER)

“Mancala Asia”

r&EAB2+Fh

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves, prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and
Minerals Council of Australia in 1989 and revised and updated in 1992, 1996,
1999, 2004 and 2012, that sets out minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines for public reporting
HRAMADRASE RN BERRIBE KR MNEYEE GRS I
HEEZEENI1989FRE > WH19924F ~ 19964F ~ 19994F ~ 20044F K 20124F1E5T
EREFHNRAFNADBESNRER BEESREATRFEENRSHA B
MARERME NREREEE

Kingston Grand Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
on 20 February 2007, holder of 40% of the issued share capital of Trisonic
International

Kingston Grand Limited> —[5220075F 28208 F EBE X B EFMA A
8 FE A AIER40% N B BITRA

kilometre(s), a metric unit measure of distance
NE G EEBEBENTESREN

thousand tonnes

T0ig

thousand tonnes per annum

SETMH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

EEBBRFES EHRA

refers to Huili Caitong and its subsidiaries, namely Xiushuihe Mining and
Panzhihua Yixingda, which engage in sale of self-produced low-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe and has been disposed of
on 30 July 2019

BEMNBREFAB (AIFACIEERBRES BHIE) NHEHETFe 2N T
53%E55%H B ERmUEBRAZES > ER2019F78308HE

Mancala Asia Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on 26
March 2013 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly
owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Asia Ltd> —FE122013F3826 B & B MM ILNERAE > HAAE
WFAE > ARABEEEBS %R AR
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Glossary

A =
a0 =2
“Mancala Holdings” Mancala Holdings Limited, the legal and beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of MHPL
e eRhn 15 Mancala Holdings Limited > @ RAZER 2 EEETRANERZ LRBAES A
“Mancala Mining” Mancala Mining Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Australia on

9 June 1992 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly
owns 81% equity interest

reRHEx] 15 Mancala Mining Pty Ltd > —f521992F6 890 B MMM LN B R AR » A7
RANFRE ARRFIMEZEERSI %R AER

“Mancala Pty” Mancala Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Australia on 15 March
1989 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly owns
81% equity interest

=k =il 5 Mancala Pty Ltd > —f721989FE3 B 15HTEE MM LN BRAE  AEARH
FRE BRREEEERS %R AR

“Mancala Services” Mancala Mine Services Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in
Australia on 21 August 2003 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 81% equity interest

e RHBERT 15 Mancala Mine Services Pty Ltd> —[I22003F8 821 HERMEMA LB R A
B BARBNFAE BRARBREEERN %R A#T

“Maoling Extended Exploration formerly an independent exploration region with an area of 2.83 sg.km. covered
Area” under the extended exploration permit of the Maoling Mine (covering 1.9
sq.km. of the mining area of the Maoling Mine), has been consolidated with the

Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 to form the Maoling-Yanglongshan

Mine

MELBIE RS & 5 RAEEBBRERYESHFIEMBEEER2BTARE BE1ITHAENE
EEBREDR BT EE ) B2012F08 B ERE BB S HMAEE—
FREIE AR

“Maoling Mine” an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, with a mining

area of 1.9 sg.km.
TEZEETE ] 15 — BRI B S RS E > SRIERE A 9T A RE
" the ore processing plant located near the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and
operated by Aba Mining

ME 28 MU 5 IR EE-FRUSEMINERRER B HEEELE

“Maoling Processing Plant
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Glossary

Gl

“Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine”

ME5E—FRE#EE

“"MCL Viethnam”

I 8 4

“Measured”

T¥RBE

“MHPL”

e Rk

“mining right(s)”
TERBEE )

“Model Code”
MR SRR

-
FE &

“N/A"
IR

an exploration region with a total area of 11.6 sg.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine (the mining area covered
is owned by the Maoling Mine), formed from the combination of the Maoling
Extended Exploration Area and the Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 and
operated by Aba Mining
MEE-—FRLUABMESFIEMESCEBEANTARENMEEE  HE
B EEHEFRE LUSEE2012F98 RS MM FTEENRESESRE
EEEER  THMBREERLE

MCL Vietnam Industries Company Limited, a limited liability company
incorporated in Vietnam on 14 May 2013 and a subsidiary of the Company, in
which the Company indirectly owns 39.69% equity interest

MCL Vietnam Industries Company Limited > —R532013558 148 £ mE s M Ak
UNERAB BARBNFAR HARABEEES39.69% R AR

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape,
and physical characteristics are estimated with confidence sufficient to allow
the application of modifying factors to support detailed mine planning and final
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEERTERAMNE R (XE2) BE-EAAKBEREUHAOEERGENE
Do UBEREBITIRR XFHESNFERRRRIRETERRREEIITHT
&

Mancala Holdings Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Australia on
8 March 1990 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly
owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Holdings Pty Ltd> —RE51990F388HE MMM AR ARG > &
KRBNFAE AAABEIZEEBS %R A

the right(s) to mine mineral resources and obtain mineral products in areas where
mining activities are licensed

REFRRETHR LB LERNRFEEE RRISEERERN

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
LEHRAMNESR A& EHEITAERETHE S ZNITETR]

million tonnes

BB

not applicable
T#EMA
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“Net Profit” or “Net Loss”

MAF) 30T 1R 3 88
"ore processing”

K y=bin=d

“Panxi Region”
MRAFEME

"Panzhihua Yixingda"

M5 BiE )

"Registration Completion Date”

MEst5e a3 E

"Relevant Substantial
Shareholders”
MMERIEERE]

“Remaining Group”
MREBEE]

“Renminbi” or “RMB”

TAE®)

“Reporting Period”
MR &5

"Specialised Mining Services” or
“Mancala Group”

IEXMRRBINE FAER)

Glossary

Gl

Profit or loss attributable to owners

mENER AT EIEE

the process which in general refers to the extraction of usable portions of ores by
using physical and chemical extraction methods

FNAYERCESTIRREATERBONERLY

a region in Sichuan located at southwest of Chengdu reaching from Panzhihua to
Xichang
N — @& > (U R E TR 5 HRRIEEREE 2 MM R4 K

Panzhihua Yixingda Industrail Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 July 2009 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company till 30 July 2019

BRICHGAETERREMARNE —MR 2009 F7 A 9 HEFEMRINEREET A
8> BE2019% 7 B 30 BRLEARRTINEEEZEF RS

date of completion of requisite change of registration at the local Administration
for Industry & Commerce in relation to the transfer of the entire interest in Huili
Caitong upon completion of the 2019 Disposal and the date of issue of the
updated business licence of Huili Caitong
R2019FHESETMENEEGEM BRI TAM S THITHEIE B
NEZCEBFENTHARAELSEMBRMEENRNBH

Mr. Wang Jin, Mr. Shi Yinjun, Mr. Zhang Yuangui and Mr. Li Hesheng, parties
acting in concert and some of the substantial Shareholders
EFHAEE-RREBLEE - REERERFTNBRE B—RITHALREDTE
& e

the Company and its subsidiaries excluding the Caitong Group and the Mancala
Group
RABREFRE FBEMBER RS RIIER)

the lawful currency of the PRC
FEIEES

the year ended 31 December 2020
B E2020F12A31HIEEE

refers to Mancala Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries namely MHPL, Mancala
Pty, Mancala Mining, Mancala Services, Spectrum Resources, Mancala Asia and
MCL Vietnam which provide specialised mining services and its entire assets and
liabilities have been classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2020

Mancala Holdings Limited & E7 A8 RIEFHER S-S FHEX - EF
HBERB -2 FUER - SRS RUKERESRAD) BRHBEBAEXRE E2
BEERBEBEEN2020F 12831 HAEAFIELE
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“Spectrum Resources”
re-Riu&E R

“SFO”
585 RIS 1R A

"SGX-ST”
[T 22 P

“Share(s)”
MR%15

“Shareholder(s)”
MR%ER

"

“Shigou Gypsum Mine"
FaERER
“Sichuan”

)iy

“Sichuan Haoyuan”

Mm)IyEE)

“Sichuan Lingyu”

T DE
“Sichuan Xinglian”

TEa) || Bk

Spectrum Resources Australia Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in
Australia on 19 February 1987 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 81% equity interest

Spectrum Resources Australia Pty Ltd> — 519875928 19 H 78 N 51 it A 1L BY
BIRRAE BEARBNFAE > AERABEHEEBS %R AR

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEBETERFRAERG EREFET 8/ U E 75 B0

Singapore Exchange and Securities Trading Limited

MK BHEZZAAERAHT

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
HKDO.1 each
KRBRAFHZER > SREE1ET

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHEEA

a gypsum mine located at Hanyuan County, Ya'an City, Sichuan, with a mining
area of 0.1228 sg.km.
— RN TR RFRNAEE RIEERA0.1228F AR E

the Sichuan province of the PRC
FREPY) 2

Sichuan Haoyuan New Materials Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 18 July 2011 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

M EEEMMNBERAE ) —ER201MFE7B18HEFBEA LN EREEA
B RARANTFAE BARBEEERS1 %R A#E D

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in
the PRC on 9 June 2010 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Mg EHEEBRAE —ER2010F6BIHEFER UNEREERE %
KABINEEEETFAE

Sichuan Xinglian Mining and Technology Construction Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 23 June 2011 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

S EEEERNM TREARAR  —MIR201MFE6B23BEFER LN ERE
FERE BERTHNEEEZEFRE
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“Singapore dollars” or “SGD"

T AN 3K 7T

“sg.km."”
ERRE)

"TEe"
[TFe J

"

“titanium concentrate(s)

MRS A&

“Trisonic International”
F& 8B

“Type 331"

M&48331 ]

“Type 333"

[TE48333 ]

“United States” or “US"
M=

“US dollars” or “USD"
r&7t)

“Vietnamese dong” or “VND"

A=)
“Weixi Guangfa”
T4 78 32

“Wenchuan County”

U 85

Glossary

Gl

the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore
g HEAEEE G

square kilometres
TRRE

the symbol for denoting total iron

RTNEHRFTR

concentrate(s) whose main content (by value) is titanium dioxide

FTEMMD REE) & A CREEER

Trisonic International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 19 July
2006 and a Controlling Shareholder
GRIERARAT > —EI2006F7 8198 EE BFMMIIN ARG AERKE

measured intrinsic economic resources (Type 331) as defined in the Classification
for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities
(BREESR/HESE)MTRAENFHENNALCEERE (E1E331)

inferred intrinsic economic resources (Type 333) as defined in the Classification for
Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(EREBEERHEDH)MAENRENANALEERE (BHH333)

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to
its jurisdiction
EHRERE HEL - BHERFBEEAER

the lawful currency of the United States
EELEES S

the lawful currency of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam
HEEEIRHNBEZEST

Weixi Guangfa Iron Ore Development Company Limited*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 10 June 2005

HTE SRR A RAR > —BR2005F6 8 10REREKIINEREEAR

Wenchuan County, Aba Prefecture, Sichuan Province

U ) 1148 BoT 358 M 532 ) 11 %
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“Xinjin Mining”

METEE) 5

“Xiushuihe Mining”

5K AR 5

'

“Yanglongshan Mine”

M Be LR b

“Yanyuan Xiwei"

Me8 R P L 5

*  For identification purpose only

Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 29 September 2010 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

ERUHBSEEARAT —ER2010F9829HEFER LN BREMERE
RAEARTNFRE AARTBEERS 1 R A ER

Huili County Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 26 June 2007, an indirect subsidiary of the Company that owns
95.0% equity interest through Huili Caitong till 30 July 2019
FEEFICIEERR AR —BR2007F6B26HEFEMINEREER
8 HEE2019F7A30BA/LAERRBDEBEEMBHES5.0%MR A% B
FRE]

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, formerly an
independent exploration region with an area of 8.79 sq.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Yanglongshan Mine, and has been consolidated as the
Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine with the original Maoling Extended Exploration Area
since September 2012

—EAI R N NF B R EE RABFE USRS EF IR EEEER
B9 FHABMBIIHMERE > B2012F98 REF RN ERILEFRYEEHG
MmEE-FRLUEE

Yanyuan County Xiwei Mining Company Limited*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 7 December 2007

HERSARBEARSETAR —MN2007FE 12878 EFERINEREEA
8l

* EHHEE
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